



Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by Differential Scanning Calorimetry on patients with psoriasis

Doctoral (Ph. D) thesis

Dr. Moezzi Mehdi

Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology Medical School, University of Pécs

> Interdisciplinary Doctoral School of Medicine D93 Doctoral School leader: Prof. Dr. Ferenc Gallyas

Investigation of functional protein dynamics by biophysical methods B-130/1993 Program leader: Prof. Dr. Miklós Nyitrai

Supervisors: Dr. Andrea Ferencz, Med. Habil, associate professor Department of Surgical Research and Techniques, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University

Prof. Dr. Dénes Lőrinczy, DSc, professor emeritus Department of Biophysics, Medical School, University of Pécs

CONTENTS

	pages
List of abbreviations	3
I. Introduction	5
I.1. Clinical characteristics	5
I.2. Etiology, epidemiology, and prevalence	5
I.3. Pathophysiology and the role of oxidative stress	8
I.4. Clinical diagnosis and monitoring	11
I.5. Treatment and prognosis	21
I.6. Thermal analysis by Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)	30
II. Aims	37
III. Manuscripts offprints	38
III.1. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human plasma	a
in different psoriasis stages. J Therm Anal Calorim 2013;111:180	1-4.
DOI 10.1007/s10973-012-2468-2	
III.2. Evaluation of blood plasma changes by differential scanning calo	rimetry in
psoriatic patients treated with drugs. J Therm Anal Calorim 2014;	116:557-62
DOI 10.1007/s10973-013-3585-2	
III.3. Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by D	SC on
patients with psoriasis. J Therm Anal Calorim 2016;123:2037-43.	
DOI 10.1007/s10973-015-4674-1	
III.4. Deconvoluted plasma DSC curves on patients with psoriasis. J T	herm
Anal Calorim https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-020-09443-y	
IV. Discussion	39
V. Novel findings	51
VI. References	52
Publications	67
Acknowledgments	70

List of abbreviations

ΔC_{P}	Change of heat capacity during denaturation
ΔH	Infinitesimal change in enthalpy
ΔH_{cal}	Calorimetric enthalpy
ANA	Antinuclear antibodies
BSA	Body surface area
CAT	Catalase enzyme
CD	Cardiac disease
CEE	Central and Eastern European countries
CP	Plasma curves
Ċp	Heat capacity at constant pressure
ĊsA	Ciclosporin A
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DIP	Distal interphalangeal
DSC	Differential scanning calorimetry
dsDNA	double strand DNA
EMA	European medicines agency
f	Number of degrees of freedom
FAF	Fumaric acid ester
FDA	Food and drug administration
GSH	Reduced glutathione enzyme
HLA	Human leucocyte antigens
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IFNv	Interferon gamma
IgGİλ	Human immunoglobulin
IĽ	Interleukin
IU	International Unit
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
JAK	Janus kinase
LCE region	Late cornified envelope region
μW	microwatt
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MED	Minimal erythema dose
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MD	Metabolic disease
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MPO	Myeloperoxidase enzyme
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MTX	Methotrexate
NASH	Non-alcoholic statohepatitis
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa B
nmol/ml	Nanomol/milliliter
NYHA	New York Heart Association
•O ₂ -	Superoxide anion
OFRs	Oxygen free radicals
OH' -	Hydroxyl radical

PASI	Psoriasis area and severity index
PDE4	Phosphodiesterase 4
PGA	Physician Global Assessment
PIP	Proximal interphalangeal
PMN leukocytes	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes
PPP	Palmo-Plantar Pustulosis
PsA	Psoriatic arthritis
PUVA	Psoralen Ultraviolet A
R	Regnault constant
RePUVA	Retinoid Psoralen Ultraviolet A
SE	Standard error
-SH groups	Sulfhydryl groups
SOD	Superoxide dismutase enzyme
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
T _{1/2:}	"half width" temperature of the denaturation
-Tm:	Maximum or melting temperature
TAS	Total antioxidant status
TBARS	Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances
Th1	Helper 1 T lymphocyte cell
Th17	Helper 17 T lymphocyte cell
ΤΝFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TOS	Total oxidant status
UVA	Ultraviolet A
UVB	Ultraviolet B
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
	5

I. Introduction

I.1. Clinical characteristics

Psoriasis is a long-lasting skin disorder, which is appearing in different severity form. It has a predilection for presenting on the scalp, extensor surfaces of the limbs, hands and feet, sacral and genital regions, and sometimes accompanied with nail changes, but the total body surface area affected can vary. According to dermal symptoms there are five types of psoriasis: plaque, guttate, inverse, pustular, and erythrodermic. The lesions characterized mainly by red, scaly, and raised plaques. In about 80% of cases, plaque psoriasis presents as symmetrical, sharply demarcated, erythematous, dry, scaling, pruritic plaques affecting the top first layer of the epidermis [1-3]. Psoriasis should be a systemic disorder; in 10-30% of the cases can also cause inflammation of the joints (psoriatic arthritis, PsA) and often involves extra-articular sites, such as the gastrointestinal tract and the eye [4-6]. Recently, mounting evidence for an association between severe psoriasis and systemic metabolic disorders, such as obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension, dyslipidaemia, cardiovascular disease (CVD), periodontitis, and depression were found [7, 8]. Along with local (skin look, itching, pain, etc.) and general physical symptoms (e.g. sleeplessness), and the higher risk for systemic diseases, patients have negative body image due to social stigmatization and decreased quality of life, which explains that psoriasis recently has been in the focus of experimental and clinical research [9-13].

I.2. Etiology, epidemiology, and prevalence

Psoriasis involves hyperproliferation of the keratinocytes in the epidermal layer, increased vasodilation, and skin infiltration by leukocytes [14]. Abnormal growth and differentiation of keratinocytes cause a significant increase in the epidermal cell turnover rate. The cause of the loss of control of keratinocyte turnover is unknown yet exactly. Although an abnormal immune response seems to play a key role. According to current knowledge, psoriasis is a multifactorial disease, namely genetic, environmental, and immunologic factors appear to play a role in its development (Figure 1) [15].

Psoriasis represents a complex disease at the cellular, genomic, and genetic levels [16]. The genetic basis of psoriasis is confirmed by family-based investigations (as autosomal dominant trait), population based epidemiological studies, association studies with human leucocyte antigens (e.g. HLA-Cw6, HLA-B13, HLA-B17, HLA-B27, and HLA-DR7), and candidate gene studies within and outside the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Among the psoriasis susceptibility regions, the MHC class I gene HLA-C*06:02 (PSORS1) and the late cornified envelope (LCE) region harbouring a deletion of the LCE3B and LCE3C genes (originally designated PSORS4) provide plausible candidates to investigate at the functional level [17, 18].



Figure 1. Risk factors for psoriasis and major steps in its development

Many environmental factors besides stress have also been observed to trigger proliferations and exacerbations, including trauma. Psoriasis can appear in areas of the skin that have been injured or traumatized. Certain medications are associated with triggering psoriasis, including iodide derivatives, steroid withdrawal, aspirin, lithium, some beta-blockers (e.g. propranolol), botulinum A, antimalarial agents (e.g. quinidine), non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (e.g. indomethacin). Moreover, the following factors have also negative effect to provoke psoriasis, these are cold, addictions (e.g. smoking, alcohol abuse), and different microbial infections (e.g. streptococcal, staphylococcal, human immunodeficiency virus) [19, 20]. In contrast, hot weather, sunlight (Dead Sea Climatotherapy, narrow-band ultraviolet light B therapy), and pregnancy (not universally) may be beneficial to the progression [21, 22].

Regarding immunological factors all evidences suggest that psoriasis is an autoimmune disease [23]. Studies show high levels of dermal and circulating tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and increased T-cell (thymus origin lymphocytes) activity in the underlying skin. Next to the leukocytes process is mediated by dendritic cells also. Their role is also evidenced by the fact that treatment with TNF- α inhibitors is often successful. Current finding is possibly explained by a decrease in CD4 T cells (helper cells), which leads to over activity of CD8 T cells (killer cells), which drives the worsening psoriasis. Some of the newer drugs used to treat severe psoriasis directly modify the function of T lymphocytes [24-27] (Figure 1).

Disease worldwide prevalence is about 2% but varies according to regions. It is affecting 2–3 % of the general population in the Europe. While, it shows a lower prevalence in Asian and some African populations, and up to 11% in Caucasian and Scandinavian populations (Figure 2) [28, 29].



Figure 2. Prevalence of psoriasis on Worldwide [30]

Psoriasis can begin at any age, yet there is a biphasic peak between age 15-35 years and 50-60 years. Approximately 10 to 15 percent of new cases begin in children younger than 10 years. Some infants have psoriasis, although this is considered rare. In general, the disease is not contagious. Although its appearance is similar looks like some infectious skin diseases these lesions origin is not infectious [31, 32]. The median age of onset in males is 28 years, while in females it occurs earlier, about 22 years. Psoriasis appears to be slightly more prevalent among women than men, a male preponderance is with sex ratio of 1.5:1. The incidence of the disease is dependent on the climate and genetic heritage of the population. It is less common in the tropics and in dark-skinned persons. Its prevalence in African Americans is about 1.3% compared with 2-2.5% in whites. It occurs more frequently away from the equator and in adulthood. In Europe, its prevalence 0.73-2.9% in adults and 0.5-2% in the pediatric age group, while yearly incidence is average 120-140/100 000 inhabitant [28]. Exact epidemiology data like Central and Eastern Europe it is not known in Hungary either. The estimated prevalence is to be about 2% of the total population and approximately 20% of patients has psoriatic arthritis. Based on this data, it is estimated that near 200,000 people live in Hungary with psoriasis of varying severity, of which 40,000 are associated with psoriatic arthritis [33].

I.3. Pathophysiology and the role of oxidative stress

The last 30 years of research and clinical practice have revolutionized our understanding of the pathogenesis of psoriasis as the dysregulation of immunity triggered by environmental and genetic stimuli. Beforehand, psoriasis was originally regarded as a primary disorder of epidermal hyperproliferation. In normal epidermis there is a tight coordination between vertical migration and differentiation state, with characteristic molecules expressed and morphology manifested at each level. The histology of psoriatic plaques is distinguished by excessive epidermal growth termed psoriasiform hyperplasia [34-37]. This pattern includes a markedly thickened skin or acanthosis, elongated downward extensions of the epidermis into the dermis or rete pegs and aberrant keratinocyte differentiation. Moreover, extreme mitotic activity is visible at the basal layer of keratinocytes demonstrating rapid proliferation and maturation responsible for incomplete terminal differentiation [38-40]. But, as summarized in 2018 Hugh and Weinberg in their important manuscript current knowledge about pathology of this disease "However, experimental models and clinical

results from immunomodulating therapies have refined this perspective in conceptualizing psoriasis as a genetically programmed pathologic interaction among resident skin cells; infiltrating immunocytes; and a host of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors produced by these immunocytes" [15].

Despite more and more research and increasing clinical experience the process of disease developing remains extremely complex, and all details of its pathogenesis is still not completely understood. Multiple theories exist regarding triggers of the disease process including an infectious episode, traumatic insult, and stressful life event. No doubt, one of the important environmental insult that have a postulated role in psoriasis pathogenesis is the oxidative stress [41].

Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between oxygen free radical (OFRs) production and the antioxidant defence mechanisms in favour of OFRs. The skin is constantly exposed by OFRs, such as superoxide radical ('O₂-) and hydroxyl radical (OH⁻⁻) generated from both endogenous sources and external pro-oxidant stimuli [42]. As endogenous sources, OFRs are produced during a variety of biochemical reactions within all cells in organelles such as in mitochondria, in peroxisomes, and in endoplasmic reticulum. Increased infiltration of polymorphonuclear (PMN) leukocytes in psoriatic lesions leads to direct release of OFRs. Moreover, they produce and store the lysosomal enzyme myeloperoxidase (MPO) in their granules, which produce the cytotoxic hypochlorous acid from H₂O₂ and chloride to kill bacteria and other pathogens [43, 44]. External pro-oxidant stimuli are pollutants, heavy metals, tobacco, smoke, drugs, xenobiotics, or ionizing radiation [45]. OFRs degrade polyunsaturated lipids, forming malondialdehyde (MDA). This compound is a reactive aldehyde and is one of the many reactive electrophile species that cause toxic stress in cells and form covalent protein adducts. The production of this aldehyde is used as a biomarker to measure the level of oxidative stress in an organism. The overproduction of pro-oxidant cellular processes can cause lipid peroxidation, contribute to protein degradation, induce the inflammatory processes and DNA and/or RNA damage to the cells, and finally lead to cell dysfunctions and consequently cell death [46, 47].

Under normal conditions, the organism is equipped with efficient defence mechanisms against oxidative stress, mainly based on the antioxidants. This system is composed of two major groups: the group of antioxidant enzymes among the others superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT), and the group of the low molecular weight antioxidants such as reduced glutathione (GSH) and sulfhydryl (-SH) groups [48, 49]. Although endogenous antioxidants attenuate the harmful effects of OFRs, increased or prolonged presence of OFRs can override defence mechanisms and mediate numerous cellular responses that contribute to the development of psoriasis [41]. Production of OFRs from PMNs, keratinocytes, and fibroblasts can contribute to neutrophil and keratinocyte proliferation, prominent alteration in dermal vasculature, and overall a chronical and recurrent inflammatory state in the skin [50]. Recent studies showed that cellular signalling pathways such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), activator protein 1, nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB), and Janus kinase (JAK) signal transducers and activators of transcription are known to be redox-sensitive and proven to be involved in the progress of psoriasis. Increase of reactive oxygen radicals lead to the activation of T helper lymphocytes (Th1, Th17) and keratinocyte cells through MAPK, NF-KB and JAK-STAT3 pathways, resulting in overproduction of interleukins (IL2, IL6, IL8, IL17, IL22, IL23), TNF-alfa, interferon gamma (IFNy), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). These inflammatory factors activate T cells and keratinocytes, causing further a self-amplifying process leading to psoriatic skin phenomenon with keratinocyte overproliferation, hypervascular hyperplasia, and tissue inflammation appearance (Figure 3) [41, 51-53].



Figure 3. The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of psoriasis.

I.4. Clinical diagnosis and monitoring

Clinical picture of psoriatic lesions are very characteristic, the localization and appearance of the skin lesions for a specialized dermatologist is a diagnostic means, therefore the diagnosis of psoriasis primarily based on the clinical picture of the disease, but of course there are cases in which, there is a need for histologic examinations as well (Figure 4-6).



Figure 4. Regular hyperplasia: the epidermis (arrows) **are almost equally elongated, mild perivascular lymphocytic infiltration in the dermis** (circle). (Contributed by Csaba Gyömörei M.D., Department of Pathology, Medical School, University of Pécs)



Figure 5. Surface-detached hyper-parakeratotic stratum corneum (arrow) (Contributed by Csaba Gyömörei M.D., Department of Pathology, Medical School, University of Pécs)



Figure 6. Loss of granular layer, thinned suprapapillary plate (blue arrow), dilated curved capillaries in dermal papillae (green star), mitosis among basal cells (red arrows)

(Contributed by Csaba Gyömörei M.D., Department of Pathology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

There are also signs, which are also diagnostic for psoriasis. The Auspitz sign, the appearance of punctate bleeding spots when psoriasis scales are scraped off, named after *Heinrich Auspitz* (1835-1886), the Austrian dermatologist who first identified the clinical symptom [54]. This happens because there is thinning of the epidermal layer overlying the tips of the dermal papillae and blood vessels within the papillae are dilated and tortuous, which bleed readily when the scale is removed [55]. The Koebner phenomenon, also called the Koebner response or the isomorphic response, attributed to the renowned German dermatologist *Heinrich Koebner*, who worked in the second part of the XIX. Century [56, 57]. Vaccinations, sunburns, and tattoo can all trigger a Koebner response, which is the appearance of skin lesions on lines of trauma. Occasionally, the Koebner phenomenon can be treated if it is started early enough [58].

Clinical types of psoriasis

Variety of clinical manifestations have been seen on Table 1.

Clinical forms	Clinical findings
Plaque psoriasis	 Well circumscribed, erythemato-squamosus papules and plaques. Lesions may appear as a single, or generalized lesions It is the most common type of psoriasis
Guttate	 Acutely appearing numerous small pinkish-reddish papules with fine scaling over the trunk and limbs Usually appear if an infection or an inflammation is present
Inverse	• The lesions are appearing on the big skin folds (intertriginous areas) and genital regions. The plaques are thin, well demarcated with slight scaling
Scalp	 Usually difficult to treat. Presence of erythemato-squamosu plaques on the scalp.
Erythroderma	 Acutely appearing, life-threatening, generalized erythema, over more than 80-90% of the whole body with fine scaling Usually accompanied with loss of electrolyte, hypothermia, hypoalbunemia, loss of Iron. There is a possibility for cardiac failure
Pustular	• Presence of pustules (sterile pustules) on the surface of skin surrounded by erythematosus skin, it can be life-threatening if it becomes generalized
Palmo-plantar pustulosis	 Hyperkeratotic erythematosus scaling plaques on palms and soles accompanied with pustules
Arthritis	Skin lesions accompanied with arthritis, mostly DIP and PIP
Nail lesions	 Can even present without skin lesions and it could be a sign for presence of psoriasis arthritis Small depressed points at the surface of nails (Pitting), oil drops, subungual hyperkeratosis, onycholysis

Table 1. Clinical types of psoriasis

Chronic plaque psoriasis (psoriasis vulgaris)

The most common type, it is affecting more than 80% of patients with psoriasis. The classic plaque psoriasis is sharp bordered, symmetric erythematous plaques with silvery scales at the surface. Plaques are typically located on the extensor surface of the extremities, sacral and gluteal regions, as well as on the trunk (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Plaque psoriasis: most common type, circumscribed, infiltrated erythemato-squamosus papules and plaques. Lesions may appear as a single, or generalized lesions. Locating on trunk and extensor surface of extremities. (Photographer Iván Lovas, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

Scalp psoriasis (psoriasis capitis)

In most cases there is also involvement of scalp. On the scalp, behind the ears there are hyperkeratotic erythematosus base plaques (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Scalp psoriasis: erythemato-squamosus plaques on the scalp, often appears with plaque psoriasis

(Photographer Iván Lovas, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

Inverse psoriasis

Lesions are on the big skin folds (intertriginous areas) and genital regions (Figure 9). The plaques are thin, well demarcated with slight scaling, difficult to treat.



Figure 9. Inverse psoriasis: Lesions are on the big skin folds (intertriginous areas) and genital regions. The plaques are thin, well demarcated with slight scaling, difficult to treat.

(Photographer Iván Lovas, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

Guttate psoriasis

Acutely appearing numerous small pinkish-reddish papules with fine scaling over the trunk and limbs. Usually appears when an infection or an inflammation is present (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Guttate psoriasis: Acutely appearing numerous small pinkishreddish papules with fine scaling over the trunk and limbs. Usually appears when an infection or an inflammation is present.

(Photographer Iván Lovas, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

Erythrodermic psoriasis (erythrodemia psoriatica)

Acutely appearing, generalized erythema, over more than 80-90% of the whole body with fine scaling, usually accompanied with loss of electrolyte, hypothermia, hypoalbuminemia, loss of Iron. There is a possibility for cardiac failure. It is lifethreatening disease (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Erythrodermic psoriasis: acutely appearing, generalized erythema, over more than 80-90% of the whole body with fine scaling. Usually accompanied with loss of electrolyte, hypothermia, hypoalbuminemia, loss of iron. There is a possibility for cardiac failure. It is life-threatening disease.

(Photographer Iván Lovas, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

Pustular psoriasis

Presence of pustules (sterile pustules) on the surface of skin surrounded by erythematosus skin, it can be life-threatening if it becomes generalized.

Localized pustular psoriasis (palmo-plantar pustulosa)

Hyperkeratotic erythematosus scaling plaques on palms and soles accompanied with pustules (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Localized pustular psoriasis or Palmo-Plantar Pustulosis (PPP): hyperkeratotic erythematosus scaling plaques on palms and soles accompanied with pustules, difficult to treat.

(Photographer Mehdi Moezzi, M.D., Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

Psoriasis arthritis (arthropahtic psoriasis)

Psoriatic skin lesions accompanied with arthritis, mostly DIP and PIP joints are involved, but other joints could be involved as well.

Nail psoriasis

The nail lesions are very typical and diagnostic for psoriasis (Figure 13). It may be present without concomitant skin plaques. Nail involvement is often present in patients suffering from psoriatic arthritis. In a clinical examination nail changes were noted in 86.5% of patients affected by arthropathic psoriasis [59].



Figure 13. Psoriatic nails: (A) onychodystrophy and onycholysis, (B) oil drop sign,
 (C) pitting (small depressed points at the surface of nails). Nail psoriasis can be present with or without skin lesions, it could be a sign for presence of PsA.
 (Photographer Iván Lovas, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

Measurement of the severity of psoriasis

Fredriksson and co-worker in 1978 developed the Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PASI) [60]. The most widely used tool for the measurement of severity of psoriasis is PASI score, it combines the assessment of the severity of erythema, induration and desquamation of the lesions and the area affected, into a single score in the range 0 (no disease) to 72 (maximal disease) [61].

From the beginning of XXI. Century online calculator is available compiled by Corti yet [62] (Figure 14). Moreover, Robinson et al published a PASI and PGA (Physician Global Assessment) comparative study. It was established the two assessment tools are substantially redundant and either alone is a sufficient tool for assessing psoriasis severity in patients with moderate to severe disease. Because the PASI is better validated and more detailed, it remains the score of choice for clinical trials, but the simpler PGA (Table 2) may be well suited for community-based outcomes projects [63, 64].

Basis of the calculation method is the following: the body is divided into four sections (head (H) (10% of a person's skin); arms (A) (20%); trunk (T) (30%); legs (L)

(40%). Each of these areas is scored by itself, and then the four scores are combined into the final PASI. For each section, the percent of area of skin involved, is estimated, and then transformed into a grade from 0 to 6:

- 0 0% of involved area
- 1 < 10% of involved area
- 2 10–29% of involved area
- 3 30–49% of involved area
- 4 50–69% of involved area
- 5 70–89% of involved area
- 6 90–100% of involved area

Within each area, the severity is estimated by three clinical signs: *induration* (thickness), *erythema* (redness), and *desquamation* (scaling). Severity parameters are measured on a scale of 0 to 4, from none to maximum. The sum of all three severity parameters is then calculated for each section of skin, multiplied by the area score for that area and multiplied by weight of respective section (0.1 for head, 0.2 for arms, 0.3 for body and 0.4 for legs).

Induration	 0 - no plaque elevation above the normal skin 1 - minimal plaque elevation, ~ 0.25mm 2 - mild plaque elevation, ~0.5 mm 3 - moderate plaque elevation, ~0.75mm 4 - marked plaque elevation, ~1 mm 5 - severe plaque elevation, > 1.25 mm
Erythema	 0 - no evidence of erythema, hyperpigmentation may be present 1 - faint erythema 2 - light red colouration 3 - moderate red colouration 4 - bright red colouration 5 - dusky to deep red colouration
Scaling	 0 - no evidence of scale 1 - minimal; occasional fine scale over <5% of the lesion 2 - mild; fine-scale predominates 3 - moderate; coarse-scale predominates 4 - marked; thick, nontenancies scale predominates 5 - severe; very thick tenacious scale predominates
Average score	0=clear, 1=nearly clear, 2=mild, 3=moderate, 4=severe, 5=very severe

Table 2. Physician Global Assessment (PGA) score

PGA score: a tool for showing the severity of psoriatic skin lesions

G fordító - Goog	le-keresés 🗙 📗 Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PA 🕻	< +	
$\leftrightarrow \rightarrow \mathbf{G}$ (Fájl I:/Psoriasis%20Area%20Severity%20Index%20(F	PASI)%20Calculator.html	☆ 💮 Szüneteltetve :
	Head	Arms	•
Area	○ 0%	○ 0%	
Erythema (redness)	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	© 0 © 1 © 2 © 3 © 4	
Induration (thickness)	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	
Desquamation (scaling)	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	
	Trunk	Legs	
Area	○ 0% ○ <10% ○ 10-29% ○ 30-49% ○ 50- 69% ○ 70-89% ○ 90-100%	 0% <<10% 10-29% 30-49% 50-69% 70-89% 90-100% 	
Erythema (redness)	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	
Induration (thickness)	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4	
Desquamation (scaling)	○ 0 ○ 1 ○ 2 ○ 3 ○ 4	● 0 ● 1 ● 2 ● 3 ● 4	
Name	: (optional)		
Birth date	(optional)		
PASI =	_		
Reset! Print			
Psoriasis Area	Sevhtml		Összes megjelenítése X Screenshot Ado

Figure 14. PASI score internet-based calculation program (Source: http://pasi.corti.li)

For calculating the affected areas of the skin, we can use the Body Surface Area (BSA) measurement (Figure 15.). <u>Rule of nines:</u> head 9% + trunk 36% (4x9%) + upper extremities 18% (2x9%) + lower extremities 36% (4x9%) + genitalia 1% \rightarrow Total Body Surface Area = 100%



Figure 15. Rule of Nines in adults [65]

Classic comorbidities of psoriasis

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory systemic disease. Evidence shows an association of psoriasis with arthritis, depression, metabolic syndrome (MS), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), Non-Alcoholic Fat Liver Disease, and cardiovascular diseases. Recently, several other comorbid conditions have been proposed as related to the chronic inflammatory status of psoriasis. The understanding of these conditions and their treatments will certainly lead to better management of the disease. The present article aims to synthesize the knowledge in the literature about the classical and emerging comorbidities related to psoriasis [66].

Psoriatic arthritis is a quite heterogeneous, usually seronegative, chronic inflammatory spondyloarthritis associated with psoriasis [3, 4]. The exact prevalence of PsA is unknown, but estimates range from 20 to 420 cases per 100,000 in the western countries and 1 per 100,000 in Japan [67].

Patients with cardiac disease (CD) have a 7-times higher risk of developing psoriasis, and psoriasis patients have a 2.9-times higher risk of developing CD, when compared with the general population [68, 69]. Binus et al reported that patients with psoriasis and concomitant IBD have a higher rate of comorbidities (seronegative arthritis, thyroiditis, diabetes, and lymphoma) than patients with psoriasis only, which could be explained by common inflammatory pathways and shared genetic risks [70].

The physical, emotional, and social impact of psoriasis on quality of life is similar and sometimes even worse than that observed in patients with ischemic heart disease, cancer, arthritis, and diabetes mellitus [71]. Psoriasis is associated with low selfesteem and prevalence of anxiety and depressive disorders (30% and 60%, respectively). Recently, a high prevalence of alexithymia was observed. About 10% of patients with psoriasis consider the possibility of suicide [72, 73].

Metabolic syndrome comprises a group of risk factors, including central obesity, dyslipidaemia, hypertension, and insulin resistance. Associations with obesity, hypertriglyceridemia and hyperglycaemia also increase with the severity of psoriasis, independently from other components of MS [74].

Definition of treatment goals for moderate to severe psoriasis

An expert consensus meeting and a collaborative Delphi procedure were carried out. Nineteen dermatologists from different European countries met for a face-to-face discussion and defined items through a four-round Delphi process. Severity of plaque psoriasis was graded into mild and moderate to severe disease [75].

Definition of plaque psoriasis severity. It is defined in two main categories: mild versus moderate-to-severe (Figure 16). There was intense discussion among all experts on how to define "mild" and "moderate to severe" plaque psoriasis by using BSA, PASI, and DLQI. There was agreement, however, that a single unifying definition could not include all clinical situations which may be present in a psoriasis patient.

Definition of mild plaque psoriasis. If $BSA \le 10$ and $PASI \le 10$ indicates mild disease but DLQI > 10 indicates significant impact on quality of life psoriasis can be considered moderate to severe and systemic therapy may be initiated when the patient's disease cannot be controlled by topical treatment.

Definition of "moderate to severe" plaque psoriasis. If BSA > 10 or PASI > 10indicates moderate to severe disease but $DLQI \le 10$ indicates no significant impact on quality of life psoriasis can be considered mild disease.

Treatment phases for systemic therapy of plaque psoriasis

Definition of induction phase. Induction phase is generally defined as the treatment period until week 16; however, depending on the type of drug and dose regimen used, induction phase can be extended until week 24 according to the decision of the treating dermatologist.

Definition of treatment success after induction phase. If at the end of the induction phase a reduction in PASI of \geq 75% (Δ PASI \geq 75%) as compared to disease severity at the time of treatment initiation has been achieved, it is recommended to continue the treatment regimen.

Definition of treatment failure after induction phase. If at the end of the induction phase an improvement of PASI of \geq 50% (Δ PASI \geq 50%) as compared to disease severity at the time of treatment initiation has not been achieved, it is recommended to modify the treatment regimen.

Definition of treatment success during maintenance phase. If during maintenance therapy an improvement of PASI of \geq 75% (Δ PASI \geq 75%) as compared to disease severity at the time of treatment initiation has been achieved, it is recommended to continue with the treatment regimen.



Figure 16. Appearance of skin signs on (A) mild (BSA ≤ 10, PASI ≤ 10), on (B) moderate and on (C) severe (BSA > 10 or PASI > 10) psoriatic cases. (Photographer Iván Lovas, Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs)

I.5. Treatment and prognosis

According to clinical guideline approximately 90% of psoriasis sufferers will be managed using topical therapy. Therefore, topical therapy is an appropriate first-line treatment along with practical advice and support in the application and use of the topical treatment. However, topical therapy alone may not provide satisfactory disease control and, given the number of topical treatments available, regular review is necessary to evaluate initial response, and, if appropriate, discuss the next drug alternative options. The schematic therapeutic algorithm is shown in Figure 17.



Figure 17. Therapeutic algorithm of psoriasis

An acceptable treatment response is either BSA \leq 3% or an improvement in BSA \geq 75% from baseline, 3 months after treatment initiation [76].

Topical therapy

For local treatment must consider patient preferences, cosmetic and practical aspects of treatment, and the body surface area affected. An ointment is preferred for plaques with thick scale. After a new topical therapy is started, arrange to review adults in 4 weeks and children in 2 weeks to: 1.) highlight the importance of a break between courses of potent and very potent corticosteroids, 2.) identify the need for daily use of topical corticosteroids, which indicates that systemic therapy should be considered [77, 78].

Moisturiser. Recommend emollients to all patients with psoriasis. They improve dryness, scaling and cracking and may have their own antiproliferative properties. They can be used with other treatments. Emollients may be all that is required to treat mild psoriasis [79].

Coal tar. Coal tar has anti-inflammatory and anti-scaling properties [80]. It is not used in Europe anymore because of its carcinogenic effect, but it is used in shampoos in the form of Ichthyol.

Dithranol. It is useful for the treatment of chronic plaque psoriasis in adults. Contraindications include acute psoriasis, pustular psoriasis, erythrodermic psoriasis and skin inflammation. It can cause localized irritation and staining of skin, nails, and clothing (oxidation). It is effective on large, thick plaques as 'short-contact therapy', where it is applied daily, initially with a contact time of 10 minutes which is steadily increased to 30 minutes over 7 days. It can also be used for scalp psoriasis [78, 80].

Salicylic acid. It is a keratolytic agent that reduces scaling and increases penetration of other topical treatments. It can be prescribed in combination with a topical corticosteroid or emollient. The recommended concentration is 2–5% [80].

Calcipotriol. It is a vitamin-D derivative, often used as first-line therapy for plaque psoriasis. It is also available in combination with topical betamethasone diproprionate and is available as gel, ointment, and foam formulations [80].

Corticosteroid. Topical corticosteroids have anti-inflammatory, antiproliferative and immunosuppressive properties through their effect on gene transcription [81]. Match the strength and formulation to the patient's preference and need [77]. Prolonged potent or very potent corticosteroid use may result in permanent striae and/or skin atrophy, paradoxical worsening of psoriasis [78]. Potent corticosteroids should not be used continuously at any site for more than 4 weeks without a break and should not applicable more than 10% of BSA.

Retinoids. These are synthetic form of vitamin A. It is best used in combination with topical corticosteroids. The most common side effect is skin irritation [81].

Phototherapy

Discuss referral for phototherapy or systemic therapy if patients are unlikely to respond adequately to topical therapy alone, including those with extensive psoriasis (> 10% BSA) or a score of 'moderate' or greater on the PGA. It can be given as monotherapy or in combination with topical or systemic agents [82].

UVB therapy. Phototherapy exerts a therapeutic, primarily local effect, via several mechanisms. The major molecular target for ultraviolet B (UVB) radiation is nuclear DNA which absorbs light, generating pyrimidine dimers and other photoproducts, which ultimately inhibits DNA synthesis. UVB exposure up-regulates the tumor-suppressor gene p53, which is involved in cell cycle control. Overall, there is a reduction in proliferating keratinocytes in addition to inhibition of proliferating lymphocytes. In addition, UVB radiation has been found to have antimicrobial effects, both directly against local flora, including *Staphylococcus aureus*, and indirectly by inducing antimicrobial peptides in human keratinocytes [83].

UVA therapy. Psoralen photochemotherapy (PUVA) is the combined use of psoralen and long-wave UV radiation (UVA), which jointly result in a therapeutic effect for psoriasis patients (Figure 18). One molecule of psoralen first intercalates into the DNA double strand; then upon irradiation with UVA, one photon of light is absorbed, followed by binding of a thymine base and absorption of an additional photon of light, binding of another thymine base, and so on. The DNA-psoralen crosslink inhibits DNA replication and causes cell cycle arrest [83].

Both PUVA and UVB phototherapy affect cytokine production of inflammatory cells, diminishing inflammatory cytokines, shifting the ratio of T-helper lymphocytes, and changing T-cell morphology. Via different mechanisms, PUVA and UVB phototherapy cause apoptosis of lymphocytes. UVA radiation penetrates more deeply into the dermis than UVB radiation, resulting in greater suppression of lymphocyte proliferation. Therefore, it is well established that UV radiation works through several detailed mechanisms and its therapeutic effect is achieved by a combination of these alterations in cell cycle, changes in cytokines, and T-cell suppression.



Figure 18. Type of phototherapy devices: (A) UV 7002 total body therapy, (B) therapy for smaller area, (C) UV 109 B for therapy of scalp.

Systemic treatment of psoriasis

European S3-Guidelines on the systemic treatment of psoriasis vulgaris, updated on July 2015, the members of the expert group summarizing the evidence of the systemic treatment as monotherapies [84]. Conventional systemic therapeutic agents as second-line drugs are retinoids (acitretin), ciclosporin-A (CsA), fumaric acid ester (FAE), and methotrexate (MTX).

Acitretin. It is a second-generation synthetic retinoid that is effective in the systemic treatment of psoriasis, either in monotherapy or in combination or sequential regimens. Although it has a much shorter half-life than etretinate and does not accumulate in any tissue, its use is nonetheless contraindicated in pregnant women and women of childbearing age who plan to conceive within at least 2 years of cessation of treatment. Acitretin's efficacy in the treatment of psoriasis is mediated by the transcription and inhibition of specific genes, through which it influences the action of intracellular retinoids and exerts a primarily regulatory effect on the differentiation and proliferation of keratinocytes and, to a lesser degree, acts as an anti-inflammatory [85]. Compared to other available systemic drugs (MTX, CsA, biologics), acitretin is less effective, but it nonetheless achieves significant clearing and can be used in the long term without risk of immunosuppression. In monotherapy, acitretin obtains a therapeutic response (PASI 75) in 40% to 50% of patients. The best results are achieved when the dose is gradually escalated to achieve the maximally effective dose, which varies in each individual [85]. Acitretin is especially useful in the treatment of pustular psoriasis and the palmar and plantar forms of the disease. It is also use in combination with phototherapy. It can cause severe (teratogenicity, hepatotoxicity, dyslipidaemia) and mild (mucositis, xerosis, alopecia, laminar scaling, myalgia, photosensitivity, epistaxis, paronychia, nausea, abdominal pain, sticky skin) side

effects [86].

Ciclosporin-A. It is an immunosuppressant drug and natural product. It is useful due to its anti-inflammatory effect for psoriasis, IBD, and organ transplantation [87]. Its side effects include high blood pressure, headache, kidney problems, increased hair growth, and vomiting. CsA is believed to work by decreasing the function of lymphocytes. It does this by forming a complex with cyclophilin to block the phosphatase activity of calcineurin (calcineurin inhibitor), which in turn decreases the production of inflammatory cytokines by T-lymphocytes [88].

Fumaric Acid Ester. These are small molecules with immunomodulating, antiinflammatory, and anti-oxidative effects. FAE were introduced as a systemic psoriasis treatment in 1959 and empirically developed further between 1970 and 1990 in Germany, Switzerland, and the Netherlands. Nonetheless, in 1994 FAE were approved in Germany for the treatment of severe plaque psoriasis. FAE are currently one of the most used treatments in Germany, and FAE are increasingly being used as an unlicensed treatment in several other European countries. To date, six randomized controlled trials and 29 observational studies have evaluated FAE in a combined total of 3439 patients. The efficacy and safety profile of FAE is favourable. About 50%-70% of patients achieve at least 75% improvement in psoriasis severity after 16 weeks of treatment. Common adverse events of FAE include gastrointestinal complaints and flushing symptoms, which lead to treatment discontinuation in up to 40% of patients [89].

Methotrexate. Formerly known as amethopterin, is a cytostatic agent and immune system suppressant. It is used to treat different types of cancers (breast cancer, lung cancer, leukaemia, lymphoma) and inflammatory diseases (psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease) [90]. MTX is one of the most used systemic therapies for psoriasis [91]. Common side effects include nausea, fatigue, fever, increased risk of infection, decreasing white blood cell counts, and ulceration of oral mucous membrane, lung and liver fibrosis, and cirrhosis. Before starting MTX therapy lab tests (cell blood count, liver, and kidney function) and abdominal ultrasound examination are necessary. Absolute contraindications for MTX therapy are the follows: severe infections, severe liver disease, renal failure, conception (women) / breastfeeding, alcohol abuse, bone marrow dysfunction or haematologic changes, immunodeficiency, acute peptic ulcer, reduced lung function.

In 2015, Gyulai et al have done a survey to evaluate the real-life use of MTX for psoriasis treatment in the dermatological community worldwide [91]. Although the number of respondents in this survey was high, their geographical distribution was not uniform. As the idea of this survey originated in Europe, it is not surprising that the contribution from European countries was highest. While in other regions the response rate was lower, we may still consider the results to be representative for the given area. It is likely that dermatologists with an interest in MTX treatment are probably overrepresented in this survey, and thus, the use of MTX in the total dermatological community is perhaps lower than calculated here. Nevertheless, despite all the drawbacks of the online survey approach, our results are the first to provide a global snapshot of MTX prescribing for psoriasis. In conclusion, while survey methodology might provide less accurate data than other methods, this study provides substantial new information regarding the use of MTX for psoriasis treatment. There is a need to harmonize MTX use in psoriasis, considering geographical and potential ethnic differences in drug efficacy and safety.

Biological therapy and small molecules

To evaluate the use of biological agents in treatment of psoriasis and to explore country-specific differences within 6 Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries, namely Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, and Romania. On average 0.25% of all psoriasis patients, or 5 psoriasis patients out of 100,000 inhabitants are treated with biologics embedding a 14.6-fold difference between the six countries [92, 93].

Introduction of biological drugs implied the greatest advance in the management of moderate to severe psoriasis of the past decade. In 2004, *etanercept* was the first biological drug registered by the European Medicines Agency (EMA), followed by *infliximab* (2005), *adalimumab* (2007) and *ustekinumab* (2008) for the treatment of patients with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis who failed to respond to, or who have a contraindication to, or are intolerant to other systemic therapy including CsA, acitretin, MTX, or PUVA. Additionally, in September 2013, biosimilar infliximab was approved by EMA in the same indications as the reference product (Table 3) [94, 95].

TNFα is a "master regulator" of the inflammatory response in many organ systems. Autoimmune diseases are caused by an overactive immune response [96].

Etanercept. It is acting as a TNF inhibitor. It has U.S. FDA approval to treat 26

psoriatic arthritis and plaque psoriasis [96]. Etanercept is a fusion protein produced by recombinant DNA. It fuses the TNF receptor to the constant end of the IgG1 antibody. It is a large molecule (150 kDa), that binds to TNF α and decreases its role in disorders involving excess inflammation in patients [97].

Infliximab. It is a chimeric monoclonal antibody (mAb), used to treat a number of autoimmune diseases, including IBD, psoriasis and PsA. It is given by slow infusion intravenously every eight-weeks [98]. Its common side effects include infections. It works by binding to TNF α and block's it.

Adalimumab. It is a medicine that acts on the immune system and is used to treat plaque psoriasis and PsA. As mAb it has been designed to recognise and attach to TNF α and blocks its activity, thereby reducing inflammation and other symptoms of the diseases [99]. Common side effects include upper respiratory tract infections, pain at the site of injection, rash, and headache.

Ustekinumab. It is also a human mAb useful to treat psoriasis [100, 101]. It is designed to interfere with the triggering of the body's inflammatory response through the suppression of certain cytokines. Specifically, it blocks interleukin IL-12 and IL-23 which help activate certain T-cells. It binds to the p-40 subunit of both IL-12 and IL-23 so that they subsequently cannot bind to their receptors.

Secukinumab. It is a human IgG1κ mAb that binds to the protein interleukin (IL)-17A, it is used to treat psoriasis and PsA [102, 103].

Ixekizumab. It is an injectable humanized mAb for the treatment of autoimmune diseases. The substance acts by binding interleukin 17-A and neutralizing it, reducing inflammation [104]. The drug is approved for the treatment of plaque psoriasis in Europe, and in USA.

Guselkumab. It is a fully human immunoglobulin G1 λ (IgG1 λ) mAb that binds to the p19 subunit of IL-23. It is the first of its class, already approved by the US FDA, as well as the EMA for the treatment of adult patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis [105]. Guselkumab has also been or is currently being evaluated for the treatment of other diseases, namely generalized pustular psoriasis, erythrodermic psoriasis, and PsA.

Risankizumab. It is a humanized mAb targeting interleukin 23A. It has been approved in Europe, USA, Canada, and Japan for treatment of moderate to severe plaque psoriasis in adults who are candidates for systemic therapy [106].

Table 3. C	Overview	on how	long the	treatment	options	have	been i	n clini	ical u	se
			for pso	oriasis in E	urope					

Treatment	In clinical use for psoriasis since
<i>"conventional"</i> Acitretin Ciclosporin Fumaric acid esters Methotrexate	>25 years >25 years >25 years >25 years
<i>"anti-TNF alpha"</i> Etanercept Infliximab Adalimumab	2004 2005 2007
" anti-IL12/23" Ustekinumab	2008
<i>"anti-IL 17"</i> Secukinumab Ixekizumab <i>"anti-II 23"</i>	2015 2016
Guselkumab Risankizumab	2018 2019
" small molecules" Apremilast	2015

(Source: https://www.edf.one/de/home/Guidelines/EDF-EuroGuiDerm.html)

Apremilast. It is a selective phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitor, has been shown inhibits spontaneous production of TNFα to reduce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and promote the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines [107]. It has proven efficacy, well tolerable, and safety in the treatment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis in phase II and III studies. It is taken by mouth. In Hungary it is obligatory to ask for a permission to give apremilast to psoriatic patients. Permission should be asking for patients who had or have any type of tumor. It is not compulsory to do any pre-treatment examination except a basic lab test. No need for follow up laboratory examinations, only if dermatologist feels it is necessary. Its main side effects diarrhoea and nausea [108, 109].

Result of biologics on patients

After biological treatments, patients' symptoms are significantly reduced which represented on our practice (Figure 19 and 20).



Figure 19. Psoriatic symptoms (A, C) before treatment, and (B, D) after 12 weeks adalimumab therapy.



Figure 20. Psoriatic symptoms (A, C) before treatment, and (B, D) after 12 weeks secukinumab therapy.

I.6. Thermal analysis by Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)

In Nature, changes in the internal structure of matter take place in accordance with certain laws. The state parameters of a given biological system (pressure, temperature, volume, concentration, etc.) are related to each other, which are described by state equations, which inform about the energy state, internal order, and stability of the system. A complete understanding of biochemical reactions/life processes involves studying the energy transitions in the system. Under certain conditions, specific macromolecules (e.g. proteins), and many life-stages, can be characterized energetically by many sub-states with nearly the same energy. One conformation can be assigned to each sub-state; the biological system, even in a state of thermodynamic equilibrium, can pass from one state to another [110, 111].

In this view, the positions of the atoms that make up the biomolecule in the macromolecule are not constant, and relatively significant internal motion is to be expected. Among the movements, those which determine the biochemical/ physiological processes are of primary importance to the researchers. It is currently understood that coordinated collective movements within the biological system are responsible for different biological functions. Collective motion refers to the process of moving a well-defined region/domain of a protein as a unit, relative to the rest of the protein. Interactions between ions and small molecules generate fluctuations in the structure of the protein; water molecules, ions can bind to or dissociate from the protein, thereby attracting or repulsive forces are generated that modulate the movement of the protein or its individual functional domain and can ultimately facilitate or inhibit transitions from one conformational state to another. The dynamic state of the protein or its domains in some way influences biological function [112].

Under given environmental conditions (pressure, temperature, ion concentration, pH, etc.), the structure of the native protein is a kinetically preferable structure, one of the possible many metastable structures of the polypeptide chain. Intermolecular interactions influence the equilibrium space structure and its dynamic properties. The stability of the spatial structure can be well studied by thermodynamic methods. Of importance are the methods which are capable continuously measure small thermal effects by continuous heating or cooling the system. Such a device is a

constant pressure differential scanning calorimeter for continuous measurement of the heat flux (heat capacity). The temperature dependence of the heat flux provides information on the nature of the thermally induced macromolecular melting process, whether it is a simple or complex process. The cooperativity of the thermal transformation informs about the extent of the reversibility of thermal transformation and how affect the change in environmental conditions the temperature of the transition and the enthalpy of the transformation. Thermodynamic analysis describes many properties, e.g. helps determine heat capacity, melting points, structural stability, transformations, conformational changes etc [113].

Principles of DSC structure and function

The Micro DSC-II is an extremely sensitive instrument for measuring structural and conformational changes in biological and biochemical processes, which can be used in the range of -20 $^{\circ}$ C to 100 $^{\circ}$ C. Each parts of the device are shown in Figure 21.



Figure 21. Schematic layout of the Micro DSC-II (Source: SETARAM user guide)

The device operates on the principle of measuring the heat flow. The measuring and reference cell is deposited in a heat sink unit which can be heated/cooled according to an adjusted temperature program (Figure 22).



Figure 22. The heat flow sensors with calorimetric block and measuring vessels (Source: SETARAM user guide)

Measured output parameter is the heat flow in the function of temperature or time. The temperature difference between the heat sink and the sample holder as well as between the sample and reference cell provides the control signals for program execution. The sample and reference are filled and weighed so that the heat capacity of the two cells is nearly the same, because the mass difference is ± 0.1 mg (Figure 23).





(Source: SETARAM user guide)

Thus, during programmed heating, the temperature of the two vessels changes in the same way, and this way the temperature difference between them is zero (the reference is the sample buffer) until some process (endo/exothermic) takes place in the measuring cell containing the investigated macromolecular system. Depending on the sign of the temperature difference and its magnitude, power must be supplied to either the sample or reference cell to maintain thermal balance between the original heating program and the cells. In these cases, the supplied energy during the programmed heating cannot increase the internal energy (that is the temperature) of the sample, because the energy is used to evoke structural changes (breaking H-bonds, unfolding of protein etc.). The output of the measuring/controlling system is this energy (heat flow) as a function of time or current temperature (Figure 24). Information directly obtained from the process under investigation is the integral of the output signal, which is the so-called calorimetric enthalpy (ΔH_{cal} , cells are under constant pressure due to hermetic sealing).



Figure 24. The output signal (DSC scan) during a measurement

From this, by graphical processing, one can easily obtain the heat capacity of the sample at constant pressure (because the system is inhomogeneous), as well as the change in free enthalpy and entropy calculated for T_m .

The Robert-Mayer equation: $C_p - C_V = R$ shows that for all materials, the difference in heat capacity at constant pressure and constant volume is the same. From this follows that the heat capacity at constant pressure is proportional to the number of degrees of freedom of the material:

$$C_p = \frac{f+2}{2} \cdot R \tag{1},$$

where **R** is the Regnault constant, **f** is the number of degrees of freedom.

Whatever the reason, the degree of freedom in the macromolecular system

changes, it is sensed by the calorimeter. However, as the temperature increases, it can be assumed that the vibrational/rotational motion of each region (subdomain) - either simultaneously or separately - is altered mainly when a moiety is denatured. The most important thing, therefore, is to maintain a constant pressure during the measurement that is provided by a specially designed measuring vessel.

The basic thermodynamic parameters can be calculated from the known thermodynamic relationships using heat flow and heat capacity:

$$C_{p} = \left(\frac{dH}{dT}\right)_{p} = \left(\frac{dU + pdV}{dT}\right)_{p}$$
(2).

Where C_p is the heat capacity at constant pressure and dH is the infinitesimal change in enthalpy. The enthalpy change knowing the specific heat and temperature change is:

$$\Delta H = C_p \Delta T \tag{3}.$$

Divide both sides of the equation by Δt (time) to get the equation for difference ratios:

$$\frac{\Delta H}{\Delta t} = C_p \frac{\Delta T}{\Delta t} \tag{4}$$

From this, with infinitesimal approximation of the value of Δt to zero, we can move to the following differential equation:

$$\frac{dH}{dt} = C_p \frac{dT}{dt}$$
(5).

The left side of the differential equation represents the heat flux (amount of absorbed or released heat/time) between the sample and its environment during calorimetric measurements, while the right member is calculated as the product of heat capacity dependent on the material quality and the applied heating rate. Thus, based on the measured heat flux and the set heating rate, the characteristic heat capacity of the material can be easily calculated:

$$\frac{dH/dt}{dT/dt} = C_p \tag{6}$$

In the case of biological/medical samples, a so-called instrument baseline is first required. In this case, both the reference cell and the sample cell contain a buffer appropriate to the nature of the experiment. The resulting baseline is the feature of the device; this is the so-called "gait" of the instrument. In practice, the real heat flux - temperature curve of a sample is determined by applying a second heating on the irreversibly denatured sample. In this case we also get an instrument baseline. Subtracting this curve from the first heat -

flow we get the denaturation curve of our sample.

From the DSC curves different thermal parameters can be derived, which characterize the processes carried out in the studied system (Figure 25).



Figure 25. Denaturation curve of a human sample with characteristic parameters [114]

The most frequently used thermodynamic data are (see Figure 25):

- T_m maximum or melting temperature, where the heat flow reaches a maximum value, and the 50 % of the macromolecule denatured (unfolded). In a complex system we can detect pretransitions, independent from the main one. The higher the T_m , the more bound the macromolecule or its thermally separable domain is.
- ΔH_{cal} area of the heat flow temperature curve below the temperature interval T_1 and T_2 . Greater calorimetric enthalpy means strongly bound structure, because to destroy the chemical bonds more energy is required.
- $T_{1/2}$ is the so called "half width" of the denaturation. That temperature range is, where the heat flow is the half of maximum heat flow (see Figure 25). Greater $T_{1/2}$ is the sign of loosening of the structure after some intervention (smaller cooperativity between the thermal domains of macromolecule), while smaller one reports about the more rigid system (it behaves as a single structural unit).
- ∠CP refers to the consequence of denaturation. The structural change during the thermal process can change the heat capacity. Its magnitude is proportional to the measure of final structural change.

A DSC detects the change in heat capacity extremely sensitive manner, but it cannot give information about the definite segment of the system that undergone these structural changes. It means, that additional information is wanted, e.g. histological, biochemical, electron microscopic, or in case of a composed system the thermal characteristic of the individuals. The DSC in work can be seen in Figure 26.

Our denaturation experiments on human blood plasma were performed in the Department of Biophysics, Medical School University of Pécs (MS UP), by a Micro DSC-II micro calorimeter (produced by SETARAM, France, Caluire-et-Cuire) (Figure 26). Hastelloy cells were used for the measurements. The total mass of the tested samples was 950 mg on average. As a control, physiological salt solution was added into the reference cell. The system baseline stability in the isothermal mode was less than $\pm 0.2 \ \mu$ W and the heating/cooling rate was 0.3 K/min. In case of used calorimeter pre-calibration did not require.



Figure 26. The complete setup of measuring system in the Department of Biophysics, MS UP.

Statistical analysis

The results were evaluated using mean and standard error (SE). Significance level was p <0.05 in case when at least 5 samples were in a group. MicroCal Origin 6.0 (Microcal Software, USA) was used for graphic presentation.
II. Aims and hypothesis

Extensive research over the years in the field of psoriasis has greatly extended our understanding of the underlying mechanism of this chronic, immunological mainly skin disorder and manifestation of general symptoms in any organs. Because of, many questions are yet to be elucidated, especially regarding the monitoring severity and its treatment, all studies were performed on patients with psoriasis by DSC analysis of their blood plasma samples.

In our first series of psoriasis investigations, we aimed to detect blood plasma thermal changes with DSC technique in 18 adult psoriasis patients with different clinical stages. Taking in consideration the severity of symptoms, we stratified them in 3 groups (symptomless, minimal symptoms, symptoms) based on PASI scoring system. Furthermore, according to medical treatment human plasma samples were divided into 3 groups: healthy controls, patients without or with medication therapy.

In second series of study, we set upon examining blood plasma with DSC technique in untreated patients and following different therapies in 72 patients with psoriasis, namely after conventional systemic drug treatment, and following application of biologic response modifier agents.

In the third series of project, our purpose was to detect oxidative stress parameters and to determine the calorimetric enthalpy changes under constant pressure by DSC on previously mentioned 72 patients.

In the fourth part of investigation, our aim was to clarify the summarized blood plasma thermal curves content elements by deconvolution process of DSC curves. Furthermore, we were also curious how these sub-curves are related to psoriatic patient severity and their treatment.

III. Manuscripts offprints

On the next 25 pages are manuscripts offprint of the 4 scientific publications based on PhD thesis. These are the follows:

- III.1. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human plasma in different psoriasis stages. J Therm Anal Calorim 2013;111:1801-4. DOI 10.1007/s10973-012-2468-2
- III.2. Evaluation of blood plasma changes by differential scanning calorimetry in psoriatic patients treated with drugs. J Therm Anal Calorim 2014;116:557-62. DOI 10.1007/s10973-013-3585-2
- III.3. Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by DSC on patients with psoriasis. J Therm Anal Calorim 2016;123:2037-43.DOI 10.1007/s10973-015-4674-1
- III.4. Deconvoluted plasma DSC curves on patients with psoriasis. J Therm Anal Calorim 2020; https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-020-09443-y

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human plasma in different psoriasis stages

Moezzi Mehdi · Tamás Fekecs · István Zapf · Andrea Ferencz · Dénes Lőrinczy

Received: 6 March 2012/Accepted: 24 April 2012/Published online: 24 May 2012 © Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, Hungary 2012

Abstract Psoriasis vulgaris is a chronic autoimmune, inflammatory and proliferative skin disease. Recently, there is a need for new methods to detect and to monitor this dermatological syndrome at any stage. The application of differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) should be as a new diagnostic method for psoriasis detection and monitoring using human plasma. We aimed to detect blood plasma components with DSC in psoriasis patients. The study included 18 white adults (eight men and ten women; median age 55.7 years) who had underwent a full skin examination for psoriasis. According to the psoriasis area severity index (PASI) we selected them into three groups: PASI: 0 (symptomless), PASI: 1–6 (minimal symptoms),

Highlight Human blood plasma components were detected with DSC in different psoriasis stages of patients. In this preliminary study, we observed that plasma thermal changes (T_m , calorimetric enthalpy) showed closed correlation with psoriasis stages. Our application of the DSC method has provided a potential tool for the early diagnosis and monitoring of psoriatic patients.

M. Mehdi · T. Fekecs

Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs, Kodály Z. Str. 20, Pecs 7624, Hungary

I. Zapf

Surgery Clinic, Medical School, University of Pécs, Ifjúság Str. 13, Pecs 7624, Hungary

A. Ferencz

Department of Surgical Research and Techniques, Medical Faculty, Semmelweis University, Nagyvárad Sqr. 4, Budapest 1089, Hungary

D. Lőrinczy (🖂)

Institute of Biophysics, Medical School, University of Pécs, Szigeti Str. 12, Pecs 7624, Hungary e-mail: denes.lorinczy@aok.pte.hu PASI: >7 (symptoms). According to medical treatment human blood plasma samples were collected from healthy controls, patients without or with therapy, and were analyzed by DSC technique. In this preliminary study we observed that thermal changes (T_m , calorimetric enthalpy) in blood plasma showed closed correlation with psoriasis severity and medical treatment. Further studies are needed to elucidate these relationships, but our application of the DSC method has provided a potential new tool for the early diagnosis and monitoring of psoriasis patients.

Keywords DSC · Psoriasis vulgaris · PASI score

Introduction

Psoriasis is a common chronic autoimmune, inflammatory and proliferative skin disease that affects 2-3 % of the European general population. It affects both sexes equally, and can occur at any age, although it most commonly appears for the first time between the ages of 15 and 25 years. Onset before age 40 usually indicates a greater genetic susceptibility and a more severe or recurrent course of psoriasis. It usually appears on extensor surface of extremities and scalp, sometimes accompanied with nail changes. According to dermal symptoms there are five types of psoriasis: plaque, guttate, inverse, pustular and erythrodermic [1]. The most common form, plaque psoriasis, is seen as deep red scaly patches appearing on the top first layer of the epidermis [2]. Psoriasis can also cause inflammation of the joints, which is known as psoriatic arthritis. Between 10 and 30 % of all people with psoriasis have psoriatic arthritis [3].

The cause and pathogenesis of psoriasis are still incompletely understood. This is a lifelong skin disease, which occurs when the immune system mistakes the skin cells as a pathogen, and sends out faculty signals that speed up the growth cycle of skin cells. But, psoriasis is not contagious disease, and it has been linked to an increased risk of stroke. It is believed to have a genetic component, and local psoriatic changes can be triggered by an injury to the skin known as the Koebner Phenomenon [4]. A genetically (HLA-B13, -B17, and -Cw6) determined skin disorder as a cause of the infiltration of lesions with activated T cells, interaction between dermal antigen-presenting cells, and activation of neutrophils and T cells has been postulated [5]. Provoking factors are trauma, sunlight (ultraviolent radiation), infection, medications (Lithium, withdrawal corticosteroids, betablockers, anti-malarias, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs), stress, smoking and alcohol consumption [6, 7].

Although there are no validated diagnostic criteria, the diagnosis of psoriasis is clinical and in a majority of cases, histological confirmation is not necessary. Skin biopsy may be useful in localized pustular psoriasis, in order to exclude other clinically similar conditions. The psoriasis area severity index (PASI) is created by Fredriksson and Pettersson [8] in 1978, as an index used to express the severity of psoriasis. To make up the score, the three features of a psoriatic plaque (redness, thickness and scaliness) scaling with a number from 0 to 4 where 4 being worst. Then the extent of involvement of four regions (head, upper extremities, trunk, and lower extremities) of the body is scored from 0 to 6. Adding up the scores give a range of 0-72, where the lowest PASI score is 0, while the potential highest is 72. Up till now, there are no generally accepted methods, or objective parameters to assess effectiveness of treatment or to follow the disease in any stage. Moreover, in a clinical practice there are no laboratory findings specific for psoriasis [7].

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) studies of plasma or tissues indicate that this technique can be applied to pathomorphological cases or diseases detection and monitoring [9–15]. The results of healthy persons and patients with various diseases have revealed the differences between the shape of plasma DSC curves and between the thermodynamic parameters of denaturation transition. Recently, it has been evidence that DSC curves of plasma from patients differ dramatically from healthy controls. Moreover, each disease seems to display a signature of thermal transition that can at a glance be distinguished from other diseases. Thus, the statement, that for each disease a unique signature thermal curve can be obtained, needs verification and further investigation [16].

Aim of the study

In current research we aimed to detect blood plasma thermal changes with DSC technique in psoriasis patients with different clinical stages.

Clinical

Patients and methods

Patient selection

The study included 18 white adults (eight men and 10 women; median age 55.7 years) who had underwent a full skin examination for psoriasis in the Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology of Pécs University. According to general check up of patients have had diagnosable psoriasis. Taking in consideration the severity of symptoms, we stratified them in 3 groups based on PASI scoring system: PASI: 0 (symptomless), PASI: 1–6 (minimal symptoms), PASI: >7 (symptoms). According to medical treatment human plasma samples were divided into 3 groups: healthy controls (n = 5), patients without or with medication therapy (acitretin n = 2; methotrexate n = 2). The protocol was approved by regional ethical committee of Pécs University (4077/2011).

Blood sample preparation

Preoperatively peripheral blood samples were collected from the patients (n = 18) and from healthy controls (n = 5). Blood samples were collected into the Vacutainer tubes containing EDTA (1.5 mg/ml of blood) centrifuged at $1600 \times g$ for 15 min at 4 °C to separate plasma fraction from cell components. Native plasmas were stored at -80 °C until DSC measurement.

DSC measurements

The thermal unfolding of the human plasma components were monitored by SETARAM Micro DSCII calorimeter. All experiments were conducted between 0 and 100 °C. The heating rate was 0.3 K/min in all cases. Conventional Hastelloy batch vessels were used during the denaturation experiments with 850 μ L sample volume in average. Reference sample contained normal saline (0.9 % NaCl). The sample and reference samples were equilibrated with a precision of \pm 0.1 mg. There was no need to do any correction from the point of view of heat capacity between sample and reference samples. The repeated scan of denatured sample was used as baseline reference, which was subtracted from the original DSC curve. Calorimetric enthalpy was calculated from the area under the heat absorption curve by using two-point setting SETARAM peak integration.

Results and discussion

Psoriasis is an immune-mediated inflammatory skin disease characterized by highly inflamed and sharply demarcated scaly plaques. Scalp, nails, palms and soles are frequently involved by lesions and its duration may vary from a few weeks to a whole lifetime. The clinical course is unpredictable but in the majority of cases psoriasis is a chronically remitting and seasonal relapsing disease. In practice, the PASI score has been the most frequently used one to assess psoriasis severity and the response to previous treatment. Most often the effect of a therapy is determined based on clinical judgment of the physician, in conjunction with the opinion of the patient. Recently, there are no exact laboratory methods specific for psoriasis [17].

This study investigated the thermal changes of human blood plasma components with DSC technique in psoriasis patients. The thermodynamic data of thermal denaturation of their blood plasma is seen in Table 1. The average melting temperature was around 63 °C, the calorimetric enthalpy was in the range which is usual in case of this kind of biological materials ($\Delta H \sim 1.25$ J/g). The DSC scans in case of patients without medicinal treatment (see Fig. 1) clearly demonstrated the thermodynamic consequence of the severity of the skin disease: decreasing melting temperatures, decrease of the mean value of calorimetric enthalpies compared with healthy controls (see Table 1.). In case of infected samples we can see a definite heat capacity change between the native and denatured states, which could be the sign of different water binding of serum proteins. But, the exact explanations of these results are not yet known.

Groups of patients who underwent medicinal treatment with oral retinoid (Neotigason) or with cytostatic (Metoject

Table 1 The thermal denaturation parameters of blood serum for different patient groups $(T_m)^{\circ}C$ peak temperature of denaturation ('melting' point), $\Delta H/Jg^{-1}$ calorimetric enthalpy of transitions normalised for total sample mass, data are in mean \pm SD except at data number = 1)

Sample	T _m /°C	$\Delta H/\mathrm{Jg}^{-1}$
Control $(n = 5)$	63.6 ± 0.1	1.25 ± 0.07
No medical treatment		
Symptomless $(n = 4)$	63.1 ± 0.1	1.21 ± 0.05
Minimal symptom (6)	62.8 ± 0.1	1.23 ± 0.06
Symptom (4)	62.6 ± 0.1	1.23 ± 0.06
Medical treatment		
Still exists symptom	65.7	1.32
Trexant, $n = 1$		
Lot of symptom	62.5	1.28
Metoject inj., $n = 1$		
Min. symptom on the palm	63.1	1.17
Neotigason, $n = 1$		
Symptom on the skin	62.5	1.30
Neotigason, $n = 1$		

ini. and Trexant = Methotrexate) showed a thermodynamic tendency of the deterioration of the skin disease is seen in Fig. 2 (as well as in Table 1). The significant decrease of the melting temperatures is a sign of less thermal stability of the macromolecular structure (at the same time the calorimetric enthalpy prohibited increased average values except for case of minimal symptom on the palm. We have to emphasize the very low number of patients!). The pronounced heat capacity change between denatured and native states is also an indicator of the structural change in disease compared with the healthy controls. Unfortunately, recent study involved low number of patients in medical treatment group, so we could not draw any statistically based conclusion till now. Investigations performed on increased sample number could check the validity of our observations, but some trends are visible. Our results in this preliminary study showed that DSC is a useable method for not only during medical



Fig. 1 The DSC scans of blood plasma in case of control and patient with different severity of psoriasis without medicinal treatment



Fig. 2 Thermal denaturation curves of blood plasma in case of control and patient with different severity of psoriasis with medicinal treatment

treatment of cases, but also DSC curves make a distinction between patients with psoriasis and healthy controls. However, there are no data in the literature indicating the possible diagnostic and staging method of human blood plasma by DSC in psoriasis patients. But, similar findings have been described in another report, where the DSC method is applied to investigate its utility for other systemic immunological syndromes [18]. Diseased thermograms for rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus and Lyme disease showed unique signature of thermograms for blood plasma that could provide the basis for the use of the DSC method as a clinical diagnosis [19]. Further studies are needed to elucidate these relationships, but our application of the DSC method has provided a potential new tool for the early diagnosis and monitoring of psoriasis patients.

Acknowledgements This study was supported by grants OTKA C272 (for D. L.), OTKA PD77474 and PTE AOK Research Grant 114-603/2009 (for A. F.).

References

- Raychaudhuri SP. A cutting edge overview: psoriatic disease. Clin Rev Allerg Immunol. 2012;. doi:10.1007/s12016-012-8309-z.
- Lowes MA, Bowcock AM, Krueger JG. Pathogenesis and therapy of psoriasis. Nature. 2007;445:866–73.
- Day MS, Nam D, Googman S, Edwin PS, Figgie M. Psoriatic arthritis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2012;20:28–37.
- Sagi L, Trau H. The Koebner phenomenon. Clin Dermatol. 2011;29:231–6.
- Oka A, Mabuchi T, Ozawa A, Inoko H. Current understanding of human genetics and genetic analysis of psoriasis. J Dermatol. 2012;39:231–41.
- Di Meglio P, Perera GK, Nestle FO. The multitasking organ: recent insights into skin immune function. Immunity. 2011; 35:857–69.
- Krueger G, Ellis CN. Psoriasis—recent advances in understanding its pathogenesis and treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2005; 53:94–100.

- 8. Fredriksson T, Pettersson U. Severe psoriasis—oral therapy with a new retinoid. Dermatologica. 1978;157:238–44.
- Michnik A, Michalik K, Kluczewska A, Drzazga Z. Comparative DSC study of human and bovine serum albumin. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2006;84:113–7.
- Michnik A, Drzazga Z. Thermal denaturation of mixtures of human serum proteins: DSC study. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2010; 101:513–8.
- Michnik A, Drzazga Z, Michalik K, Barczyk A, Santura I, Sozańska E, Pierzchała W. Differential scanning calorimetry study of blood serum in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2010;102:57–60.
- Drzazga Z, Michalik K, Halat T, Michnik A, Trzeciak HI. Calorimetric and spectroscopic studies characterization of new born rat' blood serum after maternal administration of cyclophosphamide. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2010;102:143–8.
- Ferencz A, Nedvig K, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of the intestinal tissue following ischemic injuries. In: Lőrinczy D, editor. Thermal analysis in medical application. Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó; 2011. p. 255–69.
- Ferencz A, Fekecs T, Lőrinczy D. Differential Scanning Calorimetry, as a new method to monitor human plasma in melanoma patients with regional limph node or distal metastases. In: Xi Y, editor. Skin cancer overview. Rijeka: Intech; 2011. p. 141–52.
- Zapf I, Fekecs T, Ferencz A, Tizedes Gy, Pavlovics G, Kálmán E, Lőrinczy D. DSC analysis of human plasma in breast cancer patients. Thermochim Acta. 2011;524:88–91.
- Michnik A. Blood plasma, serum and serum proteins microcalorimetric studies aimed at diagnosis support. In: Lőrinczy D, editor. Thermal analysis in medical application. Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó; 2011. p. 171–90.
- European Medicines Agency, Committee for medicinal products for human use. Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products indicated for the treatment of psoriasis. 2004; CPMP/ EWP/2454/02.
- Fish DJ, Brewood GP, Kim JS, Garbett NC, Chaires JB, Benight AS. Statistical analysis of plasma thermograms measured by differential scanning calorimetry. Biophys Chem. 2010;152: 184–90.
- Garbett NC, Mekmaysy CS, Helm CW, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Differential scanning calorimetry of blood plasma for clinical diagnosis and monitoring. Exp Mol Pathol. 2009;86:186–91.

Evaluation of blood plasma changes by differential scanning calorimetry in psoriatic patients treated with drugs

Medhi Moezzi · Andrea Ferencz · Dénes Lőrinczy

Received: 27 October 2013/Accepted: 3 December 2013/Published online: 24 December 2013 © Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, Hungary 2013

Abstract Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory skin disease, most commonly resulting in the occurrence of red and silver scaly plaques. Application of differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) should be used as a new method to detect the different stages of the disease and to monitor medications with different anti-psoriatic drugs using patient's blood plasma. The study included 72 white adults (35 men and 37 women; median age 56 years) with diagnosed psoriasis. According to the psoriasis area severity index (PASI) patients were selected into three groups: symptomless (PASI: 0), mild (PASI: 1-15), and serious symptoms (PASI: >15). According to medication patients were divided into untreated (n = 39) and treated (n = 33) groups. For systemic drug treatment cytostatic therapy (methotrexate, n = 12), retinoid treatment (acitretin, n = 10), and biologic response modifiers (adalimumab, n = 5; infliximab, n = 5; ustekinumab, n = 1) were applied. Denaturation of human plasma components were detected in Setaram Micro DSC II calorimeter. The patients had no third denaturation peak in the untreated mild and serious symptoms groups. In mild symptoms all the thermal parameters altered significantly, while in serious symptoms only the first melting and the

M. Moezzi

Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs, Kodály Z. Str. 20, Pecs 7624, Hungary

A. Ferencz

D. Lőrinczy (⊠) Institute of Biophysics, Medical School, University of Pécs, Szigeti Str. 12, Pecs 7624, Hungary e-mail: denes.lorinczy@aok.pte.hu calorimetric enthalpy altered significantly compared with symptoms-free states. In case of systematic cytostatic and retinoid drug treatment (methotrexate, n = 12; acitretin, n = 10) cases the DSC scans of patients with symptoms exhibited significant differences (p < 0.05) in melting temperatures and in calorimetric enthalpy compared with the untreated symptoms-free patients. Using biologic response modifier agents (adalimumab, infliximab, and ustekinumab) we had no enough samples for a statistical evaluation for each one, but after the intervention a stronger effect can be seen as in case of systematic drug treatment. In this study blood plasma measurement in psoriatic patients by DSC showed differences between untreated, conventional systemic drug treatment, and application of biologic response modifier agents, but further studies are needed to elucidate these relationships (supported by grant OTKA CO-272).

Keywords DSC · Psoriasis vulgaris · PASI score · Methotrexate · Acitretin · Biologic response modifier treatment

Introduction

Psoriasis is a chronic autoimmune skin disorder that affects 2-3 % of the Europe's population. It affects both sexes equally, and it most commonly appears for the first time between the ages of 15 and 25 years. Onset before age 40 usually indicates a greater genetic susceptibility and a more severe or recurrent course of disease [1, 2]. The etiology of psoriasis is a multifactorial disease with elements of inheritance and environmental factors (trauma, infection, medications, stress, smoking, and alcohol consumption), dysfunction of the endocrine system, and activation of the skin immune response. It is characterized by hyperproliferation of the skin's

Department of Surgical Research and Techniques, Medical Faculty, Semmelweis University, Nagyvárad Sqr. 4, Budapest 1089, Hungary

epidermal layer, which is attributed to premature maturation of keratinocytes and dermal inflammatory infiltrates comprising dendritic cells, macrophages, and T cells [3].

The severity of psoriasis had been measured by clinical assessments alone for a long time. The psoriasis area and severity index (PASI) is the most widely used clinical assessment tool. Briefly, the body is divided into four regions (i.e., head, arms, trunk, and legs), and the extent of involvement is scored from 0 to 6. For each section, the percent "area and severity" of psoriatic lesions are estimated by three clinical signs, such as erythema, induration, and desquamation scaling with a number from 0 to 4 where 4 being worst. Adding up the scores give a range of 0–72, where the lowest PASI score is 0, while the potential highest is 72. On the other hand, the importance of patient-generated evaluations in assessing the impact of healthcare has been recognized in recent years [4].

The clinically used PASI score is a qualitative estimation only, and no validated quantified diagnostic criteria are accepted. For this reason in our preliminary study human blood plasma components were measured by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) method in patients with different stages of psoriasis. DSC is a thermoanalytical technique, which is a validly efficient method for the demonstration of structural changes in biologic samples. Moreover, the DSC curve is a unique signature for biomolecules reflecting the normal or pathomorphological changes in tissue elements in surgical, oncological, and dermatological clinical studies [5–12].

Currently, several treatments are available to help control psoriasis; however, the available treatments are only able to relieve the symptoms and lives of individuals. The choice of the most appropriate treatment depends on the patient's general health, age, comorbidities, form and severity of the pathology, and, also, on the affected body parts [13]. The conventional first-line choice of treatment was usually systemic cytostatic therapy with methotrexate and/or retinoid treatment with acitretin. In recent years, new findings on the immunologic factors related to the disease have fundamentally changed the treatment of psoriasis and created new drugs. New psoriasis treatments are derived from biotechnologies and are called biologic response modifiers, such as adalimumab, infliximab, and ustekinumab [14].

In current research we aimed to detect human blood plasma thermal changes with DSC technique in untreated and following different therapies in patients with psoriasis.

Clinical

Patient selection

The study included 72 white adult patients (35 men and 37 women; median age 56.04 years) with diagnosed

psoriasis. Patients underwent a full skin examination for psoriasis in the Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology of Pécs University. To define the severity of symptoms three groups were established based on PASI scoring system. PASI: 0 meant free symptoms, while PASI: 1-15 showed mild symptoms, and serious symptoms observed if PASI was over 15. According to medication patients were divided into untreated (n = 39)and treated (n = 33) groups. In systemic drug treatment group patients were selected and involved those who were given monotherapy alone with cytostatic agent (methotrexate, n = 12), with retinoid treatment (acitretin, n = 10), or with one of the biologic response modifier (adalimumab, n = 5; infliximab, n = 5; and ustekinumab, n = 1). The type, the dosage, and timing of drug treatment were done in accordance with the current dermatological protocols. According to the PASI score drug-treated patients were divided to further groups (symptoms-free, mild, and severe symptoms) in Table 1. The protocol was approved by regional ethical committee of Pécs University (4077/2011).

Blood sample preparation

Peripheral blood samples were collected from the patients (n = 72) and from healthy controls (n = 10). Blood samples were collected into the Vacutainer tubes containing EDTA (1.5 mg mL⁻¹ of blood) centrifuged at $1,600 \times g$ for 15 min at 4 °C to separate plasma fraction from cell components. Native plasmas were stored at -80 °C until DSC measurement.

Method

DSC measurements

The thermal unfolding of the human plasma components was monitored by SETARAM Micro DSCII calorimeter. All experiments were conducted between 0 and 100 °C. The heating rate was 0.3 K min⁻¹ in all cases. Conventional Hastelloy batch vessels were used during the denaturation experiments with 850 µL sample volume in average. Reference sample contained normal saline (0.9 % NaCl). The sample and reference samples were equilibrated with a precision of ± 0.1 mg. There was no need to do any correction from the point of view of heat capacity between sample and reference samples. The repeated scan of denatured sample was used as baseline reference, which was subtracted from the original DSC curve. Calorimetric enthalpy was calculated from the area under the heat absorption curve using two-point setting SETARAM peak integration.

Table 1 DSC data of blood plasma in case of untreated and systematically treated patients having psoriasis

Medication	Symptoms	$T_{\rm m}/^{\circ}{\rm C}$	$T_{\rm m}/^{\circ}{\rm C}$			
		T _{m1}	T _{m2}	T _{m3}		
I. Untreated $n = 39$	Free $n = 8$	55.60 ± 0.10	63.5 ± 0.10	67.30 $(n = 2)$	1.30 ± 0.06	
	Mild $n = 16$	$\textbf{56.00} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	$\textbf{63.00} \pm \textbf{0.20}$	_	$\textbf{1.40} \pm \textbf{0.06}$	
	Serious $n = 15$	55.80 ± 0.10	63.40 ± 0.10	_	1.40 ± 0.06	
II. Systemic drug treatment	n = 33					
II/A. Cytostatic treatment						
Methotrexate $n = 12$	Free $n = 2$	55.70	63.20	85.10	1.50	
	Mild $n = 6$	$\textbf{56.00} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	$\textbf{64.60} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	$\textbf{86.80} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	1.60 ± 0.06	
	Serious $n = 4$	$\textbf{56.00} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	63.30 ± 0.10	_	1.60 ± 0.06	
II/B. Retinoid treatment						
Acitretin $n = 10$	Free $n = 2$	55.90	63.30	85.40	1.70	
	Mild $n = 4$	55.50 ± 0.10	63.50 ± 0.10	82.20 ± 0.10	1.40 ± 0.06	
	Serious $n = 4$	$\textbf{55.90} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	$\textbf{63.90} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	$\textbf{83.00} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	$\textbf{1.50} \pm \textbf{0.06}$	
II/C. Biologic response mod	lifier agents					
Adalimumab $n = 5$	Free $n = 3$	56.30	64.50	$84.50 \ (n=2)$	1.40	
	Mild $n = 1$	55.40	64.60	_	1.40	
	Serious $n = 1$	55.70	64.40	88.10	1.40	
Infliximab $n = 5$	Free $n = 3$	55.60	64.00	83.30 (n = 2)	1.40	
	Mild $n = 1$	56.10	63.70	_	1.50	
	Serious $n = 1$	55.90	63.80	_	1.20	
Ustekinumab $n = 1$	Free $n = 1$	59.50	69.50	-	2.00	

Bold numbers refer to a significant difference (p < 0.05) compared with symptoms-free data in case $n \ge 4$, and italic means data out of the range of symptoms-free values. ($T_{mr} \sim C$ peak temperature of denaturation ("melting" point), $\Delta H/J$ g⁻¹ calorimetric enthalpy of transitions normalized for total sample mass. Data are rounded to two places of decimals.)

Results

This study investigated the thermal changes of human blood plasma in untreated patients and in patients following systematic drug treatment. Each group was subdivided into symptoms-free, mild, and seriously affected parts. In drug treatment we separated the data into cytostatic intervention, retinoid treatment, and biologic response modifier agents group. The thermodynamic data of thermal denaturation of blood plasma can be seen in Table 1.

During the denaturation of samples—independently from their classification—in most cases three melting temperatures (T_{m1} in the range of 55.50–59.50 °C, T_{m2} in the range of 63–69.5 °C as well as T_{m3} between 67.3 and 89.5 °C) could be observed. The calorimetric enthalpy values were in the usual range of this kind of biologic materials ($\Delta H \sim 1.3-2.0 \text{ J g}^{-1}$).

The DSC scans of patients without any medication clearly demonstrate the thermodynamic consequence of the severity of the skin disease: significant increase in T_{m1} , decreasing T_{m2} melting temperatures, absence of T_{m3} , and increase of calorimetric enthalpies, while in serious symptoms only the first melting and the calorimetric enthalpy changed compared with symptoms-free controls

(see Table 1 I. untreated). In case of untreated samples we have seen [5] a definite heat capacity change between the native and denatured states which could be the sign of increased aggregation tendency of serum proteins.

In our recent study we have used a wide variety of medical treatment compared to the previous one [5]. The cytostatic agent (methotrexate) increased the calorimetric enthalpy in the blood plasma of all patients and we have observed significant increase (p < 0.05) in all $T_{\rm ms}$ in mild cases, while in serious stage its effect appeared in the calorimetric enthalpy and the absence of $T_{\rm m3}$. The increase of thermal stabilization of plasma in this treatment is valid independently of the reference (untreated or treated symptoms-free samples, see Table 1 II/A group).

The acitretin (retinoid) treatment exhibited increased T_{m3} and calorimetric enthalpy in mild symptoms only, but in serious symptoms all the thermal parameters changed significantly. We had not enough observation in symptoms-free states, but the tendency of the change of thermal parameter was similar as in case of serious symptoms (except of T_{m2} , see Table 1 II/B).

We had altogether 11 patients treated with biologic response modifiers, but the number of observations was not enough to make statistical evaluation. On the basis of the tendency of measured data we can see an improved thermal stability of plasma in all measurable thermodynamic parameters (see Table 1 II/C italic numbers). It was surprising that in about half of the patients the $T_{\rm m3}$ peak was absent. These findings could be the sign of plasma structural stabilization achieved by the interventions (it is valid in comparison with the data of untreated symptoms-free samples too).

Conclusions

Psoriasis is a chronic, multifactorial, life-long disease that appears to be influenced by immune-mediated components. Its pathophysiology is complex and dynamic, involving skin cells and immune cells. In psoriasis, immune cells move from the dermis to the epidermis, where they stimulate keratinocytes to proliferate. Researchers have identified many of the immune cells involved in psoriasis, and the chemical signals they send to each other to coordinate inflammation. At the end of this process, immune cells, such as dendritic cells and T cells, move from the dermis to the epidermis, secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interferon- γ , (IFN- γ), interleukin-17 (IL-17), IL-22, IL-23, IL-12, IL-1b, which cause inflammation, and interleukin-22 (IL-22), which activates keratinocytes to proliferate [15]. Moreover, keratinocytes are producers of several complement components, such as C3, factor B, factor H, and factor I. They are also a source of several cytokines, which are important for the synthesis of complement proteins and regulation of their release [16]. It has recently been found that $TNF-\alpha$ increases C9 synthesis and thus contributes to the formation of membrane attack complex. The involvement of cellular immunity also seems to be very important. Dendritic cells, T cells, NK cells, and neutrophils contribute to the development of psoriatic lesions. Activity of the neutrophils is increased by complement split products and they release inflammatory molecules at the site of activation, aggravating the cellular response [17].

Treatment is mainly symptomatic and the disease can relapse over time. Protocol of treatment is determined by severity of psoriasis and frequency of symptoms recurrence. In the past, the first-line therapy in the treatment of moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis included salicylic acid, steroids, phototherapy with UVB or psoralen + UVA (PUVA), vitamin D analogs, coal tar extracts, and combination of any of these agents. Systemic therapy with retinoids with or without combination with UV light and cytostatic agents (methotrexate and cyclosporine A) are indicated in severe forms of psoriasis, and in patients with widespread plaque lesions or with limited but very disabling lesions [13].

From traditional drugs methotrexate is an effective antipsoriatic agent and has been widely used to treat severe psoriasis since the 1960s. It is especially useful in acute generalized pustular psoriasis, psoriatic erythroderma, psoriatic arthritis, and for extensive chronic plaque psoriasis in patients who are inadequately controlled by topical therapy alone. As a folic acid analog it is an antimetabolite and anticancer drug, and inhibits DNA synthesis and cell reproduction. For this reason it is useful in the treatment of psoriasis, which reduces production of epithelial cells of the skin. Acitretin is a second-generation retinoid used in the treatment of severe resistant psoriasis. It binds to nuclear receptors that regulate gene transcription. They induce keratinocyte differentiation and reduce epidermal hyperplasia, leading to the slowing of cell reproduction. Long-term toxicities are observed with all before mentioned systemic treatments, such as teratogenic effects and the influence on lipid metabolism with retinoids, cumulative liver toxicity and the risk of bone marrow suppression and of malignancies with methotrexate, hypertension, renal dysfunction, and risk of malignancies with cyclosporine A and increased risk of squamous-cell carcinoma and melanoma with PUVA therapy [18].

In this study, the effect of traditional anti-psoriatic agents (methotrexate and acitretin) is defined by DSC analysis of human blood plasma changes. Our results showed that DSC scans of patients with symptoms exhibited significant differences (p < 0.05) in melting temperatures and in calorimetric enthalpy, showing thermal stability of plasma compared with the untreated symptomsfree patients. Detection of blood plasma changes by thermoanalytical method is novel and similar data are not found in the literature. The background of our experiments is not known exactly, but behind the results should be those blood plasma changes caused by these oral drugs. First, oral-administrated methotrexate is reversibly bound to serum protein, mainly to albumin, and then it is easily diffused into cells, where the drug is actively transported across the cell membranes. The other important and wellknown change of blood components that causes long-term methotrexate therapy is leukopenia. Due to known side effects of methotrexate justified to check laboratory tests (such as hemogram and serum creatinine) periodically in the clinical practice [19–21]. The other administrated drug was acitretin, which is highly lipophilic and penetrates readily into cells. After oral intake and gastrointestinal adsorption its protein binding to the main plasma protein albumin exceeds 99 %. Due to its lipophilic nature, serum cholesterol and triglycerides must be monitored, especially in high-risk patients and during long-term treatment. Use of acitretin rarely associated with elevated white blood cell count. Presumably, DSC results associated with changes in blood plasma may be caused by these side-effects of drug administration. The first approach of different diseases by thermoanalytical method was published by Garbett et al. [12]. This important paper published that diseases revealed significant changes in the plasma curve with a shift of the curve toward higher denaturation temperatures. Whereas studies have indicated that these changes are resulted from interactions of small molecules or peptides with these proteins [12].

The extraordinary success of biologic drugs targeting TNF- α as well as IL-12 and IL-23 have dramatically changed psoriatic patient care. These new classes of treatments consist in the fusion of proteins and monoclonal antibodies that specifically target the activity of T cells or inflammatory cytokines by inhibiting or modulating specific immune system actors. These biologic drugs can save other organs and minimize side effects. For treatment of biologic agents, such as TNF-a blockers (infliximab and adalimumab) and IL-12, 23 blocker (ustekinumab) are indicated for average (PASI: 11-15) to serious (PASI: >15) lesions in adults who fail to respond to, have a contraindication to, or are intolerant to other systemic therapies [22]. Despite knowing their specific effects, unfortunately at least 20 % of patients do not respond to biologic therapy, meaning that key pathogenic mechanisms are still understood and the known mechanisms may not always apply to every individual [15].

Recently, from biologic response modifier agents the effect of infliximab, adalimumab, and ustekinumab were detected, defined by thermoanalytical method of blood plasma components. Our results may show that these modern drugs improved thermal stability of plasma in all measurable thermodynamic parameters and promising more effective therapy than the traditional drug interventions even in severe cases. The currently used chimeric (human-murine) monoclonal anti-TNF- α antibodies are given by multiple intravenous or subcutaneous injections subsequently in intervals of 4-8 weeks. The biologic agents have Fc regions of the human immunoglobulin IgG1 subtype, which is advantageous in terms of in vivo half-life [23, 24]. These large glycoprotein macromolecules stream without carrier plasma components and primarily distributed within the blood [25-27]. These pharmacokinetic properties should explain our DSC results. Monthly given, low drug doses are sufficient to achieve the biologic treatment in the patients, so these large molecules do not disturb the structure of blood plasma compared to daily taken, transport by plasma proteins non-specific conventional anti-psoriatic treatments.

In summary, conventional cytostatic agents and retinoids are useful in the treatment of psoriasis, but the new generation of specific monoclonal therapy is more effective in severe or therapy-resistant cases. Blood plasma structural changes measured by DSC method showed that biologic response modifiers caused an improved thermal stability of plasma in all measurable thermodynamic parameters. Although these new drugs have improved tolerability and response to treatment, researchers must increase their knowledge of psoriasis in order to use additional options for oral treatment that are safer, more effective, and free of serious side effects.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by Grants OTKA CO-272 (for Dénes Lőrinczy).

References

- Lowes MA, Bowcock AM, Krueger JG. Pathogenesis and therapy of psoriasis. Nature. 2007;445:866–73.
- Oka A, Mabuchi T, Ozawa A, Inoko H. Current understanding of human genetics and genetic analysis of psoriasis. J Dermatol. 2012;39:231–41.
- Palfreeman AC, McNamee KE, McCann FE. New developments in the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a focus on apremilast. Drug Des Dev Ther. 2013;7:201–10.
- Mabuchi T, Yamaoka H, Kojima T, Ikoma N, Akasaka E, Ozawa A. Psoriasis affects patient's quality of life more seriously in female than in male in Japan. Tokai J Exp Clin Med. 2012;37:84–8.
- Moezzi M, Fekecs T, Zapf I, Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human plasma in different psoriasis stages. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2013;111:1801–4.
- Michnik A, Drzazga Z, Michalik K, Barczyk A, Santura I, Sozańska E, Pierzchała W. Differential scanning calorimetry study of blood serum in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2010;102:57–60.
- Todinova S, Krumova S, Kurtev P, Dimitrov V, Djongov L, Dudunkov Z, Taneva SG. Calorimetry-based profiling of blood plasma from colorectal cancer patients. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1820:1879–85.
- Michnik A, Drzazga Z. Thermal denaturation of mixtures of human serum proteins. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2012;101:513–8.
- Todinova S, Krumova S, Gartcheva L, Robeerst C, Taneva SG. Microcalorimetry of blood serum proteome: a modified interaction network int he multiple myeloma case. Anal Chem. 2011;83: 7992–8.
- Zapf I, Fekecs T, Ferencz A, Tizedes Gy, Pavlovics G, Kálmán E, Lőrinczy D. DSC analysis of human plasma in breast cancer patients. Thermochim Acta. 2011;524:88–91.
- Fish DJ, Brewood GP, Kim JS, Garbett NC, Chaires JB, Benight AS. Statistical analysis of plasma thermograms measured by differential scanning calorimetry. Biophys Chem. 2010;152:184–90.
- Garbett NC, Mekmaysy CS, Helm CW, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Differential scanning calorimetry of blood plasma for clinical diagnosis and monitoring. Exp Mol Pathol. 2009;86:186–91.
- Committee For Medicinal Products For Human Use. Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products indicated for the treatment of psoriasis. London, 2004, CHMP/EWP/2454/02.
- Dubois DS, Pouliot R. Promising new treatments for psoriasis. Sci World J. 2013. doi: 10.1155/2013/980419.
- Weigle N, McBane S. Psoriasis. Am Fam Physician. 2013;87: 626–33.
- Di Meglio P, Perera GK, Nestle FO. The multitasking organ: recent insights into skin immune function. Immunity. 2011;35: 857–69.
- 17. Kotnik V. Complement in skin diseases. Acta Dermatovenerol Alp Panonica Adriat. 2011;20:3–11.

- Johnson-Huang LM, Lowes MA, Krueger JG. Putting together the psoriasis puzzle: an update on developing targeted therapies. Dis Model Mech. 2012;5:423–33.
- Staidle JP, Dabade TS, Feldman SR. A pharmacoeconomic analysis of severe psoriasis therapy: a review of treatment choices and cost efficiency. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2011;12:2041–54.
- 20. Barker J, Horn EJ, Lebwohl M, Warren RB, Nast A, Rosenberg W, Smith C, International Psoriasis Council. Assessment and management of methotrexate hepatotoxicity in psoriasis patients: report from a consensus conference to evaluate current practice and identify key questions toward optimizing methotrexate use in the clinic. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2011;25:758–64.
- 21. Menter A, Korman NJ, Elmets CA, Feldman SR, Gelfand JM, Gordon KB, Gottlieb AB, Koo JY, Lebwohl M, Lim HW, Van Voorhees AS, Beutner KR, Bhushan R. Guidelines of care for the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: section 4. Guidelines of care for the management and treatment of psoriasis with traditional systemic agents. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2009;61: 451–85.

- Bruylants G, Wouters J, Michaux C. Differential scanning calorimetry in life science: thermodynamics, stability, molecular recognition and application in drug design. Curr Med Chem. 2005;12:2011–20.
- Ahn CS, Gustafson CJ, Sandoval LF, Davis SA, Feldman SR. Cost effectiveness of biologic therapies for plaque psoriasis. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2013;14:315–26.
- 24. Lee JH, Cho JH, Yeo J, Lee SH, Yang SH, Sung YC, Kang JH, Park CS. The pharmacology study of a new recombinant TNF receptor-hyFc fusion protein. Biologicals. 2013;41:77–83.
- 25. Klotz U, Teml A, Schwab M. Clinical pharmacokinetics and use of infliximab. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2007;46:645–60.
- 26. Tabrizi M, Bornstein GG, Suria H. Biodistribution mechanisms of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies in health and disease. AAPS J. 2010;12:33–43.
- Tabrizi MA, Bornstein GG, Klakamp SL, Drake A, Knight R, Roskos L. Translational strategies for development of monoclonal antibodies from discovery to the clinic. Drug Discov Today. 2009;14:298–305.



Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by DSC on patients with psoriasis

Medhi Moezzi¹ · István Zapf² · Tamás Fekecs³ · Klára Nedvig⁴ · Dénes Lőrinczy⁵ · Andrea Ferencz⁶

Received: 28 November 2014/Accepted: 25 March 2015/Published online: 5 April 2015 © Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, Hungary 2015

Abstract Oxidative stress induced by oxygen free radicals (OFRs) is a casual factor in psoriasis. Our aim was to detect the oxidative stress parameters and blood plasma changes with differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) in psoriatic patients. The study included untreated (n = 39)and treated (retinoids, methotrexate, biologic response modifiers; n = 33) white adult patients from both sex. To monitor oxidative stress concentration of malondialdehyde (MDA), reduced glutathione and sulfhydryl groups, production of OFRs, and activity of myeloperoxidase (MPO), superoxide dismutase, and catalase were measured. Denaturation of plasma components was detected in SETARAM Micro DSC-II calorimeter. Total production of OFRs and MPO activity, and the concentration of MDA were significantly increased both in untreated patients with moderate and severe symptoms and in all drug-treated groups compared with controls (p < 0.001). All of the

Andrea Ferencz andrea.ferencz@gmail.com

- ¹ Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs, Akác Str. 1, Pecs 7632, Hungary
- ² Surgery Clinic, Medical School, University of Pécs, Rákóczi Str. 2, Pecs 7624, Hungary
- ³ Government Office of Baranya County, József A. Str. 10, Pecs 7623, Hungary
- ⁴ General and Vascular Surgical Department, Zala County Hospital, Zrínyi Str. 1, Zalaegerszeg 8900, Hungary
- ⁵ Department of Biophysics, Medical School, University of Pécs, Szigeti Str. 12, Pecs 7624, Hungary
- ⁶ Department of Surgical Research and Techniques, Medical Faculty, Semmelweis University, Nagyvárad Sqr. 4, Budapest 1089, Hungary

scavengers and antioxidants were significantly decreased in untreated patients and better preserved after retinoid and biological therapy. DSC scans of blood plasma showed melting temperature a characteristic parameter to follow the severity of disease. The calorimetric enthalpy is exhibiting a moderate decrease with the progression of the inflammation. These findings suggest that an imbalance exists between pro-oxidants and antioxidants in untreated severe psoriatic patients. All drug therapy reduced the changes, mainly the biologic response modifiers. Similarly, DSC showed differences between untreated and conventional systemic drug treatment.

Introduction

Psoriasis is a genetic, systemic, chronic, immune-mediated, inflammatory, proliferative disease with predominantly skin and joint manifestations affecting 2–3 % of the general population in the Europe. The lesions characterized mainly by red, scaly, and raised plaques. Along the genetic predisposition are likely to be triggered by many factors such as drugs, sunlight, physical and psychological trauma, microbial infections, or addictions (e.g., smoking, alcohol) [1, 2]. Factors that contribute to the generation of psoriatic lesions remain mostly obscure. But, one of the environmental insults that have a postulated role in psoriasis pathogenesis is the oxidative stress [3].

Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between oxygen free radical (OFR) production and the antioxidant defense mechanisms in favor of OFRs. The skin is constantly exposed to oxidative stress induced by OFRs generated from both endogenous sources and external prooxidant stimuli. Increased infiltration of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) in psoriatic lesions leads to direct release of OFRs. Moreover, they produce and store the lysosomal enzyme myeloperoxidase (MPO) in their granules, which produce the cytotoxic hypochlorous acid from hydrogen peroxide and chloride to kill bacteria and other pathogens [4, 5]. The overproduction of pro-oxidant cellular processes can cause lipid peroxidation (its marker is malondialdehyde (MDA)), contribute to protein degradation, induce the inflammatory processes and DNA damage to the cells, and finally lead to cell dysfunctions and consequently cell death [6, 7].

Under normal conditions, the organism is equipped with efficient defense mechanisms against oxidative stress, mainly based on the antioxidants. This system is composed of two major groups: the group of antioxidant enzymes among the others superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT), and the group of the low molecular weight antioxidants such as reduced glutathione (GSH) and sulfhydryl (-SH) groups [8, 9]. Although endogenous antioxidants attenuate the harmful effects of OFRs, increased or prolonged presence of OFRs can override defense mechanisms and mediate numerous cellular responses that contribute to the development of psoriasis [3]. Production of OFRs from PMNs, keratinocytes, and fibroblasts can contribute to neutrophil and keratinocyte proliferation, prominent alteration in dermal vasculature, and overall a chronical and recurrent inflammatory state in the skin [10]. Recent studies showed that cellular signaling pathways such as mitogen-activated protein kinase, activator protein 1, nuclear factor-kappa B, and Janus kinase-signal transducers and activators of transcription are known to be redox-sensitive and proven to be involved in the progress of psoriasis [3, 11, 12].

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) studies of human blood plasma or tissues indicate that this technique can be applied in different pathomorphological cases or diseases detection and monitoring [13–15]. DSC is the only technique by which can follow directly the change of heat capacity measured at constant pressure $(C_{\rm P})$, which can monitor the actual state of the investigated structure. This way the results of healthy persons and patients with various diseases have revealed the differences between the shape of plasma $C_{\rm P}(T)$ curves and between the thermodynamic parameters of denaturation transition. Recently, it has been evidence that DSC curves of plasma from patients differ dramatically from healthy controls. Moreover, each disease seems to display a signature thermal transition that can at a glance be distinguished from other diseases. Thus, the statement, that for each disease a unique signature thermal curve can be obtained, needs verification and further investigation [16, 17].

The purpose of this study was to detect oxidative stress parameters and thermal changes of same blood plasma with DSC technique in untreated psoriatic patients with different clinical stages and following various drug therapies.

Clinical

Patient selection

The study was performed in 72 white adult patients (35 men and 37 women) ranging in age from 18 to 87 (median age 56.04 years) with diagnosed psoriasis. Patients underwent a full-skin examination for psoriasis in the Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology of Pécs University. To define the severity of symptoms, three groups were established based on PASI scoring system. PASI: 0 meant symptomless, while PASI: 1-15 showed moderate symptoms, and severe symptoms observed if PASI was over 15. According to medication, patients were divided into control (n = 5), untreated (n = 39), and treated (n = 33)groups. Based on PASI score, the untreated patients were separated into symptomless, moderate, and severe symptom groups. From systemic drug treatment, patients were involved those who were given monotherapy alone with antimetabolite agent (methotrexate, n = 12), with retinoid treatment (acitretin, n = 10), or with one of the biologic response modifier (adalimumab, n = 5; infliximab, n = 5; and ustekinumab, n = 1; total number 11). The type, the dosage, and timing of drug treatment were done in accordance with the current dermatological protocols. The protocol was approved by regional ethical committee of Pécs University (No: 4077/2011).

Collection and blood sample preparation

Peripheral blood samples were collected from the patients (n = 72) and from healthy controls (n = 10). Blood samples were collected into the Vacutainer tubes containing EDTA (1.5 mg mL⁻¹ of blood) centrifuged at $1.600 \times g$ for 15 min at 4 °C to separate plasma fraction from cell components. Native plasmas were stored at -80 °C until DSC measurement.

Methods

Biochemical assays

Biochemical parameters were measured as previously described [18]. Briefly, production of OFRs was determined in whole blood using a chemiluminescence method based on the reaction of luminol with free radicals. EDTA-

Statistical analysis All results are given in mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Data were analyzed with one-way ANOVA. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

Results

Effect of oxidative injury

Total production of OFRs and MPO activity was significantly increased both in untreated patients with moderate and severe symptoms and in all of the drug-treated groups compared with healthy controls (p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.001) (Fig. 1a, b). From medical treatment, the retinoid therapy significantly decreased the OFR production $(40.2 \pm 6.4 \text{ vs } 19.86 \pm 2.46 \text{ AU}, p < 0.05)$, while the biological modifiers significantly decreased the MPO release from PMNs (0.52 \pm 0.05 vs 0.25 \pm 0.02 BU mL⁻¹ p < 0.05). In patients with severe symptoms and without medication, the MDA concentration was significantly elevated in both plasma and hemolysate compared with that in the healthy control group $(0.242 \pm 0.01 \text{ vs } 0.42 \pm$ 0.025 nM mL⁻¹, p < 0.001; 75.87 ± 1.6 vs 92.9 ± 1.32 nM mL⁻¹, p < 0.01). Drug administration decreased the level of lipid peroxidation both in plasma and in hemolyzed blood, and in almost all cases, significant changes were obtained (p < 0.05; p < 0.01) (Fig. 1c, d). Moreover, in biological therapy-received group, the MDA values remained significantly lower compared to the untreated cases. From antioxidants, the concentration of GSH and -SH groups was significantly decreased in untreated patient without medical treatment (GSH: 650 ± 20 nM mL⁻¹, -SH groups: 41.2 ± 0.8 nM mL⁻¹) and after methotrexate $(689 \pm 22 \text{ nM mL}^{-1}; 44.1 \pm 1.16 \text{ nM mL}^{-1})$ compared with healthy controls (810 \pm 44 nM mL $^{-1};$ 54.3 \pm 1.96 nM mL⁻¹; p < 0.05). Their levels significantly better preserved after retinoid (790 \pm 12 nM mL⁻¹; 51 \pm 1.47 nM mL⁻¹; p < 0.05) and biological therapy (800 ± 30 nM mL⁻¹; 49.3 \pm 2.3 nM mL⁻¹; p < 0.05) (Fig. 2a, b).

Of the antioxidant enzymes, activity of SOD and CAT was significantly decreased in untreated group without therapy compared with controls $(420 \pm 56 \text{ vs } 960 \pm 70 \text{ IU mL}^{-1}, p < 0.001; 2150 \pm 67 \text{ vs } 2400 \pm 82 \text{ BU mL}^{-1}, p < 0.05)$. Compared with this group, the SOD activity remained at a significantly higher level following in all medically treated group (580 ± 45 IU mL⁻¹, 550 ± 36 IU mL⁻¹, 798 ± 62 IU mL⁻¹; p < 0.05, p < 0.01) (Fig. 2c, d).

Eagle's medium nutrient mixture at 37 °C. After addition of 3-aminophtalhydrazide, the cuvette was immediately placed in a whole blood lumi-aggregometer (Chrono-Log Corp, Havertown, Penn). After determining spontaneous radical production, 50 µL of phorbol-12 myristate-13 acetate was injected into the cuvette, and the resulting light output was entered on a chart recorder. The peak value of free radical production was calculated from the recorded curve, and the results were related to the white blood cell counts. The normal mean (SD) peak value is <10.9 (2.6) arbitrary units (AU). Plasma MPO concentration was determined after incubation of plasma and a mixed solution containing sodium citrate, o-dianisidine, water, and Triton X-100. Then, 35 % perchloric acid was added, and the solution was centrifuged for 10 min at 2500g for measurement at 560 nm. The normal value is <0.41 (0.10) Bergmayer units (BU) mL^{-1} . Concentrations of MDA and GSH in blood samples were determined using kits (lipid peroxidation assay kit, glutathione assay kit, Calbiochem; Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Final values are given as $nM mL^{-1}$. To determine plasma sulfhydryl (-SH) groups, 100 μ L of plasma, 100 μ L of Ellman reagent (1 mM L⁻¹ DTNB [5,5 = -dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic) acid] in methanol), and 800 µL of EDTA containing Tris buffer were mixed, and photometry was performed at 412 nm. Plasma -SH values are given as $nM mL^{-1}$. SOD activity was assessed using a kit (SOD assay kit, Calbiochem). Values are given as International Units (IU) mL^{-1} . The CAT enzyme activity in whole blood was determined using the method of Aebi [19]. The normal value is 1931 (72) BU mL⁻¹.

anticoagulated blood was diluted in Dulbecco's modified

DSC measurements

The thermal unfolding of the human plasma components were monitored by SETARAM Micro DSC-II calorimeter. All experiments were conducted between 0 and 100 °C. The heating rate was 0.3 K min⁻¹ in all cases. Conventional Hastelloy batch vessels were used during the denaturation experiments with 850 µL sample volume in average. Reference sample was normal saline (0.9 % NaCl). The sample and reference samples were equilibrated with a precision of ± 0.1 mg. The repeated scan of denatured sample was used as baseline reference, which was subtracted from the original DSC curve. We have plotted the $C_{\rm P}$ (DSC-II is a heat flux instrument with hermetically closed vessels) in the function of temperature. Calorimetric enthalpy was calculated from the area under the $C_{\rm P}(T)$ curve by using two-point setting SETARAM peak integration, normalized on the sample mass (these data can be found in [20/32]).



Fig. 1 Changes of OFR production and MPO activity of PMNs and detection of MDA values in untreated and treated patients with psoriasis. Values are given as mean \pm SEM. *p < 0.05 versus

healthy control group; **p < 0.01 versus healthy control group; ***p < 0.001 versus healthy control group. *p < 0.05 versus severe symptoms group; *p < 0.01 versus severe symptoms group

Thermal denaturation of blood plasma

The $C_p(T)$ curves of DSC scans during the thermal denaturation of the blood plasma in psoriasis patients can be seen in Fig. 3 (the scans are average of the measurements). The melting temperatures seem to be a characteristic parameter to follow the severity of disease (they were mainly appeared as a third transition [20]). The maximum transition parameter compared to the control value in $C_p(T)$ decreased with the increasing of the severity of the psoriasis from ~65 °C down to 62 °C. The calorimetric enthalpy was in the range which is usual in case of this kind of biological materials ($\Delta H \sim 1.6 \text{ J g}^{-1}$ [20]), exhibiting a moderate decrease with the progression of the inflammation. The C_p exhibited an increasing tendency with increasing severity of disease, which could be the sign of increased aggregation tendency in this stadium.

During medical therapy, we have used a wide variety of drugs. The methotrexate and retinoid treatments elevated the heat capacity in the blood plasma, and we have observed significant increase (p < 0.05) (Table 1). In patients receiving biological treatment, the tendency of the change of thermal parameters showed minor differences compared with healthy controls.

Discussion

Psoriasis is a multisystem disease with predominantly skin manifestation affecting both sexes equally and can occur at any age. More and more data clearly demonstrate that



Fig. 2 Changes of antioxidants (GSH, –SH groups, SOD, CAT) in untreated and treated patients with psoriasis. Values are given as mean \pm SEM. *p < 0.05 versus healthy control group; ***p < 0.001

versus healthy control group. ${}^{\#}p<0.05$ versus severe symptoms group; ${}^{\#\#}p<0.01$ versus severe symptoms group

oxidative stress induced by OFRs plays a pivotal role in psoriatic skin inflammatory processes [3, 7, 21]. This study investigated the oxidative stress markers from both the prooxidant and antioxidant sides on various severity psoriatic patients. Our results with peripheral blood measurements showed that lipid peroxidation, and total production of OFRs and MPO activity of the PMNs were significantly greater in the untreated patients with moderate and severe symptoms and in all drug-treated groups compared with healthy control group. Several investigators confirmed significant correlation between elevation of pro-oxidant status and PASI score. Moreover, increasing evidence suggests that acceleration of pro-oxidant status is not the only reason, but a consequence of the skin inflammatory diseases, which is also true for psoriatic patients [5, 10, 22].

In the present study, we demonstrated that the concentrations of GSH and –SH groups and the activity of SOD and CAT were significantly decreased in untreated patients with severe symptoms compared with those in healthy control individuals. Current data also confirmed that depletion of antioxidant and scavenger capacity in blood is related to the severity of psoriasis [3, 7, 23]. Changes of redox status in blood during psoriasis are also confirmed by the fact that one of the first drug treatments was different antioxidants (e.g., Vitamin E, beta carotene, selenium) [22, 24].

Therapies for psoriasis aim to control the disease and its clinical manifestations, contributing to improve the patient's quality of life. The choice of treatment depends on many factors, such as the PASI score, the skin type, the response to previous treatments, the patient's age, and clinical history [1]. Usually, monotherapy or combination of systemic agents (methotrexate, retinoids, and biological therapy) is used for moderate and severe psoriasis. As a second-generation retinoid, it binds to gene transcription, regulating nuclear receptors and reducing epidermal hyperplasia and cell reproduction. This study is the first, where



Fig. 3 Thermal denaturation curves of blood plasma in case of control and patient with different severity of psoriasis without medical treatment. Upward deflection represents endotherm process

Table 1 C_{pmax} values of thermal denaturation of blood plasma in case of systematically treated patients with psoriasis (average \pm SD rounded to two places of decimals)

Cases	$C_{\rm pmax}$ /J K ⁻¹
Control $(n = 5)$	2.20 ± 0.06
Systemic drug treatment ($n = 33$)	
Retinoid treatment $(n = 10)$	2.68 ± 0.09
Methotrexate $(n = 12)$	2.31 ± 0.07
Biological therapy $(n = 11)$	2.25 ± 0.06

we demonstrated that from anti-psoriatic agents, acitretin significantly increased the total OFR level and MPO activity compared with healthy controls, but decreased these oxidative stress parameters and better preserved scavengers and antioxidants in blood compared to untreated individuals with severe symptoms. The exact mechanism of these effects in the present study is not yet known. But, other investigators confirmed that administration of acitretin induced mitochondrial permeability transition and apoptosis in liver cells, which was not prevented by thiol-groupprotecting and antioxidant agents, excluding the involvement of oxidative stress mechanisms [25].

Methotrexate, as antimetabolic agent is one the firstgeneration anti-psoriatic drug, despite its side effects, is most commonly used systemic therapies for moderate-tosevere psoriasis [26, 27]. Of the used anti-psoriatic systemic drugs, the most severe changes in the patients' oxidative stress status were observed after methotrexate therapy. This drug dramatically increased the total OFR level and MPO activity compared with healthy controls. But, values were significantly lower than in patients without medication. Moreover, it caused a significant decrease in levels of GSH and –SH groups and in activity of SOD. Similar observations have been made by others in a study, where psoriatic patients were treated with methotrexate monotherapy [28].

Recently, the effect of biologic response modifier agents were detected to measure oxidative stress markers of the blood on psoriatic patients. These chimeric monoclonal anti-TNF-alpha antibodies caused the lowest oxidative damages to the patients, because of their specific binding to the cells' specific receptors did not impair the cell membranes causing lipid peroxidation and did not accelerate the general inflammatory processes.

In our study, patients' blood plasma was measured with a thermoanalytical method also. According to the DSC scans of the blood plasma, the melting temperature seems to be a characteristic parameter to follow the severity of disease [20]. All symptomatic patients' samples showed a definite heat capacity increase between the native and denaturated states of the blood plasma compared to the control, which could be the sign of different water binding of plasma proteins as well as their increased aggregation tendency in the function of the severity of disease. Of antipsoriatic drugs, the methotrexate and retinoid treatments elevated the heat capacity, while in patients receiving biological treatment, the tendency of the change of thermal parameters showed minor differences compared with healthy controls (this later is not shown in the figure). Detection of blood plasma changes by thermoanalytical method in psoriatic patients is novel, and similar data are not found in the literature. The first approaches of different diseases by DSC method were published a few years ago [13, 14]. These important papers published that inflammatory and oncological diseases revealed significant changes in the plasma curve with a shift of the curve toward higher denaturation temperatures, whereas studies have indicated that these changes are resulted from interactions of small molecules or peptides with these proteins [16, 17, 29–33].

In conclusions, our present results support that cellular redox status plays a pivotal role in skin homeostasis and that an imbalance between pro-oxidant and antioxidant mechanisms might be an important factor in the evolution and progression of psoriasis. Moreover, DSC measurements increased our knowledge about blood plasma structural changes in one of the most common inflammatory skin disease.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by Grants OTKA CO-272 (for Dénes Lőrinczy). The present scientific contribution is dedicated to the 650th anniversary of the foundation of the University of Pécs, Hungary.

References

- Menter A, Gottlieb A, Feldman SR, Van Voorhees AS, Leonardi CL, Gordon KB, Lebwohl M, Koo JYM, Elmets CA, Korman NJ, Beutner KR, Bhushan R. Guidelines of care for the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Section 1. Overview of psoriasis and guidelines of care for the treatment of psoriasis with biologics. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2008;58:826–50.
- Képíró L, Széll M, Kovács L, Keszthelyi P, Kemény L, Gyulai R. Genetic risk and protective factors of TNFSF15 gene variants detected using single nucleotide polymorphisms in Hungarians with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Hum Immunol. 2014;75: 159–62.
- Zhou Q, Mrowietz U, Rostami-Yazdi M. Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Free Rad Biol Med. 2009;47:891–905.
- Briganti S, Picardo M. Antioxidant activity, lipid peroxidation and skin diseases. What's new. Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2003; 17:663–9.
- Chiurchiú V, Maccarrone M. Chronic inflammatory disorders and their redox control: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2011;15:2605–41.
- Rőth E, Hejjel L, Jaberansari M, Jancsó G. The role of free radicals in endogenous adaptation and intracellular signals. Exp Clin Cardiol. 2004;9:13–6.
- Yin LL, Zhang Y, Guo DM, An K, Yin MS, Cui X. Effects of zinc on interleukins and antioxidant enzyme values in psoriasisinduced mice. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2013;155:411–5.
- Portugal M, Barak V, Ginsburg I, Kohen R. Interplay among oxidants, antioxidants, and cytokines in skin disorders: present status and future considerations. Biomed Pharmacother. 2007;61: 412–22.
- Yildirim M, Inaloz HS, Baysal V, Delibas N. The role of oxidants and antioxidants in psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2003;17:34–6.
- Baz K, Cimen MY, Kokturk A, Yazici AC, Eskandari G, Ikizoglu G, Api H, Atik U. Oxidant/antioxidant status in patients with psoriasis. Yonsei Med J. 2003;44:987–90.
- Goldminz AM, Au SC, Kim N, Gottlieb AB, Lizzul PF. NF-kB: an essential transcription factor in psoriasis. J Dermatol Sci. 2013;69:8–94.
- Novelli L, Chimenti MS, Chiricozzi A, Perricone R. The new era for the treatment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: perspectives and validated strategies. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13:64–9.
- Garbett NC, Miller JJ, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Calorimetric analysis of the plasma proteome. Semin Nephrol. 2007;27:621–6.
- Garbett NC, Mekmaysy CS, Helm CW, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Differential scanning calorimetry of blood plasma for clinical diagnosis and monitoring. Exp Mol Pathol. 2009;86:186–91.
- Anderson NL, Anderson NG. The human plasma proteome: history, character, and diagnostic prospects. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2002;1:845–67.
- Michnik A, Drzazga Z, Kluczewska A, Michalik K. Differential scanning microcalorimetry study of the thermal denaturation of haemoglobin. Biophys Chem. 2005;118:93–101.
- Todinova S, Krumova S, Gartcheva L, Robeerst C, Taneva SG. Microcalorimetry of blood serum proteome: a modified interaction network in the multiple myeloma case. Anal Chem. 2011;83: 7992–8.

- Fekecs T, Kádár Z, Battyáni Z, Kalmár-Nagy K, Szakály P, Horváth ŐP, Wéber G, Ferencz A. Changes in oxidative stress in patients screened for skin cancer after solid-organ transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2010;42:2336–8.
- 19. Aebi H. Catalase in vitro. Methods Enzymol. 1984;105:121-6.
- Moezzi M, Fekecs T, Zapf I, Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human plasma in different psoriasis stages. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2013;111:1801–4.
- Armstrong AW, Voyles SV, Armstrong EJ, Fuller EN, Rutledge JC. Angiogenesis and oxidative stress: common mechanisms linking psoriasis with atherosclerosis. J Dermatol Sci. 2011;63: 1–9.
- Kökcam I, Nazıroglu M. Antioxidants and lipid peroxidation status in the blood of patients with psoriasis. Clin Chim Acta. 1999;289:23–31.
- Houshang N, Reza K, Masoud S, Ali E, Mansour R, Vaisi-Raygani A. Antioxidant status in patients with psoriasis. Cell Biochem Funct. 2014;32:268–73.
- Lowes MA, Bowcock AM, Krueger JG. Pathogenesis and therapy of psoriasis. Nature. 2007;445:866–73.
- Silva FSG, Ribeiro MPC, Santos MS, Rocha-Pereira P, Santos-Silva A, Custódio JBA. Acitretin affects bioenergetics of liver mitochondria and promotes mitochondrial permeability transition: potential mechanisms of hepatotoxicity. Toxicology. 2013; 306:93–100.
- Dogra S, Mahajan R. Systemic methotrexate therapy for psoriasis: past, present and future. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2013;38:573– 88.
- 27. Gyulai R, Bagot M, Griffiths CE, Luger T, Naldi L, Paul C, Puig L, Kemény L. Current practice of methotrexate use for psoriasis: results of a worldwide survey among dermatologists. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2015;29:224–31.
- Elango T, Dayalan H, Gnanaraj P, Malligarjunan H, Subramanian S. Impact of methotrexate on oxidative stress and apoptosis markers in psoriatic patients. Clin Exp Med. 2013;14:431–7.
- Michnik A, Drzazga Z, Poprzecki S, Czuba M, Kempa K, Sadowska-Krepa E. DSC serum profiles of sportsmen. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2013;113:365–70.
- Todinova S, Krumova S, Kurtev P, Dimitrov V, Djongov L, Dudunkov Z, Taneva SG. Calorimetry-based profiling of blood plasma from colorectal cancer patients. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1820:1879–85.
- Splinter R, van Herwaarden AW, van Wetten IA, Pfreundt A, Svendsen WE. Fast differential scanning calorimetry of liquid samples with chips. Thermochim Acta. 2014;. doi:10.1016/j.tca. 2014.07.013.
- Rodríguez-Cerdeira C, Molares-Vila A, Sánchez-Blanco E, Sánchez-Blanco B. Study on certain biomarkers of inflammation in psoriasis through "OMICS" platforms. Open Biochem J. 2014; 21:21–34.
- Zapf I, Moezzi M, Fekecs T, Nedvig K, Lőrinczy D, Ferencz A. Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by DSC on breast cancer patients. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2015;. doi:10.1007/s10973-015-4642-9.



Deconvoluted plasma DSC curves on patients with psoriasis

Dénes Lőrinczy¹ · Mehdi Moezzi² · Andrea Ferencz³

Received: 6 August 2019 / Accepted: 11 February 2020 © The Author(s) 2020

Abstract

Psoriasis is an inflammatory disease that changes plasma composition, and it is detectable by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). Besides the general change in plasma, the aim of the study was to demonstrate which components are changing and how the anti-psoriatic drug treatment affects back all this. Retrospectively, blood plasma DSC data were analyzed from patients, who have different severities of symptoms and who received steroids (n = 10), or retinoids (n = 10), or biological drug treatment (n = 10). Complex curves were deconvoluted in several individual transitions ($T_{m1}-T_{m5}$), modeling each individual transition. In the examined psoriasis stages, the thermodynamic parameters excess heat capacity and enthalpy of the transitions in proportion corresponded to the targeted treatment and the degree of disease severity, as well as the numbers of transitions were determined from the calorimetric profiles. In conclusion, deconvoluted plasma DSC profiles showed similarities but exhibited marked differences in the thermal denaturation on different treated psoriasis stages. This examination has shown that drug therapy affects the composition of plasma proteins, which should be always considered for the evaluation of DSC results in similar studies.

Keywords Psoriasis \cdot Blood plasma \cdot DSC \cdot Curve \cdot Deconvolution \cdot Cytostatic therapy \cdot Retinoid therapy \cdot Biological therapy

Introduction

Psoriasis is a lifelong skin disorder, which has different appearances and shapes (plaque, nail, scalp, guttate, inverse, pustular, and erythrodermic psoriasis), and in rare cases it can affect the joints (psoriatic arthritis). Symptoms are frequently categorized into two groups: mild or moderate to severe psoriasis. The classification is depending on the

Andrea Ferencz andrea.ferencz@gmail.com

Dénes Lőrinczy denes.lorinczy@pte.hu

Mehdi Moezzi moezzimehdi@yahoo.com

- ¹ Institute of Biophysics, Medical School, University of Pécs, Pecs, Szigeti Str. 12, Hungary
- ² Department of Dermatology, Venereology and Oncodermatology, Medical School, University of Pécs, Pecs, Akácfa Str. 1, Hungary
- ³ Department of Surgical Research and Techniques, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Nagyvárad Sqr. 4, 1089, Hungary

Published online: 24 February 2020

clinical severity of the lesions, the percentage of affected body surface area, and patient quality of life. Clinical diagnosis is usually based on full skin physical examination by a dermatologist, and rarely skin biopsy is useful to determine the exact type of psoriasis. In the case of joint involvement, radiological examinations (X-ray, ultrasound, and MRI) should be necessary to confirm the diagnosis. At present, specific blood tests and/or radiographic findings often not available that reliably confirmed the diagnosis [1–4].

More and more things are known about the pathogenesis of the process, and parallel to this new and better treatment options are already available today. According to our knowledge, proinflammatory cyto- and chemokines (C3, C4, IL-23, TNF α , IFN α , IL2,6,8,12,15,17,22,23), adhesion and growth factors (TGF β , EGF, HSP27 and 60, Cx26 and 30), different T cells (CD4+, DCs, CD8+), and their receptors act in that inflammatory and proliferative processes which finally appear as psoriatic skin signs and symptoms [2, 5]. Despite all this, psoriasis is a chronic relapsing disease, which often necessitates a long-term therapy. The choice of treatment for it is determined by disease severity, comorbidities, and access to health care [3]. Mild to moderate psoriasis can be treated locally (topical therapy with corticosteroids, vitamin D analogues, retinoids, and phototherapies). In some moderate cases and in every severe case, systemic treatment (drug administration in monotherapy or in combination) should be required [6].

The task is not easy, because to the intervention of the pathogenesis today only few molecular attack points are known, meaning that key pathogenic mechanisms are still not understood, and the known mechanisms may not always apply to every individual. At least 15–20% of patients do not respond to the newest, targeted anti-psoriatic agents; thus, in such cases or during exacerbation we must return to the conventional and also conservative steroid drug therapy. Biologic therapies in psoriasis are highly effective and can be classified according to their mechanism of action. The two main classes of biological agents are targeted at T cells or at cytokines. Moreover, the second-generation retinoids have been well useful drugs, and they have relatively few, local side effects [1, 2, 6]. Currently used drugs for psoriasis treatment are summarized in Table 1.

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) is a thermoanalytical method which was firstly described in the 1960s by Watson and O'Neill in the USA, and it was used initially during the examination of physical properties of inorganic materials [7]. Afterward, the technique was validated and was efficiently usable for the demonstration of structural changes not only in the physical sciences, but also in numerous biological macromolecules [8, 9], in different experimental animal studies [10–13], and in many clinical researches [14, 15].

Knowing these antecedents, our research group was looking for an answer to the question that how the different medications and the variable symptoms affect the human blood plasma composition on patients with psoriasis.

Materials and methods

Patient selection

Thirty patients with psoriasis (15 women and 15 men, aged 21 to 75 years) with a mean age of 51.25 ± 5.2 were included in the study. Ten age- and sex-matched healthy volunteers with a mean age of 48.6 ± 3.2 were selected as the controls. Some of the patients who received drug medication did not have any symptoms, while others had moderate or severe symptoms. To define the severity of symptoms, three groups were established based on PASI (Psoriasis Area Severity Index) scoring system as previously described [16]. As brief, PASI 0 meant symptomless, while PASI 1-15 showed moderate symptoms, and serious symptoms were observed if PASI was over 15. According to the administration of anti-psoriatic monotherapy, the patients were divided into three groups: cytostatic-therapy-receiving (n = 10), retinoid-treatmentreceiving (n = 10), and biological-agents-receiving persons (n = 10). The type, the dosage, and the timing of drug treatment were identified in accordance with the current dermatological protocols. The study protocol was approved by the regional ethical committee of Pécs University (4077/2011).

Blood sample collection and preparation

Peripheral blood samples were collected from patients (n = 30) and from healthy individuals (n = 10). Blood samples were collected into the Vacutainer tubes containing EDTA (1.5 mg mL⁻¹ of blood) centrifuged at

Table 1 Properties of anti-psoriasis drugs

Drug type (marketing start)	Generic name (brand name)	Drug action	Features, side effects		
Steroids (1950s)	Methylprednisolone (Medrol [®])	Anti-inflammatory and anti- allergy effect	Increased risk of infection Increased blood glucose level		
		liferation	Mood changes		
		Reduce capillaries permeability	High blood pressure		
		Inhibit histamine and other	Mass gain		
		mediators formation and release	Osteoporosis		
Retinoids (1996)	Retinoid (Acitretin [®])	Regulate abnormal	Dryness and irritation		
		Differentiation of keratinocytes	Skin color changes		
		Alleviate proliferation	Sensitivity to sunlight		
			Redness, swelling, crusting, blistering		
Biological drugs (2003)	Infliximab (Remicade [®]), Adalimumab (Humira [®]), Ustekinumab (Stelara [®]), Efalizumab (Raptiva [®]), Alefacept	Effect last long time	Well-tolerable		
		Long treatment cycle	High target specificity		
		Not produce relapse	Few adverse reactions		
	(Amevive [®]), Etanercept (Enbrel [®])		Safe		
			Expensive		

1.600 g for 15 min at 4 °C to separate plasma fraction from cell components. Native plasmas were stored at -80 °C until DSC measurement.

Calorimetric measurement

The thermal unfolding of the human plasma components was monitored by SETARAM Micro DSC-II calorimeter as previously described [17]. As brief, all experiments were conducted between 0 and 100 °C. The heating rate was 0.3 K min⁻¹ in all cases. Conventional Hastelloy batch vessels were used during the denaturation experiments with 850 µL sample volume in average. The reference sample was normal saline (0.9% NaCl). The sample and reference samples were equilibrated with a precision of ± 0.1 mg. The repeated scan of the denatured sample was used as a baseline reference, which was subtracted from the original DSC curve. We have plotted the heat flow (DSC-II is a heat flux instrument with hermetically closed vessels) in the function of temperature. Calorimetric enthalpy was calculated from the area under the heat flow curve by using two-point setting SETARAM peak integration.

Deconvolution of DSC thermal curve

The plasma is a complex protein mixture. Therefore, it contains from a thermal point of view different "thermal domains" which can be assigned to the different compounds [18–20]. It means that a DSC scan can be decomposed into a sum of Gaussian curves; that way, their total area is nearly the same as of the experimental curve one, within a reasonable error (<1%). To have the best fitting, we applied more than five curves, but some contribution was less than the error of enthalpy determination, so they cannot influence our final interpretation of data.

Statistical Analysis

All results are given in mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Data were analyzed with one-way ANOVA. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

Results

This study investigated the thermal changes and deconvoluted DSC profile of human blood plasma following different systemic drug treatments on patients suffering from severe psoriasis. In Figs. 1–3 are shown the convoluted curves of the average DSC scans of persons with psoriasis after steroid, retinoid, and biological treatment in symptomless, in moderate, and in severe stages. To find them, we have chosen the critical plasma protein melting points to perform the deconvolution of the curves on the basis of papers published by Garbett et al. [18, 21], Michnik et al. [22], Todinova et al. [19, 23], Monaselidze et al. [24], Kikalishvili et al. [25] as well as Tenchov et al. [26, 27]. According to these studies, today the next melting points are well accepted for the identification of plasma protein compounds: at ~ 50 °C fibrinogen, ~ 62 °C albumin, ~ 70 °C Ig and the transition of the tail of albumin, ~76 °C C3 protein, IgA, IgG, and albumin, and ~ 82 °C IgG and transferrin. Characteristic thermal parameters ($T_{\rm m}$ and $\Delta H_{\rm cal}$) have been collected on the one hand from healthy volunteers and on the other hand from patients who were differently treated for their various symptoms (Table 2).

Our aim with the deconvolution of average experimental curves was to get very good fitting (R was better than 0.99) between the deconvoluted and the experimental curves, using the above-accepted melting points. The control samples exhibited only four separable plasma compounds (see Figs. 1-3, and Table 2): fibrinogen at 56 °C which is higher than the widely accepted 50 °C. This deviation could be explained by our different DSC equipment (heat flow SETARAM Micro DSC-II with a sample holder of 1 mL), and we used—because of the big volume-the original plasma concentration without any dilution. (In most papers, the samples are 20-fold diluted, to avoid the unpleasant consequential of irreversible denaturation of proteins during the cleaning of the sample holders.) The very characteristic albumin contribution appeared at 62.5 °C (in the literature for healthy plasma is 62 °C), while the denaturation of C3, IgA and IgG as well as albumin parts was at 74.8 °C (in the literature 76 °C). The transition at 65.3 °C was identified as the contribution of Ig and the tail of albumin (in the literature 70 °C).

The thermal data of DSC scans measured in the case of psoriatic patients treated with different interventions showed practically partly identical results in $T_{\rm m}$ s and ΔH_{cal} for the symptomless cases. (We have throughout those decomposition values where the enthalpy contribution was in the range of $\sim 3\%$ of total enthalpy.) In terms of detail, the following observations can be made in the symptomless samples: (1) T_{m1} decreased slightly during steroid therapy (56.0 °C vs. 54.5 °C), while the decrease was the same following the retinoid and biological drug treatment and less than next to steroids therapy (56.0 °C vs. 55.5 °C). (2) At T_{m2} , T_{m3} , and T_{m4} , the melting temperatures generally increased in every symptomless patient, and after steroid drug administration this elevation was notable. (3) Only retinoid administration caused a wellmeasurable fifth thermal transition (T_{m5} at 85.5 °C) in plasma samples.



Fig. 1 Average DSC thermal curves (black line) and deconvoluted blood plasma components show melting points and thermal transitions after systemic steroid treatment in symptomless patients or in moderate or severe symptomatic cases

Comparing the melting temperatures on deconvoluted curves of patients with moderate or severe symptoms, different drug treatments show changes as follows: (1) A significant decrease in plasma in moderate-symptom patients treated with steroids compared to symptomless cases (51.0 °C vs. 54.5 °C). (2) But in terms of temperature, retinoid and biological drugs did not cause any difference in T_{m1} .

The second transitions $(T_{\rm m2})$ have been identified between 61 and 64.8 °C to the albumin contribution being the dominant constituent of plasma. Most values were higher than in control and compared with the symptomless state in all treatment, and its value decreased in moderate and severe stadium. As it can be assumed from the results that the denaturation in 68–72 °C range is coming from Ig and the transition of the albumin tail, the control and the moderate stages in biological and steroid treatments exhibited smaller $T_{\rm m}$ s, but based on calorimetric enthalpy we put them into this contribution. The enthalpy of $T_{\rm m2}$ transitions increases significantly in almost all treated cases, while $T_{\rm m3}$ transition enthalpies decreased in the function of the severity of disease in each case of biological, retinoid, or steroid treatments (Table 3).



Fig. 2 DSC thermal changes (black line) and deconvoluted blood plasma components after retinoid therapy on patients with moderate or severe symptoms and who had no symptoms

In the case of healthy plasma, the denaturation around 76 °C is assigned to C3 protein, IgA and IgG fragments, and albumin. In the treated cases, the same compounds in the 72–80 °C temperature range (the biologic moderate state was put here because of its high enthalpy contribution) could be identified. Following retinoid and biological therapy, the calorimetric enthalpy slightly fluctuates, but in steroid-treated moderate stage an extra enthalpy jump has been observed. The widely accepted fifth denaturation

temperature is around ~82 °C, which involves the contributions of IgG and transferrin. According to our data, we can set them into the 70.6–90 °C range. These changes could not be found in cases of healthy controls, neither after steroid nor after biological treatment in symptomless patients, as well as following retinoid therapy in a moderate stage. Surprisingly, the enthalpy of this transition was high in biologically treated moderate state, while in other cases it varied between 0.04 and 0.06 J g⁻¹ ranges.



Fig. 3 Human blood plasma DSC curves (black line) and deconvoluted components after biological agent therapies on patients with and without different symptoms

Discussion

These results can be considered as novel because no other results describing such blood plasma changes with a deconvoluted thermoanalytical method on patients with psoriasis have ever been reported. But the present observations are in accordance with our previous results also, in which we have demonstrated similar results on patients with chronic pancreatitis, as in other systematic inflammatory diseases [17]. An indisputable fact that these results are in line with other previous findings is observed during inflammatory processes [23, 28–30].

Several research groups have investigated blood plasma changes in patients who were treated for cancer, inflammatory disease, or other causes. But this is the first research that shows the changes in plasma protein components through the "glasses" of DSC. No doubt, the importance and role of DSC analysis is incontestable for understanding the stability of biological systems in the human body in the future.

Table 2	Thermal parameters	[melting points ($T_{\rm m}$ s) and calorimetric enthalpy	(ΔH) of deconvoluted	curves] of health	ny controls and early	ach patient
with pso	priasis following diffe	rent systemic drug th	erapies				

Groups	Status	Thermal parameters					
		$T_{\rm m1}$ /°C ΔH /J g ⁻¹	$T_{ m m2}$ /°C ΔH /J g ⁻¹	$T_{\rm m3}$ /°C ΔH /J g ⁻¹	$T_{ m m4}$ /°C ΔH /J g ⁻¹	$T_{ m m5}$ /°C ΔH /J g ⁻¹	$\Delta H_{\rm T}/{ m J~g^{-1}}$
Control	Healthy	56.0 0.04	62.5 0.39	65.3 0.70	74.8 0.17	-	1.29 ± 0.06
Steroid treatment	Symptomless	54.5 0.07	64.8 0.98	72.0 0.28	80.0 0.12	_	1.50
	Moderate symptoms	51.0 0.04	62 0.50	66.0 0.57	72.0 0.43	90.0 0.06	1.60 ± 0.08
	Severe symptoms	55.5 0.06	64.0 0.90	71.0 0.48	77.0 0.08	86.0 0.05	1.60 ± 0.08
Retinoid therapy	Symptomless	55.5 0.08	64.0 1.00	71.0 0.52	77.0 0.12	85.5 0.04	1.70
	Moderate symptoms	55.5 0.08	63.0 0.77	68.0 0.41	75.0 0.14	_	1.40 ± 0.07
	Severe symptoms	55.5 0.06	63.5 0.90	70.5 0.31	76.0 0.12	89.0 0.04	1.50 ± 0.07
Biological treatment	Symptomless	55.5 0.09	62.7 0.75	68.6 0.45	75.0 0.20	_	1.49
	Moderate symptoms	56.0 0.06	61.0 0.20	63.6 0.39	66.5 0.27	70.6 0.50	1.45
	Severe symptoms	56.0 0.07	63.6 0.60	68.2 0.36	74.0 0.20	81.0 0.06	1.30

 $\Delta H_{\rm T}$ stands for the total enthalpy of original experimental curve. We have tried to achieve the best fitting between the average experimental and sum of deconvoluted curves ($R \sim 0.99$). This resulted in some negligible contribution in enthalpy (less than 3–4% of total) or melting temperature, which cannot be identified based on the literature, this way they were taken off. SD is shown only in the case of experimental average (total) enthalpy, when data number was greater than 4. The bold letters stand for the agreement with the data of the literature

Table 3Enthalpy contributionof deconvoluted curves in the $\Delta H_{\rm T}$ in the case of healthycontrols and each patientgroup with psoriasis followingdifferent systemic drugtherapies

Groups	Status	Thermal parameters					
		$T_{\rm m1}^{\rm oC}$ $\Delta H/\%$	$T_{ m m2}/^{\circ} m C$ $\Delta H/\%$	T _{m3} /°C Δ <i>H</i> /%	$T_{ m m4}/^{\circ} m C$ $\Delta H/\%$	$T_{ m m5}/^{\circ} m C$ $\Delta H/\%$	$\Delta H_{\rm T}/{\rm J~g^{-1}}$
Control	Healthy	_	30%	54.3%	13.2%	_	1.29 ± 0.06
Steroid treatment	Symptomless	-	65.3%	18.7%	8%	_	1.50
	Moderate symptoms	-	31.3%	35.6%	27%	_	1.60 ± 0.08
	Severe symptoms	-	56.3%	30%	_	-	1.60 ± 0.08
Retinoid therapy	Symptomless	-	58.8%	30.6%	7%	-	1.70
	Moderate symptoms	6%	55%	29.3%	10%	-	1.40 ± 0.07
	Severe symptoms	-	60%	20.7%	8%	-	1.50 ± 0.07
Biological treatment	Symptomless	6%	50.3%	30.2%	13.4%	-	1.49
	Moderate symptoms	-	13.5%	26.9%	18.6%	34.5%	1.45
	Severe symptoms	-	46.2%	27.7%	15.4%	-	1.30

Bold letters refer to significant difference

 $\Delta H_{\rm T}$ stands for the average total enthalpy of original experimental curves. Those contributions, which were below the actual SD or the resolution of the equipment as well as which cannot be identified based on the literature, were taken off (–). SD is shown only in the case of experimental average (total) enthalpy, when data number was greater than 4. More information ($T_{\rm m}$ s) can be found in Figs. 1–3

Acknowledgements Open access funding provided by Semmelweis University (SE). This research was funded by Grant OTKA (C272 for D.L. and PD77474 for A.F.) and PTE ÁOK Research Grant (114-603/2009 for A.F.).

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Ferencz A, Moezzi M, Lőrinczy D. Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) as a new diagnostic and screening method on patients with psoriasis. In: Lambert W, editor. Psoriasis: epidemiology, diagnosis and management strategies. New York: Nova Science Publishers Press; 2016. p. 45–64.
- 2. Raychaudhuri SP. A cutting-edge overview: psoriatic disease. Clinic Rev Allerg Immunol. 2013;44:109–13.
- Rendon A, Schäkel K. Psoriasis pathogenesis and treatment. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:1475–503.
- 4. Bhosle MJ, Kulkarni A, Feldman SR, Balkrishnan R. Quality of life in patients with psoriasis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2006;4:35–41.
- Di Meglio P, Perera GK, Nestle FO. The multitasking organ: recent insights into skin immune function. Immunity. 2011;35:857–69.
- Nestle FO, Kaplan DH, Barker J. Psoriasis. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:496–509.
- Watson ES, O'Neill MJ, Justin J, Brenner N. A differential scanning calorimeter for quantitative differential thermal analysis. Anal Chem. 1964;36:1233–8.
- Lőrinczy D, Belágyi J. Effects of nucleotide on skeletal muscle myosin unfolding in myofibrils by DSC. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1995;217:592–8.
- Dergez T, Lőrinczy D, Könczöl F, Farkas N, Belágyi J. Differential scanning calorimetry study of glycerinated rabbit psoas muscle fibres in intermediate state of ATP hydrolysis. BMC Struct Biol. 2007;7:41–50.
- Nedvig K, Ferencz A, Rőth E, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of intestinal tissue following warm ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2009;95:775–9.
- Ferencz A, Nedvig K, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of intestinal tissue following cold preservation. Thermochim Acta. 2010;497:41–5.
- Szántó Z, Kovács G, Nagy V, Rőth E, Molnár FT, Horváth ŐP. Differential scanning calorimetric examination of the tracheal cartilage after primary reconstruction with differential suturing techniques. Thermochim Acta. 2006;445:190–4.
- Ferencz A, Nedvig K, László E, Magyarlaki T, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of kidney tissue following warm ischemia and reperfusion injury. Thermochim Acta. 2011;525:161–6.
- Farkas P, Könczöl F, Lőrinczy D. New possibilities of application of DSC as a new clinical diagnostic method. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2018;133:579–89.

- Szalai ZS, Molnár FT, Lőrinczy D. Role of differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) in the staging of COPD. A new approach to an old definition problem. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2017;127:1231–8.
- Moezzi M, Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. Evaluation of blood plasma changes by differential scanning calorimetry in psoriatic patients treated with drugs. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2014;116:557–62.
- Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. DSC measurements of blood plasma on patients with chronic pancreatitis and operable and inoperable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2017;127:1187–92.
- Garbett NC, Mekmaysy C, Helm CV, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Differential scanning calorimetry of blood plasma for clinical diagnosis and monitoring. Exp Mol Pathol. 2009;86:186–91.
- Todinova S, Krumova S, Kurtev P, Dimitrov V, Djongov L, Dudunkov Z, Taneva SG. Calorimetry-based profiling of blood plasma from colorectal cancer patients. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1820:1879–85.
- Michnik A, Drzazga Z. Thermal denaturation of mixtures of human serum proteins. DSC study. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2010;101:513–8.
- Garbett NC, Miller JJ, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Calorimetry outside the box: a new window into the plasma proteome. Biophys J. 2008;94:1377–83.
- 22. Michnik A, Drzazga Z, Michalik K, Barczyk A, Santura I, Sozanska E, Pierzchała W. Differential scanning calorimetry study of blood serum in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2010;102:57–60.
- Todinova S, Krumova S, Gartcheva L, Robeerts C, Taneva SG. Microcalorimetry of blood serum proteome: a modified interaction network in the multiple myeloma case. Anal Chem. 2011;83:7992–8.
- 24. Monaselidze J, Tevdoradze T, Zibzibadze M, Alibegashvili M, Ramishvili L, Gordeziani M, Kotrikadze N. The study of blood serum proteins in patients with mammary gland tumours. J Biol Phys Chem. 2012;1:19–22.
- Kikalishvili L, Ramishvili M, Nemsadze G, Lezhava T, Khorava P, Gorgoshidze M, Kiladze M, Monaselidze J. Thermal stability of blood plasma proteins of breast cancer patients, DSC study. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2015;120:501–5.
- 26. Tenchov B, Abarova S, Koynova R, Traikov L, Tancheva L. Lowtemperature exothermic transitions in brain proteome of mice, effect of scopolamine. Thermochim Acta. 2017;650:26–32.
- Tenchov B, Abarova S, Koynova R, Traikov L, Dragomanova S, Tancheva LA. New approach for investigating neurodegenerative disorders in mice based on DSC. J Therm Anal Calorim. 2017;127:483–6.
- Garbett NC, Merchant ML, Helm CW, Jenson AB, Klein JB, Chaires JB. Detection of cervical cancer biomarker patterns in blood plasma and urine by differential scanning calorimetry and mass spectrometry. PLoS ONE. 2014;9:e84710.
- 29. Johnson CM. Differential scanning calorimetry as a tool for protein folding and stability. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2013;531:100–9.
- Fish DJ, Brewood GP, Kim JS, Garbett NC, Chaires JB, Benight AS. Statistical analysis of plasma thermograms measured by differential scanning calorimetry. Biophys Chem. 2010;152:184–90.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

IV. Discussion

In 2014, the World Health Organization adopted a resolution characterizing psoriasis as "a chronic, non-communicable, painful, disfiguring and disabling disease for which there is no cure" [115]. Although, at first sight this is "just a skin disease", but related to its systemic inflammatory nature psoriasis is also associated with an increased incidence of chronic comorbid conditions, like cardiovascular disease (e.g. high blood pressure), metabolic syndrome (e.g. obesity, diabetes, hyperlipidaemia), or musculoskeletal lesions (e.g. psoriatic arthritis) resulting an increased overall mortality risk in patients [116].

Few methods are used to assess the severity of psoriasis as a measure of treatment response in clinical trials and in day-to-day clinical practice. Current guidelines recommend that clinicians should consider the patient holistically, objective evaluations, including body surface area involvement, the location and thickness of lesions, symptoms and comorbidities (with physical and psychosocial manifestations), and the presence or absence of psoriatic arthritis, with a subjective assessment of the physical, emotional, concomitant medication and patient preference. Generally accepted the Psoriasis Area and Severity Index which we use also, the Physician's Global Assessment, and the Dermatology Life Quality Index, which determine quantitatively the severity of disease [3, 117, 118].

Even though recently psoriasis is not only considered a skin disease, but a complex disease, its clinical monitoring is still based on skin symptoms and their changes using that scores mentioned above. Thus, the diagnosis is almost exclusively clinical. There are no generally accepted methods, or objective and specific laboratory parameters to assess effectiveness of treatment or to follow the disease in any stage. Laboratory examinations are useful only if starting systemic therapies such as immunological inhibitors, consider obtaining baseline laboratory studies (full blood cell count, blood urea nitrogen/creatinine, liver function tests, hepatitis panel, tuberculosis screening, in special cases pregnancy test) [119, 120].

As mentioned earlier, the cause of psoriasis remains unknown, and there is no cure. Several hypotheses have been advanced, and models proposed over the years concerning its pathogenesis. "Oxidative stress" as a concept in redox biology and medicine has been generally formulated in 1985 [121]. Regarding, skin is the largest

organ in body that is subjected to oxidative injury, and this stress is known to influence numerous cutaneous diseases [45, 122].

Well known, that OFRs are highly reactive species generated by biochemical redox reactions as part of normal cell metabolism. In view of the generation of OFR, certain adverse effects also occur. Practically, all the essential biomolecules can undergo oxidative reactions mediated by OFR, so for example (1) damage of DNA or RNA, (2) oxidations of polyunsaturated fatty acids in lipids (lipidperoxidation), (3) oxidations of amino acids in proteins, and (4) oxidative deactivation of specific enzymes by oxidation of co-factors [121]. In normal steady state, cells have different antioxidant systems and various antioxidant enzymes to defend themselves against free radical attacks. Superoxide dismutase, the first line of defence against OFR, catalyses the dismutation of hydrogen peroxide, which the catalase will further decomposes into water and radical nature nascent oxygen. Glutathione-dependent antioxidant system consisting of reduced GSH and an array of functionally related enzymes plays a fundamental role in cellular defence against OFRs and other oxidant species. A similar function is performed by -SH group with its radicals detoxifying effect [123-125].

These preliminary literature data encourage us to investigate the presence of oxidative stress markers from both the pro-oxidant and antioxidant sides among our various severity psoriatic patients. Our results with peripheral blood measurements showed that lipid peroxidation, and total production of OFRs and MPO activity of the PMNs were significantly greater in the untreated patients with moderate and severe symptoms and in all drug-treated groups compared with healthy control group. Regarding of values, the highest level was found in untreated patients with severe symptoms comparing all examined cases. Several investigators confirmed significant correlation between elevation of pro-oxidant status and PASI score [44, 50, 125]. From these, it can be highlighted for example that Kural et al showed increased MDA and lipid peroxide levels in patients when compared to healthy volunteers as control group [126]. Similarly, Kökçam et al., Wozniak and co-workers also found that MDA levels were increased in patients with psoriasis [123, 127]. Another study showed that total oxidant status (TOS) levels of psoriatic patient were significantly increased [128]. Moreover, increasing evidence suggests that acceleration of pro-oxidant status is not the only reason, but a consequence of the skin inflammatory diseases, which is also true for psoriatic patients [44, 50, 129, 130]. Although, it should be noted that direct measurement of radical production by PMN leukocytes has been published very few studies.

At the same time, we demonstrated that from antioxidants the concentrations of GSH and -SH groups and the activities of SOD and CAT in blood plasma were significantly decreased in untreated patients with severe symptoms compared with those in healthy control individuals. Current data also confirmed that depletion of antioxidant and scavenger capacity in blood is related to the severity of psoriasis [41, 47, 124]. Other researcher confirms our result, for example Kural and co-workers found that activity of CAT, SOD, and glutathione peroxidase enzymes, and total antioxidant status (TAS) levels were decreased [126]. Similar results received Emre and colleagues when measured low level TAS in patients with psoriasis [128]. Changes of redox status in blood during psoriasis are also confirmed by the fact that one of the first drug treatments was different antioxidants (e.g. Vitamin E, beta carotene, selenium) [123, 131, 132].

After these results, the question arises whether it is recommended to give antioxidants to the psoriatic patients. Our current research did not examine this separately, but several publications confirmed that all fruits and vegetables naturally contain a range of antioxidants, such as carotenoids, flavonoids and vitamin C that are known to reduce oxidative stress in the body [133]. Numerous foods that are especially rich in antioxidants include berries, grapes, nuts, dark green vegetables, whole grains, orange-coloured fruits and vegetables, and green tea. Increasing dietary antioxidants may help reduced oxidative stress associated with psoriasis. Currently there are specific studies solely on the effects of fruit and vegetable consumption on psoriasis, it should be overlooked as an adjunctive therapy in the treatment of disease. Publications in leading nutritional scientific journal recommend that before adding antioxidant supplements into your psoriasis treatment regime consult with a dermatologist [134-136].

The aims of anti-psoriasis drug therapies to control clinical manifestations of the disease, contributing to improve the patient's quality of life. The choice of treatment by dermatologist depends on following factors, such as the PASI score, the skin type, the response to previous treatments, the patient's age, and clinical history [137]. Usually, monotherapy or combination of systemic agents (methotrexate, retinoids, and

biological therapy) is used for moderate and severe psoriasis. As a second-generation retinoid, it binds to gene transcription, regulating nuclear receptors and reducing epidermal hyperplasia and cell reproduction. This part of our study showed firstly that from anti-psoriatic agents, acitretin significantly increased the total OFR level and MPO activity compared with healthy controls, but decreased these oxidative stress parameters and better preserved scavengers and antioxidants in blood compared to untreated individuals with severe symptoms. The exact mechanism of these effects in the present study is not yet known. But other investigators confirmed that administration of acitretin induced mitochondrial permeability transition and apoptosis in liver cells, which was not prevented by thiol-group protecting and antioxidant agents, excluding the involvement of oxidative stress mechanisms [86].

One of the first-generation anti-psoriatic drugs is methotrexate, despite its many side effects as antimetabolic agent is commonly used systemic therapies for moderate to severe psoriasis [91, 138]. Of the used anti-psoriatic systemic drugs, the most severe changes in the patients' oxidative stress status were observed after MTX therapy. This drug dramatically increased the total OFR level and MPO activity compared with healthy controls. But values were significantly lower than in patients without medication. Moreover, it caused a significant decrease in levels of GSH and - SH groups and in activity of SOD. Similar observations have been made by Elango and co-workers in a study, where psoriatic patients were treated with methotrexate monotherapy [139].

Recently, the effect of biologic response modifier agents was detected to measure oxidative stress markers of the blood on psoriatic patients. These chimeric monoclonal anti-TNF-alpha antibodies caused the lowest oxidative damages to the patients, because of their specific binding to the cells' specific receptors did not impair the cell membranes causing lipid peroxidation and did not accelerate the general inflammatory processes.

One of the newest study in the theme declared that high levels of plasma and red blood cell MDA resulting from decreased activity of CAT and glutathione peroxidase should be as markers of plaque psoriasis exacerbation, and offer the measurement of these markers from saliva [140]. While, our blood oxidative stress tests can be determined after a simple, routine blood sampling from peripheral vein. At present, even easier, non-invasive techniques have emerged. Fact, the collection of saliva as a diagnostic material has numerous advantages over peripheral blood, the most important being non-invasive collection, lower anxiety of patients, and greater willingness to monitor one's health [140, 141]. Unfortunately, the deficiency of this study is that studied patients did not take anti-psoriatic drugs, so we could not compare with our drug treated patient's lab data.

Differential scanning calorimetry is a thermoanalytical method which is used firstly during the research of the physical properties of mineralogical and inorganic materials since the 1960s years. The technique was first described by Watson and O'Neill in the Perkin-Elmer Corporation in USA [111]. Later, this validated and efficient method used for the demonstration of structural changes not only in the physical sciences, but also at behaviour of numerous biological macromolecules (carbohydrate, proteins, nucleic acids, etc.) [142, 143], in different experimental animal models [144-147], and in clinical researches [114, 148].

In the beginning of the 2000s years, Garbett and co-workers have shown in their early works, that DSC thermogram is an unique signature for biomolecules reflecting the normal or pathomorphological changes under different conditions [149, 150].

More than a decade since DSC measurements of patients has been focused in the researches more and more authors confirmed importance and advantages of DSC data. Summary, these are the follows:

1. Thermal results (heat absorption, transition temperature, and calorimetric enthalpy) of blood plasma or serum are significantly different in healthy individuals and in patients with various disease, namely in systematic inflammatory disorders or in tumorous diseases [26, 149-153].

2. Changes of DSC data show a strong correlation with clinical stages of different diseases [152, 154-156].

3. DSC curves completely reflect the protein composition of the plasma or serum sample [153, 157-160].

4. Significant changes in thermograms follow not only from quantitative changes of major plasma proteins, but from interactions of small molecules or peptides of these proteins also [153, 157, 159, 160].

5. Additionally, the shape of DSC curves is very sensitive to conformation changes of proteins, to protein-protein or to ligand-protein interactions, to appearance of new proteins (e.g. paraproteins in cancerous diseases), or to influence of different

medications to plasma proteins [149, 150, 151, 153-155, 157-159, 161].

According to our knowledge, we were the first who published several DSC data and results received from psoriatic patients in the literature. Regarding there were no preliminary results for psoriasis at all, we had to perform several preliminary DSC measurements from blood samples. Moreover, in several cases lack of other researcher results for comparison caused problem, which made more difficult evaluation works for us. One of the first task was blood sampling and plasma measurements from healthy volunteers. In healthy controls, three main denaturation melting points ($T_{ms} \sim 56$, 62 and 65°C) were appeared. These results were consistently in line with measurements of all researchers [161-164].

Our goal was to check the applicability of DSC technique in this dermatological disease. In untreated and symptomless patients, the average melting temperature was around 63 °C, while the calorimetric enthalpy was in the range which is usual in case of this kind of biological materials ($\Delta H \sim 1.25 \text{ J/g}$). The DSC scans in case of patients without medicinal treatment clearly demonstrated the thermodynamic consequence of the severity of the skin disease: decreasing melting temperatures, decrease of the mean value of calorimetric enthalpies compared with healthy controls. In contrast, in case of treated patients a definite heat capacity changes have been seen between the native and denaturized states (the shift of base line indicates it), which could be the sign of different water binding of serum proteins. Groups of patients who undergone medicinal treatment with oral retinoid or with cytostatic (MTX) showed a thermodynamic tendency of the deterioration of the skin disease.

This significant decrease of the melting temperatures, and the increased calorimetric enthalpy are signs of less thermal stability of the macromolecular structure. The pronounced heat capacity change between denatured and native states is also an indicator of the structural change in disease compared with the healthy controls. Unfortunately, this pilot study involved low number of patients in medical treatment group, so we could not draw any statistically based conclusion. Investigations performed on increased sample number could check the validity of our observations, but some trends were visible. Results showed that DSC should be a useable method to not only during medical treatment cases, but DSC curves make a distinction between patients with psoriasis and healthy controls. However, there were no data in the literature indicating the possible diagnostic and staging method of human blood plasma

by DSC in psoriasis patients. But similar findings have been described in another report, where applied the DSC method to investigate its utility for other systemic immunological syndromes [164]. DSC curves for rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus and Lyme disease showed unique signature for blood plasma that could provide the basis of the use of the DSC method as a clinical diagnosis [155]. First application of the DSC method has provided a potential new tool for diagnosis and monitoring of psoriasis patients.

In the second study, has been investigated the thermal changes of human blood plasma in an increased number of untreated patients, and in patients following systematic drug treatment. Each group was subdivided into symptoms-free, mild, and seriously affected parts. In drug treatment the data was separated into cytostatic intervention (MTX), retinoid treatment (acitretin), and biologic response modifier (adalimumab, infliximab, and ustekinumab) agents' group. During the denaturation of samples -independently from their classification- in most cases three melting temperatures (T_{m1} in the range of 55.50–59.50 °C, T_{m2} in the range of 63–69.5 °C as well as T_{m3} between 67.3 and 89.5 °C) could be observed. The calorimetric enthalpy values were in the usual range of this kind of biologic materials (Δ H ~ 1.3–2.0 J g⁻¹). The DSC scans of patients without any medication clearly demonstrate the thermodynamic consequence of the severity of the skin disease: significant increase in T_{m1}, decreasing T_{m2} melting temperatures, absence of T_{m3}, and increase of calorimetric enthalpies, while in serious symptoms only the first melting and the calorimetric enthalpy changed compared with symptoms-free controls.

Firstly, the effect of traditional anti-psoriatic agents (methotrexate and acitretin) is defined by DSC analysis of human blood plasma changes. Our results showed that DSC scans of patients with symptoms exhibited significant differences (p<0.05) in melting temperatures, and in calorimetric enthalpy, showing thermal stability of plasma compared with the untreated symptoms free patients. Detection of blood plasma changes by thermoanalytical method is novel and similar data are not found in the literature either. The background of our experiments is not known exactly, but behind the results should be those blood plasma changes caused by these oral drugs. First, oral-administrated methotrexate is reversibly bound to serum protein, mainly to albumin, and then it is easily diffused into cells, where the drug is actively transported across the cell membranes. The other important and well-known change of blood

components that causes long-term methotrexate therapy is leukopenia. Due to known side effects of methotrexate justified to check laboratory tests (such as hemogram and serum creatinine) periodically in the clinical practice [3, 137, 165, 166]. The other administrated drug was acitretin, which is highly lipophilic and penetrates readily into cells. After oral intake and gastrointestinal adsorption its protein binding to the main plasma protein albumin exceeds 99 %. Due to its lipophilic nature, serum cholesterol and triglycerides must be monitored, especially in high-risk patients and during long-term treatment. Use of acitretin rarely associated with elevated white blood cell count. Presumably, DSC results associated with changes in blood plasma may be caused by these side-effects of drug administration.

The first approach of different diseases by thermoanalytical method was published by Garbett et al. [155]. This important paper published that diseases revealed significant changes in the plasma curve with a shift of the curve toward higher denaturation temperatures. Whereas studies have indicated that these changes are resulted from interactions of small molecules or peptides with these proteins [155].

The extraordinary success of biologic drugs targeting TNF-alfa as well as IL-12 and IL-23 have dramatically changed psoriatic patient care. These new classes of treatments consist in the fusion of proteins and mAb that specifically target the activity of T cells or inflammatory cytokines by inhibiting or modulating specific immune system actors. These biologic drugs can save other organs and minimize side effects. For treatment biologic agents, such as TNF-alfa blockers (infliximab and

adalimumab) and IL-12, 23 blocker (ustekinumab) are indicated for moderate to serious lesions in adults who fail to respond to, have a contraindication to, or are intolerant to other systemic therapies [167]. Despite knowing their specific effects, unfortunately at least 20 % of patients do not respond to biologic therapy, meaning that key pathogenic mechanisms are still understood, and the known mechanisms may not always apply to every individual [168]. Recently, from biologic response modifier agents the effect of infliximab, adalimumab, and ustekinumab were detected, defined by thermoanalytical method of blood plasma components. Our results may show that these modern drugs improved thermal stability of plasma in all measurable thermodynamic parameters and promising more effective therapy than the traditional drug interventions even in severe cases. The currently used chimeric (human–murine) monoclonal anti-TNF-alfa antibodies are given by multiple intravenous or

subcutaneous injections subsequently in intervals of 4-8 weeks. The biologic agents have Fc regions of the human immunoglobulin IgG1 subtype, which is advantageous in terms of *in vivo* half-life [169, 170]. These large glycoprotein macromolecules stream without carrier plasma components and primarily distributed within the blood [171-173]. These pharmacokinetic properties should explain our DSC results. Monthly given, low drug doses are sufficient to achieve the biologic treatment in the patients, so these large molecules do not disturb the structure of blood plasma compared to daily taken, transport by plasma proteins non-specific conventional anti-psoriatic treatments.

More and more things are known about the pathogenesis of the process, and parallel to this new and better treatment options are already available today. According to our knowledge, proinflammatory cyto- and chemokines (C3, C4, IL-23, TNFa, IFNa, IL2,6,8,12,15,17,22,23), adhesion and growth factors (TGFβ, EGF, HSP27 and 60, Cx26 and 30), different T cells (CD4+, DCs, CD8+), and their receptors act in that inflammatory and proliferative processes which finally appear as psoriatic skin signs and symptoms [2, 168]. Despite all this, psoriasis is a chronic relapsing disease, which often necessitates a long-term therapy. The choice of treatment for it is determined by disease severity, comorbidities, and access to health care [19]. Mild to moderate psoriasis can be treated locally (topical therapy with corticosteroids, vitamin D analogues, retinoids, and phototherapies). In some moderate cases and in every severe case, systemic treatment (drug administration in monotherapy or in combination) should be required [174]. The task is not easy, because to the intervention of the pathogenesis today only few molecular attack points are known, meaning that key pathogenic mechanisms are still not understood, and the known mechanisms may not always apply to every individual. Unfortunately, at least 15-20% of patients do not respond to the newest, targeted anti-psoriatic agents; thus, in such cases or during exacerbation we must return to the conventional and conservative steroid drug therapy. Biologic therapies in psoriasis are highly effective and can be classified according to their mechanism of action. The two main classes of biological agents are targeted at T cells or at cytokines. Moreover, the second-generation retinoids have been well useful drugs, and they have relatively few, local side effects [2, 174].

In the last part of current research our group was looking for an answer to the question that how the different medications and the variable symptoms affect the
human blood plasma composition on patients with psoriasis. For this purpose, DSC thermal curves were deconvoluted. Briefly, blood plasma is a complex protein mixture. Therefore, it contains from a thermal point of view different "thermal domains" which can be assigned to the different compounds [153, 155, 162, 175]. It means that a DSC scan can be decomposed into a sum of Gaussian curves; that way, their total area is nearly the same as of the experimental curve one, within a reasonable error (<1%). To have the best fitting, we applied more than five curves, but some contribution was less than the error of enthalpy determination, so they cannot influence our final interpretation of data.

Convoluted curves of the average DSC scans of persons with psoriasis after steroid, retinoid, and biological treatment in symptomless, in moderate, and in severe stages were used. To find individual components, we have chosen the critical plasma protein melting points to perform the deconvolution of the curves on the basis of papers published by Garbett et al. [150, 155], Michnik et al. [153], Todinova et al. [162, 175], Monaselidze et al. [176], Kikalishvili et al. [177] as well as Tenchov et al. [178, 179]. According to these studies, today the next melting points are well accepted for the identification of plasma protein compounds: at ~ 50 °C fibrinogen, ~ 62 °C albumin, ~ 70 °C Ig and the transition of the tail of albumin, ~ 76 °C C3 protein, IgA, IgG, and albumin, and ~ 82 °C IgG and transferrin. Characteristic thermal parameters (Tm and ΔH cal) have been collected on the one hand from healthy volunteers and on the other hand from patients who were differently treated for their various symptoms. Our aim with the deconvolution of average experimental curves was to get particularly good fitting (R was better than 0.99) between the deconvoluted and the experimental curves, using the above-accepted melting points. The control samples exhibited only four separable plasma compounds: fibrinogen at 56 °C which is higher than the widely accepted 50 °C. This deviation could be explained by our different DSC equipment (heat flow SETARAM Micro DSC-II with a sample holder of 1 mL), and we usedbecause of the big volume-the original plasma concentration without any dilution. (In most papers, the samples are 20-fold diluted, to avoid the unpleasant consequential of irreversible denaturation of proteins during the cleaning of the sample holders.) The very characteristic albumin contribution appeared at 62.5 °C (in the literature for healthy plasma is 62 °C), while the denaturation of C3, IgA and IgG as well as albumin parts was at 74.8 °C (in the literature 76 °C). The transition at 65.3 °C was identified as the contribution of Ig and the tail of albumin (in the literature 70 °C).

The thermal data of DSC scans measured in the case of psoriatic patients treated with different interventions showed practically partly identical results in T_{ms} and Δ H_{cal} for the symptomless cases. (We have throughout those decomposition values where the enthalpy contribution was in the range of ~ 3% of total enthalpy.) In terms of detail, the following observations can be made in the symptomless samples: (1) T_{m1} decreased slightly during steroid therapy (56.0 °C vs. 54.5 °C), while the decrease was the same following the retinoid and biological drug treatment and less than next to steroids therapy (56.0 °C vs. 55.5 °C). (2) At T_{m2}, T_{m3}, and T_{m4}, the melting temperatures generally increased in every symptomless patient, and after steroid drug administration this elevation was notable. (3) Only retinoid administration caused a well measurable fifth thermal transition (T_{m5} at 85.5 °C) in plasma samples.

Comparing the melting temperatures on deconvoluted curves of patients with moderate or severe symptoms, different drug treatments show changes as follows: (1) a significant decrease in plasma in moderate-symptom patients treated with steroids compared to symptomless cases (51.0 °C vs. 54.5 °C). (2) But in terms of temperature, retinoid and biological drugs did not cause any difference in T_{m1} . The second transitions (T_{m2}) have been identified between 61 and 64.8 °C to the albumin contribution being the dominant constituent of plasma. Most values were higher than in control and compared with the symptomless state in all treatment, and its value decreased in moderate and severe stadium. As it can be assumed from the results that the denaturation in 68-72 °C range is coming from Ig and the transition of the albumin tail, the control and the moderate stages in biological and steroid treatments exhibited smaller T_{ms} , but based on calorimetric enthalpy we put them into this contribution. The enthalpy of T_{m2} transitions increases significantly in almost all treated cases, while T_{m3} transition enthalpies decreased in the function of the severity of disease in each case of biological, retinoid, or steroid treatments.

In the case of healthy plasma, the denaturation around 76 °C is assigned to C3 protein, IgA and IgG fragments, and albumin. In the treated cases, the same compounds in the 72–80 °C temperature range (the biologic moderate state was put here because of its high enthalpy contribution) could be identified. Following retinoid and biological therapy, the calorimetric enthalpy slightly fluctuates, but in steroid-

treated moderate stage an extra enthalpy jump has been observed. The widely accepted fifth denaturation temperature is around ~ 82 °C, which involves the contributions of IgG and transferrin. According to our data, we can set them into the 70.6-90 °C range. These changes could not be found in cases of healthy controls, neither after steroid nor after biological treatment in symptomless patients, as well as following retinoid therapy in a moderate stage. Surprisingly, the enthalpy of this transition was high in biologically treated moderate state, while in other cases it was lower value.

These results can be considered as novel because no other results describing such blood plasma changes with a deconvoluted thermoanalytical method on patients with psoriasis have ever been reported. But the present observations are in accordance with our previous results also, in which we have demonstrated similar results on patients with chronic pancreatitis, as in other systematic inflammatory diseases [180]. An indisputable fact that these results are in line with other previous findings observed during inflammatory processes [161-164].

Several research groups have investigated blood plasma changes in patients who were treated for cancer, inflammatory disease, or other causes. But this is the first research that shows the changes in plasma protein components through the "glasses" of DSC. No doubt, the importance and role of DSC analysis is incontestable for understanding the stability of biological systems in the human body in the future.

V. Novel findings

1. Our initial research described firstly in the literature that there are thermoanalytically detectable differences (transition temperature, calorimetric enthalpy) in blood plasma of patients with psoriasis of different severity based on PASI scoring system. In this preliminary study, an association between plasma DSC abnormalities (decreased transition temperature and increased calorimetric enthalpy) and different type of treatment was already suspected.

2. The second series of dissertation confirmed us that conventional systemic agents (retinoids, MTX) are useful in the treatment of psoriasis, but the new generation of specific monoclonal therapy is more effective in severe or therapy-resistant cases. Blood plasma structural changes measured by DSC method showed that biologic response modifiers caused an improved thermal stability of plasma in all measurable thermodynamic parameters.

3. In the third series of project, our purpose was to detect oxidative stress parameters and to determine the calorimetric enthalpy changes under constant pressure by DSC on previously mentioned 72 patients. Results with peripheral blood measurements showed that balance was loosen between pro- and antioxidants, and state of oxidative stress has been formed on our patient with psoriasis. These changes were significantly greater in systematically treated compare to untreated patients with moderate and severe symptoms. From anti-psoriatic drugs, biologic response modifier agents (adalimumab, infliximab, ustekinumab) caused significantly lesser oxidative stress, than conventional therapy (retinoids, methotrexate).

4. After general knowledge of blood plasma changes, complex DSC curves were deconvoluted in several individual transitions ($T_{m1}-T_{m5}$), modelling each individual transition. In the examined psoriasis stages, the thermodynamic parameters excess heat capacity and enthalpy of the transitions in proportion corresponded to the targeted treatment and the degree of disease severity, as well as the numbers of transitions were determined from the calorimetric profiles. This examination has shown that drug therapy affects the composition of plasma proteins, which should be always considered for the evaluation of DSC results in similar studies.

VI. References

- 1. Christophers E, Mrowietz U. Psoriasis. In: Freedburg, A. E., Wolff, K. Fitzpatrick's dermatology in general medicine. New York: McGraw-Hill, 2003;534-7.
- Raychaudhuri SP. A cutting edge overview: psoriatic disease. Clinic Rev Allerg Immunol 2013;44:109-13.
- Menter A, Gottlieb A, Feldman SR, Van Voorhees AS, Leonardi CL, Gordon KB, Lebwohl M, Koo JYM, Elmets CA, Korman NJ, Beutner KR, Bhushan R. Guidelines of care for the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Section 1. Overview of psoriasis and guidelines of care for the treatment of psoriasis with biologics. J Am Acad Dermatol 2008;58:826–50.
- 4. Day MS, Nam D, Googman S, Edwin PS, Figgie M. Psoriatic arthritis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2012;20:28-37.
- 5. Kaye JA, Li L, Jick SS. Incidence of risk factors for myocardial infarction and other vascular diseases in patients with psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2008;159:895-902.
- 6. Gisondi P, Del Giglio M, Cozzi A, Girolomoni G. Psoriasis, the liver, and the gastrointestinal tract. Dermatol Ther 2010;23:155-9.
- Foulkes AC, Grindlay DJC, Griffiths CEM, Warren RB. What's new in psoriasis? An analysis of guidelines and systematic reviews published in 2009-2010. Clin Exp Dermatol 2011;36:585-9.
- Dalmády S, Kemény L, Antal M, Gyulai R. Periodontitis: a newly identified comorbidity in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 2020;16:101-8.
- 9. Kouris A, Platsidaki E, Kouskoukis C, Christodoulou C. Psychological parameters of psoriasis. Psychiatriki 2017;28:54-9.
- Poór AK, Sárdy M, Cserni T, Brodszky V, Holló P, Gulácsi L, Remenyik É, Szegedi A, Rencz F, Péntek M. Assessment of health-related quality of life in psoriasis patients in Hungary. Orv Hetil 2018;159:837-46.
- Rencz F, Gulácsi L, Péntek M, Poór AK, Sárdy M, Holló P, Szegedi A, Remenyik É, Brodszky V. Proposal of a new scoring formula for the Dermatology Life Quality Index in psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2018;179:1102-8.
- 12. Alpsoy E, Polat M, FettahlioGlu-Karaman B, Karadag AS, Kartal-Durmazlar P, YalCin B, Emre S, Didar-Balci D, Bilgic-Temel A, Arca E, Koca R, Gunduz K, Borlu

M, Ergun T, Dogruk-Kacar S, Cordan-Yazici A, Dursun P, BilgiC O, Gunes-Bilgili S, Sendur N, Baysal O, Halil-Yavuz I, Yagcioglu G, Yilmaz E, Kavuzlu U, Senol Y. Internalized stigma in psoriasis: A multicenter study. J Dermatol 2017;44:885-91.

- Rapp SR, Feldman SR, Exum ML, Fleischer AB Jr, Reboussin DM. Psoriasis causes as much disability as other major medical diseases. J Am Acad Dermatol 1999;41:401-7.
- 14. Morhenn VB, Nelson TE, Gruol DL. The rate of wound healing is increased in psoriasis. J Dermatol Sci 2013;72:87-92.
- 15. Hugh JM, Weinberg JM. Update on the pathophysiology of psoriasis. Cutis 2018;102:6-12.
- 16. Képíró L, Széll M, Kovács L, Keszthelyi P, Kemény L, Gyulai R. Genetic risk and protective factors of TNFSF15 gene variants detected using single nucleotide polymorphisms in Hungarians with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Hum Immunol 2014;75:159-62.
- 17. Capon F, Semprini S, Chimenti S, Fabrizi G, Zambruno G, Murgia S, Carcassi C, Fazio M, Mingarelli R, Dallapiccola B, Novelli G. Fine mapping of the PSORS4 psoriasis susceptibility region on chromosome 1q21. J Invest Dermatol 2001;116:728-30.
- AlShobaili HA, Shahzad M, Al-Marshood A, AlSayed K, Settin A, Barrimah I.
 Genetic background of psoriasis. Int J Health Sci (Qassim) 2010;4: 23-9.
- 19. Rendon A, Schäkel K. Psoriasis pathogenesis and treatment. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20:1475.
- 20. Antal M, Braunitzer G, Mattheos N, Gyulai R, Nagy K. Smoking as a permissive factor of periodontal disease in psoriasis. PLoS One 2014;20;9:e92333.
- 21. Kudish AI, Harari M, Evseev EG. The measurement and analysis of normal incidence solar UVB radiation and its application to the photoclimatherapy protocol for psoriasis at the Dead Sea, Israel. Photochem Photobiol 2011;87:215-22.
- 22. Vena GA, Cassano N, Bellia G, Colombo D. Psoriasis in pregnancy: challenges and solutions. Psoriasis (Auckl) 2015;5:83-95.
- 23. Gyulai R, Kemény L. The immunology of psoriasis: from basic research to the bedside. Orv Hetil 2006;147:2213-20.
- 24. Lowes MA, Suárez-Fariñas M, Krueger JG. Immunology of psoriasis. Annu Rev Immunol 2014;32:227-55.

- 25. Van der Fits L, Mourits S, Voerman JS, Kant M, Boon L, Laman JD, Cornelissen F, Mus AM, Florencia E, Prens EP, Lubberts E. Imiquimod-induced psoriasis-like skin inflammation in mice is mediated via the IL-23/IL-17 axis. J Immunol 2009;182:5836-45.
- 26. Ferencz A, Moezzi M, Lőrinczy D. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) as a new diagnostic and screening method on patients with psoriasis. In: Psoriasis: Epidemiology, Diagnosis and Management Strategies. Editor: Wilma Lambert, Nova Science Publisher, New York, 2016, pp. 45-64.
- 27. Kui R, Gál B, Gaál M, Kiss M, Kemény L, Gyulai R. Presence of antidrug antibodies correlates inversely with the plasma tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α level and the efficacy of TNF-inhibitor therapy in psoriasis. J Dermatol 2016;43:1018-23.
- Parisi R, Symmons DP, Griffiths CE, Ashcroft DM. Global epidemiology of psoriasis: A systematic review of incidence and prevalence. J Investig Dermatol 2013;133:377-85.
- 29. Danielsen K, Olsen AO, Wilsgaard T, Furberg AS. Is the prevalence of psoriasis increasing? A 30-year follow-up of a population-based cohort. Br J Dermatol 2013;168:1303-10.
- 30. https://www.manchester.ac.uk/discover/news/new-figures-show-psoriasis-affectsaround-11-million-people-in-uk/
- 31. National Psoriasis Foundation, USA. https://www.psoriasis.org/about-psoriasis
- 32. Napolitano M, Mastroeni S, Fania L, Pallotta S, Fusari R, Uras C, Panebianco A, Cavani A, Sampogna F, Abeni D. Sex- and gender-associated clinical and psychosocial characteristics of patients with psoriasis. Clin Exp Dermatol 2020 Mar 14. doi: 10.1111/ced.14218.
- 33. Rencz F, Brodszky V, Péntek M, Balogh O, Remenyik É, Szegedi A, Holló P, Kárpáti S, Jókai H, Herszényi K, Herédi E, Szántó S, Gulácsi L. Disease burden of psoriasis associated with psoriatic arthritis in Hungary. Orv Hetil 2014;155:1913-21.
- 34. Mercer EH, Maibach HI. Intercellular adhesion and surface coats of epidermal cells in psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol 1968;51:215-21.
- 35. Voorhees JJ. Pathophysiology of psoriasis. Ann Rev Med 1977;28:467-73.
- 36. Ruzicka T. The physiology and pathophysiology of eicosanoids in the skin. Eicosanoids 1988;1:59-72.
- 37. Funk J, Langeland T, Schrumpf E, Hansen L. Psoriasis induced by interferon-

alpha. Br J Dermatol 1991;125:463-5.

- Newman MD, Weinberg JM. The pathophysiology of psoriasis. In: Treatment of Psoriasis, Edited by J.M. Weinberg, Birkhäuser Verlag, Switzerland 2008, pp. 11-21.
- 39. Suter MM, Flavio MC, Olivry T, Mueller E, von Tscharner C, Jensen PJ. Keratinocyte biology and pathology. Veterinary Dermatology 1997;8:67-100.
- 40. Fuchs E. Epidermal differentiation: the bare essentials. Journal of Cell Biology 1990;111:2807-14.
- 41. Zhou Q, Mrowietz U, Rostami-Yazdi M. Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Free Rad Biol Med 2009;47:891-5.
- 42. Sies H. Oxidative stress: a concept in redox biology and medicine. Redox Biol 2015;4:180-3.
- 43. Briganti S, Picardo M. Antioxidant activity, lipid peroxidation and skin diseases. What's new. Acad Dermatol Venereol 2003;17:663-9.
- 44. Chiurchiu' V, Maccarrone M. Chronic inflammatory disorders and their redox control: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 2011;15:2605-41.
- 45. Baek J, Lee MG. Oxidative stress and antioxidant strategies in dermatology. Redox Rep 2016;21:164-9.
- 46. Rőth E, Hejjel L, Jaberansari M, Jancsó G. The role of free radicals in endogenous adaptation and intracellular signals. Exp Clin Cardiol 2004;9:13-6.
- 47. Yin LL, Zhang Y, Guo DM, An K, Yin MS, Cui X. Effects of zinc on interleukins and antioxidant enzyme values in psoriasisinduced mice. Biol Trace Elem Res 2013;155:411-5.
- 48. Portugal M, Barak V, Ginsburg I, Kohen R. Interplay among oxidants, antioxidants, and cytokines in skin disorders: present status and future considerations. Biomed Pharmacother 2007;61:412-22.
- 49. Yildirim M, Inaloz HS, Baysal V, Delibas N. The role of oxidants and antioxidants in psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2003;17:34-6.
- 50. Baz K, Cimen MY, Kokturk A, Yazici AC, Eskandari G, Ikizoglu G, Api H, Atik U. Oxidant/antioxidant status in patients with psoriasis. Yonsei Med J. 2003;44:987-90.
- 51. Goldminz AM, Au SC, Kim N, Gottlieb AB, Lizzul PF. NF-kB: an essential transcription factor in psoriasis. J Dermatol Sci 2013;69:8-94.

- 52. Novelli L, Chimenti MS, Chiricozzi A, Perricone R. The new era for the treatment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: perspectives and validated strategies. Autoimmun Rev 2014;13:64-9.
- 53. Xu F, Xu J, Xiong X, Deng Z. Salidroside inhibits MAPK, NF-κB, and STAT3 pathways in psoriasis-associated oxidative stress via SIRT1 activation. Redox Report 2019;24:70-4.
- 54. Holubar K. The man behind the eponym. Remembering Heinrich Auspitz. Am J Dermatopathol 1986;8:83-5.
- 55. Kumar V, Abbas A, Fausto N, Aster J. Robbin's Text book of Pathology. 2010, New Delhi: Elsevier. p. 841. ISBN 978-81-312-1036-9.
- 56. Koebner H. Zur aetologie der psoriasis. Vierteljahrsschr Dermatol Syphil 1877;8:559.
- 57. Diani M, Cozzi C, Altomare G. Heinrich Koebner and his phenomenon. JAMA Dermatol 2016;152:919.
- 58. Brandon A, Mufti A, Gary Sibbald R. Diagnosis and management of cutaneous psoriasis: a review. Adv Skin Wound Care 2019;32:58-69.
- 59. Lavaroni G, Kokelj F, Pauluzzi P, Trevisan G. The nails in psoriatic arthritis. Acta Derm Venereol Suppl (Stockh), 1994;186:113.
- 60. Fredriksson T, Pettersson U. Severe psoriasis oral therapy with a new retinoid. Dermatologica 1978;157:238-44.
- 61. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Psoriasis_Area_and_Severity_Index
- 62. http://pasi.corti.li
- 63. Robinson A, Kardos M, Kimball AB. Physician Global Assessment (PGA) and Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI): why do both? A systematic analysis of randomized controlled trials of biologic agents for moderate to severe plaque psoriasis. J Acad Dermatol 2012;66:369-75.
- 64. Group for Research and Assessment of Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis (GRAPPA). Assessing Psoriasis in the Clinic: PGA and BSA. 2017. Available at: www.aad.org
- 65. https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/ep/surge/burn/tbsa.pdf
- 66. Oliveira MdeF, Rocha BdeO, Duarte GV. Psoriasis: classical and emerging comorbidities. An Bras Dermatol 2015;90:9-20.
- 67. Hukuda S, Minami M, Saito T, Mitsui H, Matsui N, Komatsubara Y, Makino H,

Shibata T, Shingu M, Sakou T, Shichikawa K. Spondyloarthropathies in Japan: nationwide questionnaire survey performed by the Japan Ankylosing Spondylitis Society. J Rheumatol 2001;28:554-9.

- 68. Christophers E. Psoriasis: epidemiology and clinical spectrum. Clin Exp Dermatol 2001;26:314-20.
- 69. Gulliver W. Long-term prognosis in patients with psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2008;159:2-9.
- 70. Binus AM, Han J, Qamar AA, Mody EA, Holt EW, Qureshi AA. Associated comorbidities in psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2012;26:644-50.
- 71. Tejada CS, Mendoza-Sassi RA, Almeida HL, Jr, Figueiredo PN, Tejada VF. Impact on the quality of life of dermatological patients in southern Brazil. An Bras Dermatol 2011;86:1113-21.
- 72. Krueger G, Koo J, Lebwohl M, Menter A, Stern RS, Rolstad T. The impact of psoriasis on quality of life: results of a 1998 National Psoriasis Foundation patientmembership survey. Arch Dermatol 2001;137:280-4.
- 73. Esposito M, Saraceno R, Giunta A, Maccarone M, Chimenti S. An Italian study on psoriasis and depression. Dermatology 2006;212:123-7.
- 74. Langan SM, Seminara NM, Shin DB, Troxel AB, Kimmel SE, Mehta NN. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in patients with psoriasis: A population-based study in the United Kingdom. J Invest Dermatol 2012;132:556-62.
- 75. Kragballe K, Reich K, Spuls P, Griffiths CME, Nast A, Franke J, Antoniou C, Arenberger P, Balieva F, Bylaite M, Correia O, Daudén E, Gisondi P, Iversen L, Kemény L, Lahfa M, Nijsten T, Rantanen T, Reich A, Rosenbach T, Segaert S, Smith C, Talme T, Volc-Platzer B, Yawalkar N. Definition of treatment goals for moderate to severe psoriasis: a European consensus. Arch Dermatol Res 2011;303:1-10.
- 76. Armstrong AW, Siegel MP, Bagel J, Boh EE, Buell M, Cooper KD, Duffin KC, Eichenfield LF, Garg A, Gelfand JM, Gottlieb AB, Koo JYM, Korman NJ, Krueger GG, Lebwohl MG, Leonardi CL, Mandelin AM, Menter MA, Merola JF, Pariser DM, Prussick RB, Ryan C, Shah KN, Weinberg JM, Williams MOU, Wu JJ, Yamauchi PS, Van Voorhees AS. From the Medical Board of the National Psoriasis Foundation: treatment targets for plaque psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol

2017;76:290-8.

- 77. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Psoriasis overview. Updated August 2019. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg153/evidence/full-guideline-188351533
- 78. New Zealand Formulary. 2019. Available at: https://nzf.org.nz
- 79. Bpac NZ. Chronic plaque psoriasis: an overview of treatment in primary care. 2017. Available at: <u>https://bpac.org.nz/2017/docs/psoriasis-1.pdf</u>
- Bpac NZ. Choosing a topical treatment for patients with chronic plaque psoriasis.
 2017. Available at: <u>https://bpac.org.nz/2017/docs/psoriasis-2.pdf</u>
- 81. Feldman SR. Treatment of psoriasis in adults. UpToDate. 2020. Available at: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/treatment-of-psoriasis-in-adults
- 82. Kim WB, Jerome D, Yeung J. Diagnosis and management of psoriasis. Can Fam Physician 2017;63:278-85.
- Bagel J, Halvorson CR, Feldman SR. A review of phototherapy protocols for psoriasis treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol 2011;64:936-49.
- 84. Nast A, Gisondi P, Ormerod AD, Saiag P, Smith C, Spuls PI, Arenberger P, Bachelez H, Barker J, Dauden E, de Jong EM, Feist E, Jacobs A, Jobling R, Kemény L, Maccarone M, Mrowietz U, Papp KA, Paul C, Reich K, Rosumeck S, Talme T, Thio HB, van de Kerkhof P, Werner RN, Yawalkar N. European S3-Guidelines on the systemic treatment of psoriasis vulgaris – Update 2015 – Short version – EDF in cooperation with EADV and IPC. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2015;29:2277-94.
- 85. Lee CS, Li K. A review of acitretin for the treatment of psoriasis. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2009;8:769-79.
- 86. Silva FSG, Ribeiro MPC, Santos MS, Rocha-Pereira P, Santos- Silva A, Custódio JBA. Acitretin affects bioenergetics of liver mitochondria and promotes mitochondrial permeability transition: potential mechanisms of hepatotoxicity. Toxicology 2013;306:93-100.
- 87. World Health Organization (2009). Stuart MC, Kouimtzi M, Hill SR (eds.). WHO Model Formulary 2008. World Health Organization. p. 221.
- 88. Colombo MD, Cassano N, Bellia G, Vena GA. Cyclosporine regimens in plaque psoriasis: an overview with special emphasis on dose, duration, and old and new

treatment approaches. Sci World J 2013;805705.

- 89. Balak DMW. Fumaric acid esters in the management of psoriasis. Psoriasis (Auckl) 2015;5:9-23.
- 90. West J, Ogston S, Foerster J. Safety and efficacy of methotrexate in psoriasis: a meta-analysis of published trials. PLoS One 2016;11:e0153740.
- 91. Gyulai R, Bagot M, Griffiths CE, Luger T, Naldi L, Paul C, Puig L, Kemény L. Current practice of methotrexate use for psoriasis: results of a worldwide survey among dermatologists. Psoriasis International Network. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2015;29:224-31.
- 92. https://www.edf.one/de/home/Guidelines/EDF-EuroGuiDerm.html
- 93. Rencz F, Kemény L, Gajdácsi JZ, Owczarek W, Arenberger P, Tiplica GS, Stanimirović A, Niewada M, Petrova G, Marinov LT, Kazandhieva J, Péntek M, Brodszky V, Gulácsi L. Use of biologics for psoriasis in Central and Eastern European countries. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2015;29:2222-30.
- 94. Pathirana D, Ormerod AD, Saiag P, Smith C, Spuls PI, Nast I, Barker J, Bos JD, Burmester G-R, Chimenti S, Dubertret L, Eberlein B, Erdmann R, Ferguson J, Girolomoni G, Gisondi P, Giunta A, Griffiths C, Hönigsmann H, Hussain M, Jobling R, Karvonen S-L, Kemeny L, Kopp I, Leonardi C, Maccarone M, Menter A, Mrowietz U, Naldi L, Nijsten T, Ortonne J-P, Orzechowski H-D, Rantanen T, Reich K, Reytan N, Richards H, Thio HB, van de Kerkhof P, Rzany B. European S3-guidelines on the systemic treatment of psoriasis vulgaris. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2009; 23 Suppl 2: 1-70.
- 95. European Medicines Agency. http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/ Accessed: 08/09/2014
- 96. Feldmann M, Maini RN. Lasker Clinical Medical Research Award. TNF defined as a therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune diseases. Nat Med 2003;9:1245-50.
- 97. Braun J, McHugh N, Singh A, Waidula JS, Sato R. Improvement in patient-reported outcomes for patients with ankylosing spondylitis treated with etanercept 50 mg once-weekly and 25 mg twice-weekly. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007;46:999-1004.
- Subedi S, Gong Y, Chen Y, Shi Y. Infliximab and biosimilar infliximab in psoriasis: efficacy, loss of efficacy, and adverse events. Drug Des Devel Ther 2019;13:2491-2502.

- 99. Mrowietz U, Kragballe K, Reich K, Spuls P, Griffiths CEM, Nast A, Franke J, Antoniou C, Arenberger P, Balieva F, Bylaite M, Correia O, Daude'n E, Gisondi P, Iversen L, Kemény L, Lahfa M, Nijsten T, Rantanen T, Reich A, Rosenbach T, Segaert S, Smith C, Talme T, Volc-Platzer B, Yawalkar N. Definition of treatment goals for moderate to severe psoriasis: a European consensus. Arch Dermatol Res 2011;303:1-10.
- 100. Savage LJ, Wittmann M, McGonagle D, Helliwell PS. Ustekinumab in the treatment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Rheumatol Ther 2015;2:1-16.
- 101. Koutruba N, Emer J, Lebwohl M. Review of ustekinumab, an interleukin-12 and interleukin-23 inhibitor used for the treatment of plaque psoriasis. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2010;6:123-41.
- 102. Patel NU, Vera NC, Shealy ER, Wetzel M, Feldman SR. A review of the use of secukinumab for psoriatic arthritis. Rheumatol Ther 2017;4:233-46.
- 103. Nash P, Mease PJ, McInnes IB, Rahman P, Ritchlin CT, Blanco R, Dokoupilova E, Andersson M, Kajekar R, Mpofu S, Pricop L, on behalf of the FUTURE 3 study group. Efficacy and safety of secukinumab administration by autoinjector in patients with psoriatic arthritis: results from a randomized, placebo-controlled trial (FUTURE 3). Arthritis Res Ther 2018;20:47.
- 104. Giunta A, Ventura A, Chimenti MS, Bianchi L, Esposito M. Spotlight on ixekizumab for the treatment of moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: design, development, and use in therapy. Drug Des Devel Ther 2017;11:1643-51.
- Nogueira M, Torres T. Guselkumab for the treatment of psoriasis evidence to date. Drugs Context 2019;8:212594.
- 106. Singh S, Kroe-Barrett RR, Canada KA, Zhu X, Sepulveda E, Wu H, He Y, Raymond EL, Ahlberg J, Frego LE, Amodeo LM, Catron KM, Presky DH, Hanke JH. Selective targeting of the IL23 pathway: generation and characterization of a novel high-affinity humanized anti-IL23A antibody. MAbs 2015;7:778-91.
- 107. Gooderham M, Papp K. Selective phosphodiesterase inhibitors for psoriasis: focus on apremilast. BioDrugs 2015;29:327-39.
- 108. Gisondi P, Girolomoni G. Apremilast in the therapy of moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis. Drug Des Devel Ther 2016;10:1763-70.
- 109. Papp K, Reich K, Leonardi CL, Kircik L, Chimenti S, Langley RGB, Hu CC, Stevens RM, Day RM, Gordon KB, Korman NJ, Griffiths CEM. Apremilast, an oral

phosphodiesterase 4 (PDE4) inhibitor, in patients with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis: Results of a phase III, randomized, controlled trial (Efficacy and Safety Trial Evaluating the Effects of Apremilast in Psoriasis [ESTEEM] 1). J Am Acad Dermatol 2015;73:37-49.

- 110. O'Neill MJ. Measurement of specific heat functions by differential scanning calorimetry. Anal Chem 1966;38:1331-6.
- 111. Watson ES, O'Neill MJ, Justin J, Brenner N. A Differential Scanning Calorimeter for quantitative differential thermal analysis. Anal Chem 1964;36:1233-8.
- 112. Lőrinczy D (ed). Thermal analysis in medical application. Press: Akadémiai Kiadó, ISBN: 978 963 058992 5, Budapest, 2011.
- 113. Freire E. Differential scanning calorimetry. <u>Methods Mol Biol</u> 1995;40:191-218.
- 114. Bálint G, Than P, Domán I, Wiegand N, Horváth G, Lőrinczy D. Calorimetric examination of the human meniscus. J Therm Anal Calorim 2009;95:759-61.
- 115. World Health Organization. Psoriasis. Agenda item 13.5. World Health Assembly; Geneva, Switzerland; May 24, 2014. http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/ pdf_files/WHA67/A67_R9-en.pdf. Accessed August 24, 2016.
- 116. Feldman SR, Goffe B, Rice G, Mitchell M, Kaur M, Robertson D, Sierka D, Bourret JA, Evans TS, Gottlieb A. The challenge of managing psoriasis: unmet medical needs and stakeholder perspectives. Am Health Drug Benefits 2016;9:504-13.
- 117. Finlay AY. Patient-reported outcome measures in psoriasis: Assessing the assessments. Br J Dermatol 2015;172:1178-9.
- 118. Nast A, Spuls PI, van der Kraaij G, Gisondi P, Paul C, Ormerod AD, Saiag P, Smith CH, Dauden E, de Jong EM, Feist E, Jobling R, Maccarone M, Mrowietz U, Papp KA, Reich K, Rosumeck S, Talme T, Thio HB, van de Kerkhof P, Werner RN, Dressler C. European S3-Guideline on the systemic treatment of psoriasis vulgaris - Update Apremilast and Secukinumab - EDF in cooperation with EADV and IPC. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017;31:1951-63.
- 119. European Medicines Agency, Committee for medicinal products for human use. Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products indicated for the treatment of psoriasis. 2004; CPMP/EWP/2454/02.
- 120. Dhana A, Yen H, Yen H, Cho E. All-cause and cause-specific mortality in psoriasis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019;80:1332-43.

- 121. Sies H. (Ed.) Oxidative Stress. Academic Press, London, 1985, pp. 1-507.
- 122. Armstrong AW, Voyles SV, Armstrong EJ, Fuller EN, Rutledge JC. Angiogenesis and oxidative stress: common mechanisms linking psoriasis with atherosclerosis. J Dermatol Sci 2011;63: 1-9.
- 123. Kökcam I, Nazıroglu M. Antioxidants and lipid peroxidation status in the blood of patients with psoriasis. Clin Chim Acta 1999;289:23-31.
- 124. Houshang N, Reza K, Masoud S, Ali E, Mansour R, Vaisi-Raygani A. Antioxidant status in patients with psoriasis. Cell Biochem Funct 2014;32:268-73.
- 125. Keles M, Al B, Gumustekin K, Demircan B, Ozbey I, Akyuz M, Yilmaz A, Demir E, Uyanik A, Ziypak T, Taysi S. Antioxidative status and lipid peroxidation in kidney tissue of rats fed with vitamin B6-deficient diet. Ren Fail 2010;32:618-22.
- 126. Kural BV, Örem A, Çimşit G, Yandı YE, Çalapoğlu M. Evaluation of atherogenic tendency of lipids and lipoprotein content and their relationship with oxidant-antioxidant system in patients with psoriasis. Clinica Chimica Acta 2003;328:71-82.
- 127. Woźniak A, Drewa G, Krzyżyńska-Malinowska E, Czajkowski R, Protas-Drozd F, Mila-Kierzenkowska C, Rozwodowska M, SopońskaM, Czarnecka-Żaba E. Oxidantantioxidant balance in patients with psoriasis. Med Sci Monit 2007;13:30-3.
- 128. Emre S, Metin A, Demirseren DD, Kilic S, Isikoglu S, Erel O. The relationship between oxidative stress, smoking and the clinical severity of psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2013;27:370-5.
- 129. Kizilyel O, Akdeniz N, Metin MS, Elmas ÖF. Investigation of oxidant and antioxidant levels in patients with psoriasis. Turk J Med Sci 2019;49:1085-8.
- 130. Kaur M, Sharma S, Sahiba Kukreja, Jasleen Kaur, Roopam Bassi. Study of oxidative stress in patients of psoriasis. Int J Res Dermatol 2016;2:95-8.
- 131. Lowes MA, Bowcock AM, Krueger JG. Pathogenesis and therapy of psoriasis. Nature. 2007;445:866-73.
- 132. Kadam DP, Suryakar AN, Ankush RD, Kadam CY, Deshpande KH. Role of oxidative stress in various stages of psoriasis. Ind J Clin Biochem 2010;25:388-92.
- 133. Pujari VM, Ireddy S, Itagi I, Kumar H S. The serum levels of malondialdehyde, vitamin E and erythrocyte catalase activity in psoriasis patients. J Clin Diagn Res 2014;8:14-6.
- 134. Greenberger S, Harats D, Salameh F, Lubish T, Harari A, Trau H, Shaish A. 9cis-rich β-carotene powder of the alga dunaliella reduces the severity of chronic

plaque psoriasis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *J Am Coll Nutr* 2012;31:320-6.

- 135. Wong AP, Kalinovsky T, Niedzwiecki A, Rath M. Efficacy of nutritional treatment in patients with psoriasis: A case report. *Exp Ther Med* 2015;10:1071-3.
- 136. Lin X, Huang T. Oxidative stress in psoriasis and potential therapeutic use of antioxidants. *Free Radic Res* 2016;50:585-95.
- 137. Menter A, Korman NJ, Elmets CA, Feldman SR, Gelfand JM, Gordon KB, Gottlieb AB, Koo JY, Lebwohl M, Lim HW, Van Voorhees AS, Beutner KR, Bhushan R. Guidelines of care for the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: section 4. Guidelines of care for the management and treatment of psoriasis with traditional systemic agents. J Am Acad Dermatol 2009;61:451-85.
- 138. Dogra S, Mahajan R. Systemic methotrexate therapy for psoriasis: past, present and future. Clin Exp Dermatol 2013;38:573-88.
- 139. Elango T, Dayalan H, Gnanaraj P, Malligarjunan H, Subramanian S. Impact of methotrexate on oxidative stress and apoptosis markers in psoriatic patients. Clin Exp Med 2013;14:431-7.
- 140. Skutnik-Radziszewska A, Maciejczyk M, Fejfer K, Krahel J, Flisiak I, Kołodziej U, Zalewska A. Salivary antioxidants and oxidative stress in psoriatic patients: can salivary total oxidant status and oxidative status index be a plaque psoriasis biomarker? <u>Oxid Med Cell Longev</u> 2020:9086024.
- 141. Maciejczyk M, Szulimowska J, Taranta-Janusz K, Wasilewska A, Zalewska A. Salivary gland dysfunction, protein glycooxidation and nitrosative stress in children with chronic kidney disease. J Clin Med 2020;9:E1285.
- 142. Lőrinczy D, Belágyi J. Effects of nucleotide on skeletal muscle myosin unfolding in myofibrils by DSC. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1995;217:592-8.
- 143. Dergez T, Lőrinczy D, Könczöl F, Farkas N, Belágyi J. Differential scanning calorimetry study of glycerinated rabbit psoas muscle fibres in intermediate state of ATP hydrolysis. BMC Structural Biology 2007;**7:**41.
- 144. Nedvig K, Ferencz A, Rőth E, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of intestinal tissue following warm ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Thermal Anal Calorim 2009;95:775-9.
- 145. Ferencz A, Nedvig K, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of intestinal tissue following cold preservation. Thermochim Acta 2010;497:41-5.

- 146. Szántó Z, Kovács G, Nagy V, Rőth E, Molnár FT, Horváth ŐP. Differential scanning calorimetric examination of the tracheal cartilage after primary reconstruction with differential suturing techniques. Thermochim Acta 2006;445:190-4.
- 147. Ferencz A, Nedvig K, László E, Magyarlaki T, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of kidney tissue following warm ischemia and reperfusion injury. Thermochim Acta 2011;525:161-6.
- 148. Benkő L, Danis J, Hubmann R, Kasza G, Gömöri É, Rőth E, Lőrinczy D. DSC examination of the esophagus after implantation of special stents, designed for the management of acute esophagus variceal bleeding experimental study. J Thermal Anal Calorim 2009;95:763-8.
- 149. Garbett NC, Miller JJ, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Calorimetric analysis of the plasma proteome. Semin Nephrol 2007;27:621-6.
- 150. Garbett NC, Miller JJ, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Calorimetry outside the box: a new window into the plasma proteome. Biophys J 2008;94:1377-83.
- 151. Spink CH. Differential Scanning Calorimetry. Methods Cell Biol 2008;84:115-41.
- 152. Zapf I, Fekecs T, Ferencz A, Tizedes Gy, Pavlovics G, Kálmán E, Lőrinczy D. DSC analysis of human plasma in breast cancer patients. Thermochim Acta 2011;524:88-91.
- 153. Michnik A, Drzazga Z. Thermal denaturation of mixtures of human serum proteins DSC study. J Therm Anal Calorim 2010;101:513-8.
- 154. Fekecs T, Zapf I, Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human plasma in melanoma patients with or without regional lymph node metastases. J Therm Anal Calorim 2012;108:149-52.
- 155. Garbett NC, Mekmaysy CS, Helm CW, Jenson AB, Chaires JB. Differential scanning calorimetry of blood plasma for clinical diagnosis and monitoring. Experimental and Molecular Pathology 2009;86:186-91.
- 156. Zapf I, Moezzi M, Fekecs T, Nedvig K, Lőrinczy D, Ferencz A. Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by DSC on breast cancer patients. J Therm Anal Calorim 2016;123:2029-35.
- 157. Michnik A. Blood plasma, serum and serum proteins microcalorimetric studies aimed at diagnosis support. In: Thermal analysis in medical application. ed: Lőrinczy D. Budapest, Akadémiai Kiadó, 2011;171-90.

- 158. Garbett NC, Chaires JB. Thermodynamic studies for drug design and screening. Expert Opin Drug Discov 2012;7:299-314.
- 159. Garbett NC, Mekmaysy CS, DeLeeuw L, Chaires JB. Clinical application of plasma thermograms: utility, practical approaches and considerations. Methods 2015;76:41-50.
- 160. Vega S, Garcia-Gonzalez MA, Lanas A, Velazquez-Campoy A, Abian A. Deconvolution analysis for classifying gastric adenocarcinoma patients based on differential scanning calorimetry serum thermograms. Sci Rep 2015;5:7988.
- 161. Garbett NC, Merchant ML, Helm CW, Jenson AB, Klein JB, Chaires JB. Detection of cervical cancer biomarker patterns in blood plasma and urine by differential scanning calorimetry and mass spectrometry. PLoS One 2014;9:e84710.
- 162. Todinova S, Krumova S, Gartcheva L, Robeerst C, Taneva SG. Microcalorimetry of blood serum proteome: a modified interaction network in the multiple myeloma case. Anal Chem 2011;83:7992-8.
- 163. Johnson CM. Differential scanning calorimetry as a tool for protein folding and stability. Arch Biochem Biophys 2013;531:100-9.
- 164. Fish DJ, Brewood GP, Kim JS, Garbett NC, Chaires JB, Benight AS. Statistical analysis of plasma thermograms measured by differential scanning calorimetry. Biophys Chem 2010;152:184-90.
- 165. Staidle JP, Dabade TS, Feldman SR. A pharmacoeconomic analysis of severe psoriasis therapy: a review of treatment choices and cost efficiency. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2011;12:2041-54.
- 166. Barker J, Horn EJ, Lebwohl M, Warren RB, Nast A, Rosenberg W, Smith C, International Psoriasis Council. Assessment and management of methotrexate hepatotoxicity in psoriasis patients: report from a consensus conference to evaluate current practice and identify key questions toward optimizing methotrexate use in the clinic. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2011;25:758-64.
- 167. Bruylants G, Wouters J, Michaux C. Differential scanning calorimetry in life science: thermodynamics, stability, molecular recognition and application in drug design. Curr Med Chem 2005;12:2011-20.
- 168. Di Meglio P, Perera GK, Nestle FO. The multitasking organ: recent insights into skin immune function. Immunity 2011;35:857-69.

- 169. Ahn CS, Gustafson CJ, Sandoval LF, Davis SA, Feldman SR. Cost effectiveness of biologic therapies for plaque psoriasis. Am J Clin Dermatol 2013;14:315-26.
- 170. Lee JH, Cho JH, Yeo J, Lee SH, Yang SH, Sung YC, Kang JH, Park CS. The pharmacology study of a new recombinant TNF receptor-hyFc fusion protein. Biologicals 2013;41:77-83
- 171. Klotz U, Teml A, Schwab M. Clinical pharmacokinetics and use of infliximab. Clin Pharmacokinet 2007;46:645-60.
- 172. Tabrizi M, Bornstein GG, Suria H. Biodistribution mechanisms of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies in health and disease. AAPS J 2010;12:33-43.
- 173. Tabrizi MA, Bornstein GG, Klakamp SL, Drake A, Knight R, Roskos L. Translational strategies for development of monoclonal antibodies from discovery to the clinic. Drug Discov Today 2009;14:298-305.
- 174. Nestle FO, Kaplan DH, Barker J. Psoriasis. N Engl J Med 2009;361:496-509.
- 175. Todinova S, Krumova S, Kurtev P, Dimitrov V, Djongov L, Dudunkov Z, Taneva SG. Calorimetry-based profiling of blood plasma from colorectal cancer patients. Biochim Biophys Acta 2012;1820:1879-85.
- 176. Monaselidze J, Tevdoradze T, Zibzibadze M, Alibegashvili M, Ramishvili L, Gordeziani M, Kotrikadze N. The study of blood serum proteins in patients with mammary gland tumours. J Biol Phys Chem 2012;1:19-22.
- 177. Kikalishvili L, Ramishvili M, Nemsadze G, Lezhava T, Khorava P, Gorgoshidze M, Kiladze M, Monaselidze J. Thermal stability of blood plasma proteins of breast cancer patients, DSC study. J Therm Anal Calorim 2015;120:501-5.
- 178. Tenchov B, Abarova S, Koynova R, Traikov L, Tancheva L. Low temperature exothermic transitions in brain proteome of mice, effect of scopolamine. Thermochim Acta 2017;650:26-32.
- 179. Tenchov B, Abarova S, Koynova R, Traikov L, Dragomanova S, Tancheva LA. New approach for investigating neurodegenerative disorders in mice based on DSC. J Therm Anal Calorim 2017;127:483-6.
- 180. Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. DSC measurements of blood plasma on patients with chronic pancreatitis and operable and inoperable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Therm Anal Calorim 2017;127:1187-92.

Publications

Thesis is based on the following publications

- Moezzi Mehdi, Tamás Fekecs, István Zapf, Andrea Ferencz, Dénes Lőrinczy. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human plasma in different psoriasis stages. J Therm Anal Calorim 2013;111:1801-4. DOI 10.1007/s10973-012-2468-2 IF: 2.206 Citing papers: 41; Independent citation count: 30; Self citation count: 11
- Moezzi Mehdi, Andrea Ferencz, Dénes Lőrinczy. Evaluation of blood plasma changes by differential scanning calorimetry in psoriatic patients treated with drugs. J Therm Anal Calorim 2014;116:557-62. DOI 10.1007/s10973-013-3585-2 IF: 2.042 Citing papers: 27; Independent citation count: 17; Self citation count: 10
- Moezzi Mehdi, István Zapf, Tamás Fekecs, Klára Nedvig, Dénes Lőrinczy, Andrea Ferencz. Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by DSC on patients with psoriasis. J Therm Anal Calorim 2016;123:2037-43. DOI 10.1007/s10973-015-4674-1 IF: 1.953 Citing papers: 26; Independent citation count: 19 Self citation count: 7
- Dénes Lőrinczy, Moezzi Mehdi, Andrea Ferencz. Deconvoluted plasma DSC curves on patients with psoriasis. J Therm Anal Calorim 2020 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-020-09443-y IF: 2.731 (2019)

Impact factor of publication the Thesis based on: 8.942 Citing papers of publication the Thesis based on: 94 (independent: 66, self: 28)

Other publications:

- Csete B, Moezzi M, Lengyel Zs, Hódosi B, Zombai E, Battyáni Z. Florid cutaneous papillomatosis leading to social exclusion. Br J Dermatol 2005;153:667-9. IF: 3.74 Citing papers: 6; Independent citation count: 6; Self citation count: 0
- Fekecs T, Kalmár-Nagy K, Szakály P, Németh K, Moezzi M, Zapf I, Horváth ÖP, Barthó-Szekeres J, Ferencz A. Changes of progesterone-induced blocking factor in patients after kidney transplantation. Transplant Proc 2011;43:3694-6. IF: 1.85 Citing papers: 2; Independent citation count: 2; Self citation count: 0
- Zapf I, Fekecs T, Moezzi M, Tizedes G, Pavlovics G, Kálmán E, Horváth ÖP, Ferencz A. Emlődaganatos betegek vérplazmájának differenciál pásztázó kalorimetriás vizsgálata. Magy Onkol 2012;56:274-9.
- Andrea Ferencz, Mehdi Moezzi, Dénes, Lőrinczy. Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) as a New Diagnostic and Screening Method on Patients with Psoriasis.
 In: Lambert, W (eds.) Psoriasis: Epidemiology, Diagnosis and Management Strategies. Hauppauge (NY), United States of America: Nova Science Publishers, 2016, pp. 45-64.
- 5. Zapf István, **Moezzi Medhi**, Fekecs Tamás, Nedvig Klára, Lőrinczy Dénes, Ferencz Andrea. Influence of oxidative injury and monitoring of blood plasma by DSC on breast cancer patients.

J Therm Anal Calorim 2016;123:2029-35.

IF: 1.982

Citing papers: 18; Independent citation count: 12; Self citation count: 6

List of quoted abstracts related to the topic

- 1. Ferencz A, Fekecs T, Zapf I, **Moezzi M**, Lőrinczy D. DSC analysis of blood plasma on patients with skin and breast cancer, and psoriasis. 4th Joint Czech-Hungarian-Polish-Slovak Thermoanalytical Conference, 2013, Book of Abstracts pp. 19.
- Moezzi M, Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human blood plasma following different therapy in patients with psoriasis. 4th Joint Czech-Hungarian-Polish-Slovak Thermoanalytical Conference, 2013, Book of Abstracts pp. 25.
- 3. Andrea Ferencz, Tamás Fekecs, **Mehdi Moezzi**, Dénes Lőrinczy._DSC analysis of blood plasma on patients with skin cancer, and psoriasis. Regional Biophysics Conference Smolenice Castle, 2014, Book of Abstracts pp. 106.

4. Dénes Lőrinczy, **Mehdi Moezzi**, Andrea Ferencz. Telling signs of plasma DSC thermograms on patients with psoriasis. 2nd Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry Conference, 2019, Book of abstracts, pp. 529.

List of presentations:

- Ferencz A, Fekecs T, Zapf I, Moezzi M, Lőrinczy D. DSC analysis of blood plasma on patients with skin and breast cancer, and psoriasis. (oral) 4th Joint Czech-Hungarian-Polish-Slovak Thermoanalytical Conference, 24-27 June 2013, Pardubice, Czech Republik.
- Moezzi M, Ferencz A, Lőrinczy D. Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) analysis of human blood plasma following different therapy in patients with psoriasis. (poster) 4th Joint Czech-Hungarian-Polish-Slovak Thermoanalytical Conference, 24-27 June 2013, Pardubice, Czech Republik.
- 3. Andrea Ferencz, Tamás Fekecs, **Mehdi Moezzi**, Dénes Lőrinczy. DSC analysis of blood plasma on patients with skin cancer, and psoriasis. (poster) Regional Biophysics Conference, 15-20 May 2014, Smolenice Castle, Slovakia.
- Ferencz A, Fekecs T, Mehdi M, Zapf I, Lőrinczy D. DSC as a diagnostic tool in the medical applications. (poster) Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry in Industry and Research - 40 Years of GEFTA Annual congress with participation of GEFTA's European partner associations, 16-19 September 2014, Berlin, Germany.
- 5. Dénes Lőrinczy, **Mehdi Moezzi**, Andrea Ferencz. Telling signs of plasma DSC thermograms on patients with psoriasis. (poster) 2nd Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry Conference, 18-21 June 2019, Budapest, Hungary.

The author's cumulative impact factor is: 16.514

The authors's cumulative citing papers: 120. (Independent citation count: 86; Self citation count: 34)

Acknowledgments

First of all, I offer this work to our GOD Almighty for giving me the strength, peace of my mind and good health in order to finish this work.

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my father, who has left us too soon, whom without his eternal patience, support and encouragement I never could survive and to my mother for her never ending love, patience and unconditional pride.

This thesis become a reality with the kind support and help of my advisors Professor Dr. Dénes Lőrinczy and associated Professor Dr. Andrea Ferencz, without their endless help and encouragement this work would never come to an end. I could not have imagined having a better advisors and mentors for my PhD work.

My sincere thanks also go to the head of our dermatology department, my boss, Professor Dr. Gyulai Rolland for his understanding and support.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my wife Gyöngyi, and my beautiful children, Arman and Szemira, for their love and for their being.